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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (the "Form 10-K") of Cedar Realty Trust, Inc. (the "Company") contains "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section
27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") that are subject to risks, uncertainties
and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from future results, performance or achievements expressed or
implied by such forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements, which are based on certain assumptions and describe the Company's future plans, strategies and
expectations, are generally identifiable by use of the words "may", "will", "should", "estimates", "projects", "anticipates", "believes", "expects", "intends", "future", and words
of similar import, or the negative thereof. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors, some of which are
beyond our control, are difficult to predict and could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or forecasted in the forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements that were true at the time made may ultimately prove to be incorrect or false. You are cautioned to not place undue reliance on forward-
looking statements, which reflect our management's view only as of the date of this Form 10-K. We undertake no obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements to
reflect changed assumptions, the occurrence of unanticipated events or changes to future operating results.

Factors that could cause actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from any forward-looking statements made in this Form 10-K include, but are not
limited to:

• the risk that shareholder litigation in connection with the Transactions (as defined herein) may result in significant costs of defense, indemnification and liability;
• the use of and demand for retail space;
• general and economic business conditions, including those affecting the ability of individuals to spend in retail shopping centers and/or the rate and other terms on which

we are able to lease our properties;
• the loss or bankruptcy of the Company's tenants;
• the state of the U.S. economy generally, or specifically in the Northeast where our properties are geographically concentrated;
• consumer spending and confidence trends;
• availability, terms and deployment of capital;
• the degree and nature of our competition;
• changes in governmental regulations, accounting rules, tax rates and similar matters;
• adverse economic or real estate developments in our markets of the Northeast;
• the ability and willingness of the Company's tenants and other third parties to satisfy their obligations under their respective contractual arrangements with the Company;
• the ability and willingness of the Company's tenants to renew their leases with the Company upon expiration;
• the Company's ability to re-lease its properties on the same or better terms in the event of non-renewal or in the event the Company exercises its right to replace an

existing tenant, and obligations the Company may incur in connection with the replacement of an existing tenant;
• litigation risks generally;
• financing risks, such as the Company's inability to obtain new financing or refinancing on favorable terms as the result of market volatility or instability and increases in

the Company's borrowing costs as a result of changes in interest rates and other factors;
• the impact of the Company's leverage on operating performance;
• risks related to the market for retail space generally, including reductions in consumer spending, variability in retailer demand for leased space, adverse impact of e-

commerce, ongoing consolidation in the retail sector and changes in economic conditions and consumer confidence;
• risks endemic to real estate and the real estate industry generally;
• the adverse effect any future pandemic, endemic or outbreak of infectious disease, and mitigation efforts to control their spread;
• competitive risks;
• risks to our information systems - or those of our tenants or vendors - from service interruption, misappropriation of data, breaches of security, or other cyber-related

attacks;
• risks related to the geographic concentration of the Company's properties in the Northeast;
• damage to the Company's properties from catastrophic weather and other natural events, and the physical effects of climate change;
• the risk that an uninsured loss on the Company's properties or a loss that exceeds the limits of the Company's insurance policies could subject the Company to lost capital

or revenue on those properties;
• the risk that continued increases in the cost of necessary insurance could negatively impact the Company's profitability;
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• the Company's ability and willingness to maintain its qualification as a REIT in light of economic, market, legal, tax and other considerations;
• the ability of our operating partnership, Cedar Realty Trust Partnership, L.P., and each of our other partnerships and limited liability companies to be classified as

partnerships or disregarded entities for federal income tax purposes;
• the impact of e-commerce on our tenants' business; and
• inability to generate sufficient cash flows due to market conditions, competition, uninsured losses, changes in tax or other applicable laws.

Forward-looking statements in this Form 10-K should be read in light of these factors. Except for ongoing obligations to disclose material information as required by the
federal securities laws, the Company undertakes no obligation to release publicly any revisions to any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the
date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. All of the above factors are difficult to predict, contain uncertainties that may materially affect the Company's
actual results and may be beyond the Company's control. New factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for the Company's management to predict all such factors
or to assess the effects of each factor on the Company's business. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the Company's current expectations will be realized.
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Part I.

Item 1.     Business

The Company is a real estate investment trust ("REIT") that focuses on owning and operating income producing retail properties with a primary focus on grocery-
anchored shopping centers primarily in the Northeast. At December 31, 2023, the Company owned a portfolio of 19 properties totaling 2.8 million square feet of gross leasable
area ("GLA"). The portfolio was 89.6% leased and 86.4% occupied at December 31, 2023.

The Company, organized as a Maryland corporation in 1984, has elected to be taxed as a REIT under applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the "Code"). To qualify as a REIT under those provisions, the Company must have a preponderant percentage of its assets invested in, and income derived from, real
estate and related sources. The Company is a commercial real estate investment company that owns income-producing retail properties with a primary focus on grocery-
anchored centers.

The Company has established an umbrella partnership structure through the contribution of substantially all of its assets to Cedar Realty Trust Partnership, L.P. (the
"Operating Partnership"), organized as a limited partnership under the laws of Delaware. The Operating Partnership is the entity through which the Company conducts
substantially all of its business and owns (either directly or through subsidiaries) substantially all of its assets. Prior to consummation of the Transactions, the Operating
Partnership had limited partners other than the Company, but their limited partnership interests in the Operating Partnership were settled pursuant to the Merger Agreement, as
described below. At December 31, 2023, the Company, which is a subsidiary of WHLR (as defined herein), owned a 100.0% interest in, and was the sole general partner of, the
Operating Partnership.

The Company, the Operating Partnership, their subsidiaries and affiliated partnerships are separate legal entities. For ease of reference, the terms "we", "our", "us",
"Company" and "Operating Partnership" (including their respective subsidiaries and affiliates) refer to the business and properties of all these entities, unless the context
otherwise requires.

Asset Sale and Merger

On March 2, 2022, the Company entered into definitive agreements for the sale of the Company and its assets in a series of related all-cash transactions. Specifically, the
Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into an asset purchase and sale agreement (the "Asset Purchase Agreement") with DRA Fund X-B LLC and KPR Centers LLC
(together with their respective designees, the "Grocery-Anchored Purchasers") for the sale of a portfolio of 33 grocery-anchored shopping centers for cash (the "Grocery-
Anchored Portfolio Sale"). In addition, the Company entered into an agreement and plan of merger (the "Merger Agreement") with Wheeler Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc.
("WHLR") and certain of its affiliates pursuant to which, following closing of the Grocery-Anchored Portfolio Sale, WHLR acquired the balance of the Company's shopping
center assets by way of an all-cash merger transaction (the "Merger").

The transactions contemplated by the Asset Purchase Agreement and the Merger Agreement are collectively referred to as the "Transactions". The Transactions were
unanimously approved by the Company's former Board of Directors and were approved by the Company's common stockholders at a special meeting of stockholders held on
May 27, 2022.

On July 7, 2022, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries completed the Grocery-Anchored Portfolio Sale and the East River Park and Senator Square redevelopment
asset sales for total gross proceeds of approximately $879 million, including the assumed debt. There were no material relationships among the Company, the Grocery-Anchored
Purchasers, or any of their respective affiliates. On August 22, 2022, the Company completed the Merger. Each outstanding share of common stock of the Company and
outstanding common unit of the Operating Partnership held by persons other than the Company immediately prior to the Merger were canceled and converted into the right to
receive a cash payment of $9.48 per share or unit. As a result of the Merger, WHLR acquired all of the outstanding shares of the Company's common stock, which ceased to be
publicly traded on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE"). The Company's outstanding 7.25% Series B Preferred Stock and 6.50% Series C Preferred Stock remain
outstanding and continue to trade on the NYSE. In addition, prior to consummation of the Merger, the Company's Board of Directors declared a special dividend on shares of
the Company's outstanding common stock and OP Units of $19.52 per share, payable to holders of record of the Company's common stock and OP Units at the close of
business on August 19, 2022.

The Company derives substantially all of its revenues from rents and operating expense reimbursements received pursuant to long-term leases. The Company's operating
results therefore depend on the ability of its tenants to make the payments required by the terms of their leases. The Company focuses its investment activities on grocery-
anchored shopping centers. The Company believes that, because of the need of consumers to purchase food and other staple goods and services generally available at such
centers, its type of "necessities-based" properties should provide relatively stable revenue flows even during difficult economic times.
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Human Capital Management

Our Team

All individuals that provide services to the Company are employees of WHLR and participate in WHLR's compensation, benefits, professional development and other
programs. For a discussion of WHLR's human capital management, please see WHLR's 2023 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Business Objectives and Investment Strategy

Our primary business objective is to maximize the value of our portfolio. We intend to achieve this objective utilizing the following investment strategies:

• Focus on necessity-based retail. Own and operate retail properties that serve the essential day-to-day shopping needs of the surrounding communities. These necessity-
based centers attract high levels of daily traffic resulting in cross-selling of goods and services from our tenants. The majority of our tenants provide non-cyclical
consumer goods and services that are less impacted by fluctuations in the economy. We believe these centers that provide essential goods and services such as groceries
result in a stable, lower-risk portfolio of retail investment properties.

• Focus on secondary and tertiary markets with strong demographics and demand. Our properties are in markets that have strong demographics such as population
density, population stability, consistent tenant sales trends and growth in household income. We seek to identify new tenants and renew leases with existing tenants in
these locations that support the need for necessity-based retail and limited new supply. We aim to identify and pursue attractive investment opportunities in regions with
low taxes and a pro-business environment.

• Increase operating income through leasing strategies and expense management. We employ intensive lease management strategies to optimize occupancy.
Management has extensive expertise in acquiring and managing under-performing properties and increasing operating income through more effective leasing strategies
and expense management. Our leases generally require the tenant to reimburse us for a substantial portion of the expenses incurred in operating, maintaining, repairing,
and managing the shopping center and the common areas, along with the associated insurance costs and real estate taxes. In many cases, the tenant is either fully or
partially responsible for all maintenance of the property, thereby limiting our financial exposure towards maintaining the center and increasing our net income. We refer
to this arrangement as a "triple net lease."

• Selectively utilize our capital to improve retail properties. We intend to make capital investments where the risk adjusted returns on such capital is accretive to our
stockholders. We allocate capital to value-added improvements of retail properties to increase rents, extend long-term leases with anchor tenants and increase
occupancy. We selectively allocate capital to revenue enhancing projects that we believe will improve the market position of a given property.

• Recycling and sensible management of our property portfolio. We intend to sell non-income producing land parcels or non-core assets utilizing sales proceeds to
deleverage the balance sheet and invest in higher yielding opportunities. Properties may be slated for disposition based upon management's periodic review of our
portfolio, and approval by our Board of Directors.

• Strategy for optimizing capital structure. The Company seeks to mitigate risk and optimize its capital structure through continuous focus on maintaining prudent
leverage and lengthy average debt maturities, as well as access to a diverse selection of capital sources, including the secured and unsecured debt markets, unsecured
lines of credit, and other sources.

• Strategy for integrating acquisitions. As the Company undertakes acquisitions, we seek to thoughtfully integrate the acquired properties and any software and personnel
to maximize efficiencies both at the property and corporate level.

Governmental Regulations Affecting Our Properties

We and our properties are subject to a variety of federal, state and local environmental, health, safety, tax and similar laws. The application of these laws to a specific
property that we own depends on a variety of property-specific circumstances, including the current and former uses of the property, the building materials used at the property
and the physical layout of the property. Neither existing environmental, health, safety and similar laws nor the costs of our compliance with these laws has had a material
adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations, and management does not believe they will for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024. In addition, we have
not incurred, and do not expect to incur, any material costs or liabilities due to environmental contamination at properties we currently own or have owned in the past. However,
we cannot predict the impact of new
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or changed laws or regulations on properties we currently own or may acquire in the future. We have no current plans for substantial capital expenditures with respect to
compliance with environmental, health, safety and similar laws and we carry environmental insurance that covers a number of environmental risks for most of our properties.

Competition

Numerous commercial developers and real estate companies compete with us with respect to the leasing of properties. Some of these competitors may possess greater
capital resources than we do, although we do not believe that any single competitor or group of competitors in any of the primary markets where our properties are located are
dominant in that market. This competition may interfere with our ability to attract and retain tenants, leading to increased vacancy rates and/or reduced rents and adversely
affect our ability to minimize operating expenses.

Retailers at our properties also face increasing competition from online retailers, outlet stores, discount shopping clubs, superstores, and other forms of sales and
marketing of goods and services, such as direct mail. This competition could contribute to lease defaults and insolvency of tenants.

Climate

Some of our properties could be subject to natural or other disasters. In addition, we may acquire properties that are located in areas that are subject to natural disasters,
such as earthquakes and droughts. Properties could also be affected by increases in the frequency or severity of tornadoes, hurricanes or other severe weather, whether such
increases are caused by global climate changes or other factors. The occurrence of natural disasters or severe weather conditions can increase investment costs to repair or
replace damaged properties, increase operating costs, increase future property insurance costs, and/or negatively impact the tenant demand for lease space. If insurance is
unavailable to us, or is unavailable on acceptable terms, or if our insurance is not adequate to cover business interruption or losses from such events, our earnings, liquidity
and/or capital resources could be adversely affected. While several of our properties are located in areas that have experienced hurricanes, tornados, severe rain storms, or snow
during the past two years, there has been no substantial damage or change in operations related to weather events.

Insurance

The Company carries comprehensive liability, property, fire, flood, wind, extended coverage, business interruption and rental loss insurance covering all of the properties
in its portfolio under an insurance policy, in addition to other coverages, such as trademark and pollution coverage that may be appropriate for certain of its properties.
Additionally, the Company carries a directors', officers', entity and employment practices liability insurance policy that covers such claims made against the Company and its
directors and officers. The Company believes the policy specifications and insured limits are appropriate and adequate for its properties given the relative risk of loss, the cost of
the coverage and industry practice; however, its insurance coverage may not be sufficient to fully cover losses.  Increases in the occurrence of natural disasters and severe
weather patterns have led to a consistent increase in overall rates, deductibles and valuations from insurance carriers, which have resulted in increased costs of necessary
insurance required to protect our assets.

Available Information

We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act. Therefore, we file reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the "SEC"). The SEC maintains a website (www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that
file electronically with the SEC, including us.

The Company's investor relations website can be accessed under the "Investors" tab at https://ir.cedarrealtytrust.com/, where a copy of the Company's Forms 10-K, 10-Q,
8-K and other filings with the SEC can be obtained free of charge. These SEC filings are added to the website as soon as reasonably practicable. Information on the website is
not part of this Form 10-K.

Investors and others should note that we currently announce material information using SEC filings and press releases. In the future, we will continue to use these
channels to distribute material information about the Company, and may also utilize public conference calls, webcasts, our website and/or various social media sites to
communicate important information about the Company, key personnel, trends, corporate initiatives and other matters. Information that we post on our website or on social
media channels could be deemed material; therefore, we encourage investors, the media, our tenants, business partners and others interested in the Company to review the
information posted on our website as well as on LinkedIn at https://www.linkedin.com/company/wheeler-real-estate-investment-trust/. Any updates to the list of social media
channels we may use to communicate material information will be posted on the Investor Relations page of our website at https://ir.cedarrealtytrust.com/.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and are not required to provide the information under this item.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments: None

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy

The Company depends on the proper functioning, availability and security of its information systems, including financial, data processing, communications and operating
systems. Several information systems are software applications provided by third parties. Although risks from cybersecurity threats have to date not materially affected, and we
do not believe they are reasonably likely to materially affect, us, our business strategy, results of operations or financial condition, like other companies in our industry, we
could, from time to time, experience threats and security incidents related to our and our third-party vendors' information systems, including attempts to gain unauthorized
access to our confidential data, and other electronic security breaches. Such cybersecurity attacks can range from individual attempts to gain unauthorized access to our
information technology systems to more sophisticated security threats. While we employ a number of measures to prevent, detect and mitigate these threats, there is no
guarantee such efforts will be successful in preventing a cybersecurity attack. A cybersecurity attack could compromise the confidential information of our employees, tenants
and vendors. A successful cybersecurity attack could disrupt and otherwise adversely affect our business operations.

Assessment, identification and management of cybersecurity related risks are integrated into our overall risk management process. Cybersecurity related risks are
included in the risk universe we evaluate to assess top risks to the Company at least annually. To the extent our processes identify a heightened cybersecurity related risk, risk
owners are assigned to develop risk mitigation plans, which are then tracked to completion.

Cybersecurity Governance

Our Board of Directors considers cybersecurity risk as part of its risk oversight function and has delegated oversight of cybersecurity risk strategy and governance and of
other information technology risks to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors (the "Audit Committee"). The Audit Committee reports to the full Board of Directors
regarding its activities, including those related to cybersecurity. Senior management, including the Company's CEO, CFO, and General Counsel, is responsible for assessing and
managing cybersecurity risk, and provides briefings regarding the assessment and management of such risk to the Audit Committee, which then reports, as necessary, to the
Board of Directors. Although members of our senior management do not have direct cybersecurity expertise obtained through certifications, their experience managing the
Company, which includes consulting and coordinating as necessary with a third party information technology expert referred to below, enables them to effectively assess and
manage material risks from cybersecurity threats.

The Company retained an information technology expert third party company to assist in managing relevant risks. In particular, the Company outsources its information
technology function and monitoring to a third party provider whereby it benefits from a professionally managed network monitoring, management, maintenance, detection and
response system and a 24/7 security operations center with both onsite and remote support services. Any cybersecurity incident would be reported to the Company promptly by
our third party consultant and material and potentially material incidents would be assessed by management and the Audit Committee for remediation and future prevention and
detection.

The Company, at least annually, updates its policies or procedures that could help mitigate cybersecurity risks. Notwithstanding the extensive approach we take to
cybersecurity, we may not be successful in preventing or mitigating a cybersecurity incident that could have a material adverse effect on us. The Company has incorporated
cybersecurity coverage in its insurance policies; however, there is no assurance that the insurance the Company maintains will cover all cybersecurity breaches or that policy
limits will be sufficient to cover all related losses.
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Item 2. Properties

Real Estate Portfolio

The following table presents an overview of our properties, based on information as of December 31, 2023:

Property Location

Number
of

Tenants (1)

Total
Leasable
Square

Feet
Percentage
Leased (1)

Percentage
Occupied

Total
Occupied

Square
Feet

Annualized
Base

Rent (2)

Annualized
Base Rent

per
Occupied

Square Foot

Brickyard Plaza Berlin, CT 10 227,598 97.8 % 97.8 % 222,598 $ 2,024,000 $ 9.09 
Carll's Corner Bridgeton, NJ 5 116,532 19.4 % 19.4 % 22,554 267,000 11.84 
Coliseum Marketplace Hampton, VA 9 106,648 94.9 % 94.9 % 101,198 1,217,000 12.03 
Fairview Commons New Cumberland, PA 11 50,119 87.7 % 87.7 % 43,969 512,000 11.63 
Fieldstone Marketplace New Bedford, MA 10 193,970 75.5 % 71.7 % 139,139 1,655,000 11.90 
Gold Star Plaza Shenandoah, PA 7 71,720 100.0 % 100.0 % 71,720 642,000 8.95 
Golden Triangle Lancaster, PA 19 202,790 98.4 % 98.4 % 199,605 2,619,000 13.12 
Hamburg Square Hamburg, PA 7 102,058 100.0 % 100.0 % 102,058 689,000 6.75 
Kings Plaza New Bedford, MA 17 168,243 98.5 % 98.5 % 165,743 1,444,000 8.71 
Oakland Commons Bristol, CT 2 90,100 100.0 % 100.0 % 90,100 574,000 6.37 
Oregon Avenue (3) Philadelphia, PA — — — % — % — — — 
Patuxent Crossing California, MD 27 264,068 81.6 % 81.6 % 215,589 2,646,000 12.27 
Pine Grove Plaza Brown Mills, NJ 13 79,306 77.6 % 77.6 % 61,526 742,000 12.05 
South Philadelphia Philadelphia, PA 10 221,511 88.1 % 68.3 % 151,388 1,432,000 9.46 
Southington Center Southington, CT 11 155,842 100.0 % 100.0 % 155,842 1,288,000 8.27 
Timpany Plaza Gardner, MA 14 182,799 81.8 % 63.3 % 115,735 1,121,000 9.68 
Trexler Mall Trexlertown, PA 22 342,541 99.7 % 98.9 % 338,788 3,710,000 10.95 
Washington Center Shoppes Sewell, NJ 29 157,300 97.5 % 95.9 % 150,800 1,895,000 12.56 
Webster Commons Webster, MA 9 98,984 100.0 % 100.0 % 98,984 1,278,000 12.91 

Total 232 2,832,129 89.6 % 86.4 % 2,447,336 $ 25,755,000 $ 10.52 

(1) Reflects leases executed through December 31, 2023 that commence subsequent to the end of the current reporting period.
(2) Annualized base rent per occupied square foot assumes base rent as of the end of the current reporting period and excludes the impact of tenant concessions and rent abatements.
(3) Includes property where a redevelopment opportunity exists.

Major Tenants

The following table sets forth information regarding the ten largest tenants in our operating portfolio based on annualized base rent as of December 31, 2023:

Tenants Category
Annualized
Base Rent

% of
Total

Annualized
Base Rent

Total
Occupied

Square Feet

Percent
Total

Leasable
Square Feet

Annualized
Base Rent

per Occupied
Square Foot

TJX Companies (1) Discount Retailer $ 1,220,000 4.74 % 133,000 4.70 % $ 9.17 
Kohl's Discount Retailer 1,031,000 4.00 % 147,000 5.19 % 7.01 
Shaw's Grocery 925,000 3.59 % 68,000 2.40 % 13.60 
Dollar Tree (2) Discount Retailer 865,000 3.36 % 96,000 3.39 % 9.01 
Walmart Grocery 843,000 3.27 % 150,000 5.30 % 5.62 
Shoprite Grocery 801,000 3.11 % 54,000 1.91 % 14.83 
Redner's Grocery 747,000 2.90 % 106,000 3.74 % 7.05 
Home Depot Home Improvement 742,000 2.88 % 103,000 3.64 % 7.20 
Lehigh Valley Health Medical 723,000 2.81 % 43,000 1.52 % 16.81 
Urban Air Entertainment 570,000 2.21 % 61,000 2.15 % 9.34 

Total $ 8,467,000 32.88 % 961,000 33.93 % $ 8.81 

(1) Line item comprises 3 Marshalls stores and 2 HomeGoods stores.
(2) Line item comprises 8 Dollar Tree stores and 1 Family Dollar store.

9



Table of Contents

Lease Expirations

The following table sets forth information with respect to the lease expirations of our properties as of December 31, 2023:

Lease Expiration Period

Number of
Expiring

Leases

Total
Expiring
Square
Footage

% of Total
Expiring
Square
Footage

% of Total
Occupied

Square
Footage
Expiring

Expiring
Annualized
Base Rent

% of Total
Annualized
Base Rent

Expiring
Base Rent

per Occupied
Square Foot

Available — 384,793 13.59 % — — — — 
Month-To-Month 6 28,914 1.02 % 1.18 % $ 268,000 1.04 % $ 9.27 
2024 25 146,730 5.18 % 6.00 % 2,188,000 8.49 % 14.91 
2025 31 287,770 10.16 % 11.76 % 2,586,000 10.04 % 8.99 
2026 23 91,401 3.23 % 3.73 % 1,511,000 5.87 % 16.53 
2027 30 247,677 8.75 % 10.12 % 3,211,000 12.47 % 12.96 
2028 43 530,786 18.74 % 21.69 % 5,505,000 21.37 % 10.37 
2029 21 242,397 8.56 % 9.90 % 2,357,000 9.15 % 9.72 
2030 13 256,008 9.04 % 10.46 % 1,642,000 6.38 % 6.41 
2031 7 86,835 3.07 % 3.55 % 1,014,000 3.94 % 11.68 
2032 6 39,509 1.40 % 1.61 % 821,000 3.19 % 20.78 
Thereafter 27 489,309 17.26 % 20.00 % 4,652,000 18.06 % 9.51 

Total 232 2,832,129 100.00 % 100.00 % $ 25,755,000 100.00 % $ 10.52 

The Company's Properties

The terms of the Company's retail leases generally vary from tenancies at will to 25 years, excluding renewal options. Anchor tenant leases are typically for 10 to 25
years, with one or more renewal options available to the lessee upon expiration of the initial lease term. By contrast, smaller store leases are typically negotiated for five-year
terms. The longer terms of major tenant leases serve to protect the Company against significant vacancies and to assure the presence of strong tenants which draw consumers to
its centers. The shorter terms of smaller store leases allow the Company under appropriate circumstances to adjust rental rates periodically and, where possible, to upgrade or
adjust the overall tenant mix.

Most leases contain provisions requiring tenants to pay their pro rata share of real estate taxes, insurance and certain operating costs. Some leases also provide that tenants
pay percentage rent based upon sales volume generally in excess of certain negotiated minimums.

WHLR performs property management and leasing services for the Company pursuant to the Wheeler Real Estate Company Management Agreement. See Note 16 of
"Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" included in Item 8 below for further information.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

See Note 10 of "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" included in Item 8 below for information relating to legal proceedings.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures: Not applicable

Part II.

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities:

Market Information and Holders

As a result of the Merger, WHLR acquired all of the outstanding shares of the Company's common stock, which ceased to be publicly traded on the NYSE. The
Company's outstanding 7.25% Series B Preferred Stock and 6.50% Series C Preferred Stock remain outstanding and continue to trade on the NYSE.
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Dividends

In order to continue qualifying as a REIT, the Company is required to distribute at least 90% of its "REIT taxable income", as defined in the Code. The Company paid
common stock dividends during 2022 and preferred stock dividends during 2022 and 2023. The following table presents the income tax status of distributions per share paid to
our common stockholders and preferred stockholders:

Years ended December 31,
2023 2022

Common Stock
Dividend paid per share $ — $ 19.586 
Ordinary income 0 % 0 %
Capital gains 0 % 0 %
Return of capital 0 % 100 %

Series B Preferred Stock
Dividend paid per share $ 1.813 $ 1.813 
Ordinary income 0 % 0 %
Capital gains 5 % 0 %
Return of capital 95 % 100 %

Series C Preferred Stock
Dividend paid per share $ 1.625 $ 1.625 
Ordinary income 0 % 0 %
Capital gains 5 % 0 %
Return of capital 95 % 100 %

Item 6. Reserved
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion summarizes the significant factors affecting our consolidated operating results, financial condition, liquidity and cash flows as of and for the
periods presented below. The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the Company's consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included
elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

In addition to historical information, this discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements based on current expectations that involve risks, uncertainties and
assumptions, such as our plans, objectives, expectations and intentions as further described under the caption above entitled "Cautionary Statement on Forward-Looking
Statements." Our actual results or other events and the timing of events may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various
factors, including those set forth in the caption above entitled "Cautionary Statement on Forward-Looking Statements."

Executive Summary

The Company is a real estate investment trust that focuses on owning and operating income producing retail properties with a primary focus on grocery-anchored
shopping centers in the Northeast. At December 31, 2023, the Company owned a portfolio of 19 properties totaling 2.8 million square feet of GLA. The portfolio was 89.6%
leased and 86.4% occupied at December 31, 2023.

The Company, organized as a Maryland corporation, has established an umbrella partnership structure through the contribution of substantially all of its assets to the
Operating Partnership, organized as a limited partnership under the laws of Delaware. The Operating Partnership is the entity through which the Company conducts
substantially all of its business and owns (either directly or through subsidiaries) substantially all of its assets. At December 31, 2023, the Company, which is a subsidiary of
WHLR, owned a 100.0% interest in, and was the sole general partner of, the Operating Partnership.

The Company derives substantially all of its revenues from rents and operating expense reimbursements received pursuant to leases. The Company's operating results
therefore depend on the ability of its tenants to make the payments required by the terms of their leases. The Company focuses its investment activities on grocery-anchored
shopping centers. The Company believes that, because of the need of consumers to purchase food and other staple goods and services generally available at such centers, its
type of "necessities-based" properties should provide relatively stable revenue flows even during difficult economic times.

Asset Sale and Merger

On March 2, 2022, the Company entered into definitive agreements for the sale of the Company and its assets in a series of related all-cash transactions. Specifically, the
Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into an asset purchase and sale agreement (the "Asset Purchase Agreement") with DRA Fund X-B LLC and KPR Centers LLC
(together with their respective designees, the "Grocery-Anchored Purchasers") for the sale of a portfolio of 33 grocery-anchored shopping centers for cash (the "Grocery-
Anchored Portfolio Sale"). In addition, the Company entered into an agreement and plan of merger (the "Merger Agreement") with WHLR and certain of its affiliates pursuant
to which, following closing of the Grocery-Anchored Portfolio Sale, WHLR acquired the balance of the Company's shopping center assets by way of an all-cash merger
transaction (the "Merger").

The transactions contemplated by the Asset Purchase Agreement and the Merger Agreement are collectively referred to as the "Transactions." The Transactions were
unanimously approved by the Company's former Board of Directors and were approved by the Company's common stockholders at a special meeting of stockholders held on
May 27, 2022.

On July 7, 2022, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries completed the Grocery-Anchored Portfolio Sale and the East River Park and Senator Square redevelopment
asset sales for total gross proceeds of approximately $879 million, including the assumed debt. There were no material relationships among the Company, the Grocery-Anchored
Purchasers, or any of their respective affiliates. On August 22, 2022, the Company completed the Merger. Each outstanding share of common stock of the Company and
outstanding common unit of the Operating Partnership held by persons other than the Company immediately prior to the Merger were canceled and converted into the right to
receive a cash payment of $9.48 per share or unit. As a result of the Merger, WHLR acquired all of the outstanding shares of the Company's common stock, which ceased to be
publicly traded on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE"). The Company's outstanding 7.25% Series B Preferred Stock and 6.50% Series C Preferred Stock remain
outstanding and continue to trade on the NYSE. In addition, prior to consummation of the Merger, the Company's Board of Directors declared a special dividend on shares of
the Company's outstanding common stock and OP Units of $19.52 per share, payable to holders of record of the Company's common stock and OP Units at the close of
business on August 19, 2022.

In connection with the Transactions, the Company incurred transaction costs of $59.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, included in the accompanying
consolidated statement of operations, of which $33.5 million relates to employee severance payments.
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2023 Significant Circumstances and Transactions

Real Estate

On July 11, 2023, the Company sold an outparcel building adjacent to Carll's Corner, located in Bridgeton, New Jersey for $3.0 million, resulting in a $2.7 million gain,
which is included in operating income in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Timpany Plaza Loan Agreement

On September 12, 2023, the Company entered into a term loan agreement with Cornerstone Bank for $11.56 million at a fixed rate of 7.27% with interest-only payments
due monthly for the first twelve months (the "Timpany Plaza Loan Agreement"). Commencing on September 12, 2024, until the maturity date of September 12, 2028, monthly
principal and interest payments will be made based on a 30-year amortization schedule calculated based on the principal amount as of that time. On the closing date, the
Company received $9.06 million of the $11.56 million, and the remaining $2.5 million will be received upon the satisfaction of certain lease-related contingencies within one
year of the agreement date. The Timpany Plaza Loan Agreement is collateralized by the Timpany Plaza shopping center.

Related Party Transactions

With the completion of the Company's merger with WHLR, the Company became a subsidiary of WHLR. WHLR performs property management and leasing services for
the Company pursuant to the Wheeler Real Estate Company Management Agreement. The management fee is 4% of gross operating income, and leasing commissions range
from 3% to 6%. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company paid WHLR $2.1 million and $1.0 million, respectively, for these services. The Operating
Partnership and WHLR's operating partnership, Wheeler REIT, L.P., are party to a cost sharing and reimbursement agreement, pursuant to which the parties agreed to share
costs and expenses associated with certain employees, certain facilities and property, and certain arrangements with third parties (the "Cost Sharing Agreement"). The related
party amounts due to WHLR at December 31, 2023 and 2022 are comprised of:

December 31,
2023 2022

Financings and real estate taxes $ 7,166,000 $ 7,166,000 
Management fees 225,000 110,000 
Leasing commissions 161,000 85,000 
Cost Sharing Agreement allocations (a) 548,000 — 
Other (6,000) (33,000)
Total $ 8,094,000 $ 7,328,000 

(a) Includes allocations for executive compensation and directors' liability insurance. In 2022, WHLR did not make any allocations to the Company for these services due to
certain limitations set forth in the Cost Sharing Agreement.

Summary of Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates,
including those related to revenue recognition and the allowance for doubtful accounts receivable, real estate investments and purchase accounting allocations related thereto,
asset impairment, and derivatives used to hedge interest-rate risks. Management's estimates are based both on information that is currently available and on various other
assumptions management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from those estimates and those estimates could be different under
varying assumptions or conditions.

The Company has identified the following critical accounting policies, the application of which requires significant judgments and estimates:

Revenue Recognition

Rental income with scheduled rent increases is recognized using the straight-line method over the respective terms of the leases. The aggregate excess of rental revenue
recognized on a straight-line basis over base rents under applicable lease provisions is included
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in straight-line rents receivable on the consolidated balance sheet. Leases also generally contain provisions under which the tenants reimburse the Company for a portion of
property operating expenses and real estate taxes incurred; such income is recognized in the periods earned. In addition, certain operating leases contain contingent rent
provisions under which tenants are required to pay a percentage of their sales in excess of a specified amount as additional rent. The Company defers recognition of contingent
rental income until those specified targets are met.

The Company must make estimates as to the collectability of its accounts receivable related to base rent, straight-line rent, expense reimbursements and other revenues.
Management analyzes accounts receivable by considering tenant creditworthiness, current economic conditions, and changes in tenants' payment patterns when evaluating the
adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts receivable. These estimates have a direct impact on net income, because a higher bad debt allowance would result in lower net
income, whereas a lower bad debt allowance would result in higher net income.

Real Estate Investments

Real estate investments are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. The provision for depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method based on estimated
useful lives. Expenditures for maintenance, repairs and betterments that do not materially prolong the normal useful life of an asset are charged to operations as incurred.
Expenditures for betterments that substantially extend the useful lives of real estate assets are capitalized.

Real estate investments include costs of development and redevelopment activities, and construction in progress. Capitalized costs, including interest and other carrying
costs during the construction and/or renovation periods, are included in the cost of the related asset and charged to operations through depreciation over the asset's estimated
useful life. The Company is required to make subjective estimates as to the useful lives of its real estate assets for purposes of determining the amount of depreciation to reflect
on an annual basis. These assessments have a direct impact on net income. A shorter estimate of the useful life of an asset would have the effect of increasing depreciation
expense and lowering net income, whereas a longer estimate of the useful life of an asset would have the effect of reducing depreciation expense and increasing net income.

A variety of costs are incurred in the acquisition, development and leasing of a property, such as pre-construction costs essential to the development of the property,
development costs, construction costs, interest costs, real estate taxes, salaries and related costs, and other costs incurred during the period of development. After a determination
is made to capitalize a cost, it is allocated to the specific component of a project that is benefited. The Company ceases capitalization on the portions substantially completed and
occupied, or held available for occupancy, and capitalizes only those costs associated with the portions under construction. The Company considers a construction project as
substantially completed and held available for occupancy upon the completion of tenant improvements, but not later than one year from cessation of major development
activity. Determination of when a development project is substantially complete and capitalization must cease involves a degree of judgment. The effect of a longer
capitalization period would be to increase capitalized costs and would result in higher net income, whereas the effect of a shorter capitalization period would be to reduce
capitalized costs and would result in lower net income.

The Company allocates the fair value of real estate acquired to land, buildings and improvements. In addition, the fair value of in-place leases is allocated to intangible
lease assets and liabilities. The fair value of the tangible assets of an acquired property is determined by valuing the property as if it were vacant, which value is then allocated to
land, buildings and improvements based on management's determination of the fair values of such assets. In valuing an acquired property's intangibles, factors considered by
management include an estimate of carrying costs during the expected lease-up periods, such as real estate taxes, insurance, other operating expenses, and estimates of lost
rental revenue during the expected lease-up periods based on its evaluation of current market demand. Management also estimates costs to execute similar leases, including
leasing commissions, tenant improvements, legal and other related costs.

The values of acquired above market and below market leases are recorded based on the present values (using discount rates which reflect the risks associated with the
leases acquired) of the differences between the contractual amounts to be received and management's estimate of market lease rates, measured over the terms of the respective
leases that management deemed appropriate at the time of the acquisitions. Such valuations include a consideration of the non-cancelable terms of the respective leases as well
as any applicable renewal period(s). The fair values associated with below market rental renewal options are determined based on the Company's experience and the relevant
facts and circumstances that existed at the time of the acquisitions. The values of above market leases are amortized to rental income over the terms of the respective non-
cancelable lease periods. The portion of the values of below market leases associated with the original non-cancelable lease terms are amortized to rental income over the terms
of the respective non-cancelable lease periods. The portion of the values of the leases associated with below market renewal options that are likely of exercise are amortized to
rental income over the respective renewal periods. The value of other intangible assets (including leasing commissions, tenant improvements, etc.) is amortized to expense over
the applicable terms of the respective leases. If a lease were to be terminated prior to its stated expiration or not renewed, all unamortized amounts relating to that lease would
be recognized in operations at that time.
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Management is required to make subjective assessments in connection with its valuation of real estate acquisitions. These assessments have a direct impact on net income
because (1) above market and below market lease intangibles are amortized to rental income and (2) the value of other intangibles is amortized to expense. Accordingly, higher
allocations to below market lease liability and other intangibles would result in higher rental income and amortization expense, whereas lower allocations to below market lease
liability and other intangibles would result in lower rental income and amortization expense.

Management reviews each real estate investment for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of a real estate investment may not be
recoverable. The review of recoverability is based on an estimate of the future cash flows that are expected to result from the real estate investment's use and eventual
disposition. These estimates of cash flows consider factors such as expected future operating income, trends and prospects, as well as the effects of leasing demand, competition
and other factors. If an impairment event exists due to the projected inability to recover the carrying value of a real estate investment, an impairment loss is recorded to the
extent that the carrying value exceeds estimated fair value. A real estate investment held for sale is carried at the lower of its carrying amount or estimated fair value, less the
cost of a potential sale. Depreciation and amortization are suspended during the period the property is held for sale. Management is required to make subjective assessments as
to whether there are impairments in the value of its real estate properties. These assessments have a direct impact on net income, because an impairment loss is recognized in the
period that the assessment is made.

New Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 of "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" included in Item 8 below for information relating to new accounting pronouncements.

Results of Operations

Comparison of 2023 to 2022

Years ended December 31, Change
2023 2022 Dollars Percent

Revenues $ 34,632,000 $ 34,297,000 $ 335,000 1.0%
Property operating expenses (13,153,000) (14,360,000) 1,207,000 (8.4)%
Property operating income 21,479,000 19,937,000 1,542,000 
Corporate general and administrative (3,192,000) (10,099,000) 6,907,000 (68.4)%
Depreciation and amortization (10,918,000) (9,645,000) (1,273,000) 13.2%
Gain on sale 2,662,000 — 2,662,000 n/a
Impairment charges — (9,350,000) 9,350,000 n/a
Transaction costs — (58,959,000) 58,959,000 n/a
Interest expense, net (8,024,000) (10,894,000) 2,870,000 (26.3)%
Income (loss) from continuing operations 2,007,000 (79,010,000) 81,017,000 
Discontinued operations:

Income from discontinued operations — 14,302,000 (14,302,000) (100.0)%
Impairment charges — (16,629,000) 16,629,000 n/a
Gain on sales — 125,500,000 (125,500,000) n/a

Net income 2,007,000 44,163,000 (42,156,000)
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests — (132,000) 132,000 n/a
Net income attributable to Cedar Realty Trust, Inc. $ 2,007,000 $ 44,031,000 $ (42,024,000)

Revenues were higher primarily as a result of (1) an increase of $1.6 million in rental revenues and expense recoveries attributable to same center properties, which is
partially offset by (2) a decrease of $0.9 million in rental revenues and expense recoveries attributable to properties that were sold or held for sale in 2022 not deemed to be
discontinued operations, and (3) a decrease in other income of $0.4 million attributable to one-time transactions for properties that were sold in 2022.

Property operating expenses were lower primarily as a result of (1) a decrease of $0.6 million in property operating expenses attributable to properties sold or held for
sale during 2022 not deemed to be discontinued operations, (2) a decrease of $0.4 million attributable to one-time property operating expenses for properties that were sold in
2022, and (3) a decrease of $0.2 million in property operating expenses attributable to same center properties.
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Corporate general and administrative costs were lower primarily as a result of (1) a decrease of $4.5 million in payroll related costs, (2) a decrease of $2.4 million in
other general and administrative costs, (3) a decrease of $0.4 million in accounting fees, all of which are predominantly related to the completion of the Grocery-Anchored
Portfolio Sale and the Merger, partially offset by (4) an increase of $0.4 million in professional fees.

Depreciation and amortization expenses were higher as a result of an increase of $1.3 million attributable to same center properties.

Gain on sale in 2023 relates to the sale of the outparcel building adjacent to Carll's Corner, located in Bridgeton, New Jersey.

Impairment charges in 2022 relate to Riverview Plaza, located in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, which was sold that same year, and the Company's then-investment in the
unconsolidated joint venture and the then-note receivable associated with Senator Square located in Washington D.C., both of which assets were sold in the Grocery-Anchored
Portfolio Sale.

Transaction costs in 2022 relate to costs incurred related to the Grocery-Anchored Portfolio Sale and the Merger.

Interest expense, net was lower as a result of (1) a decrease in amortization expense of deferred financing costs of $5.7 million, (2) a decrease in the overall weighted
average principal balance which resulted in a decrease in interest expense of $4.6 million, partially offset by (3) the interest rate swaps termination gain in 2022 of $3.4 million,
(4) an increase in the overall weighted average interest rate, which resulted in an increase in interest expense of $3.0 million, and (5) capitalized interest in 2022 of $1.0 million.

Discontinued operations for 2022 include the results of operations, impairments and gain on sales for properties treated as discontinued operations.

Same-Property Net Operating Income

Same-property net operating income ("same-property NOI") is a widely-used non-GAAP financial measure for REITs that the Company believes, when considered with
financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP, is useful to investors. The Company defines same-property NOI as property revenues (rental and other revenues) less
property and related expenses (property operation and maintenance and real estate taxes). Because same-property NOI excludes general and administrative expenses,
depreciation and amortization, interest expense, interest income, provision for income taxes, gain or loss on sale or capital expenditures and leasing costs and impairment
charges, it provides a performance measure, that when compared year over year, reflects the revenues and expenses directly associated with owning and operating commercial
real estate properties and the impact to operations from trends in occupancy rates, rental rates and operating costs, providing perspective not immediately apparent from net
income. The Company uses same-property NOI to evaluate its operating performance since same-property NOI allows the Company to evaluate the impact of factors, such as
occupancy levels, lease structure, lease rates and tenant base, have on the Company's results, margins and returns. Properties are included in same-property NOI if they are
owned and operated for the entirety of both periods being compared, except for properties undergoing significant redevelopment and expansion until such properties have
stabilized, and properties classified as held for sale. Consistent with the capital treatment of such costs under GAAP, tenant improvements, leasing commissions and other direct
leasing costs are excluded from same-property NOI.

The most directly comparable GAAP financial measure is consolidated operating income. Same-property NOI should not be considered as an alternative to consolidated
operating income prepared in accordance with GAAP or as a measure of liquidity. Further, same-property NOI is a measure for which there is no standard industry definition
and, as such, it is not consistently defined or reported on among the Company's peers, and thus may not provide an adequate basis for comparison among REITs.
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The following table reconciles same-property NOI to the Company's consolidated operating income (loss) (the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure):

 Years ended December 31,
 2023 2022

Operating income (loss) $ 10,031,000 $ (68,116,000)
Add (deduct):

Corporate general and administrative 3,192,000 10,099,000 
Gain on sale (2,662,000) — 
Transaction costs — 58,959,000 
Impairment charges — 9,350,000 
Depreciation and amortization 10,918,000 9,645,000 
Straight-line rents (854,000) (77,000)
Above (below) market lease amortization, net (336,000) (896,000)
Other non-property revenue (426,000) (258,000)
NOI related to properties not defined as same-property (106,000) (495,000)

Same-property NOI $ 19,757,000 $ 18,211,000 

Number of same properties 19 19
Same-property occupancy, end of year 86.4 % 82.3 %
Same-property leased, end of year 89.6 % 86.2 %
Same-property average base rent, end of year $ 10.52 $ 10.28 

Same-property NOI for the comparable years increased 8.5% as a result of increased rental revenues and decreased property operating expenses in 2023.
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Leasing Activity

The following is a summary of the Company's retail leasing activity during 2023 and 2022 for the 19-property portfolio since the Merger:

 
Year ended

December 31, 2023
Six months ended

December 31, 2022
Renewals (a):
Leases renewed with rate increase (sq feet) 182,111 124,875 
Leases renewed with rate decrease (sq feet) — 29,223 
Leases renewed with no rate change (sq feet) 7,643 64,950 
Total leases renewed (sq feet) 189,754 219,048 

Leases renewed with rate increase (count) 20 12 
Leases renewed with rate decrease (count) — 2 
Leases renewed with no rate change (count) 3 3 
Total leases renewed (count) 23 17 

Option exercised (count) 5 2 

Weighted average on rate increases (per sq foot) $ 0.77 $ 1.91 
Weighted average on rate decreases (per sq foot) $ — $ (0.28)
Weighted average on all renewals (per sq foot) $ 0.74 $ 1.05 

Weighted average change over prior rates 6.85 % 10.26 %

New Leases (a) (b):
New leases (sq feet) 224,175 159,213 
New leases (count) 26 14 
Weighted average rate (per sq foot) $ 12.77 $ 10.70 

(a) Lease data presented is based on average rate per square foot over the renewed or new lease term.
(b) The Company does not include ground leases entered into for the purposes of new lease sq feet and weighted average rate (per sq foot) on new leases.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company funds operating expenses and other liquidity requirements, including debt service and loan maturities, tenant improvements, and leasing commissions,
primarily from its operations and the $9.4 million in restricted cash as of December 31, 2023. The Company does not have any scheduled debt maturities for the year ending
December 31, 2024. The Company is working to increase revenue by improving occupancy, which includes backfilling vacant anchor spaces and replacing defaulted tenants.
Tenant improvements and leasing commissions for these efforts will be partially funded by restricted cash, strategic disposition of assets and financing of properties.

On October 28, 2022, the Company entered into a term loan agreement with Guggenheim Real Estate, LLC for $110.0 million at a fixed rate of 5.25% with interest-only
payments due monthly (the "Term Loan Agreement, 10 properties"). Wheeler REIT, L.P. provided a limited recourse indemnity in connection with such loan. Commencing on
December 10, 2027, until the maturity date of November 10, 2032, monthly principal and interest payments will be made based on a 30-year amortization schedule calculated
based on the principal amount as of that time. The Term Loan Agreement, 10 properties is collateralized by 10 properties and proceeds were used to paydown the Company's
loan agreement with KeyBank National Association for $130.0 million (the "KeyBank Credit Agreement").

On December 21, 2022, the Company entered into a term loan agreement with Citi Real Estate Funding Inc. for $25.0 million at a fixed rate of 6.35% with interest-only
payments due monthly through maturity on January 6, 2033 (the "Patuxent Crossing/Coliseum
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Marketplace Loan Agreement"). The Patuxent Crossing/Coliseum Marketplace Loan Agreement is collateralized by 2 properties and proceeds were used to satisfy the
remaining obligation of the KeyBank Credit Agreement and released the remaining collateral under that agreement.

On September 12, 2023, the Company entered into a term loan agreement with Cornerstone Bank for $11.56 million at a fixed rate of 7.27% with interest-only payments
due monthly for the first twelve months (the "Timpany Plaza Loan Agreement"). Commencing on September 12, 2024, until the maturity date of September 12, 2028, monthly
principal and interest payments will be made based on a 30-year amortization schedule calculated based on the principal amount as of that time. On the closing date, the
Company received $9.06 million of the $11.56 million, and the remaining $2.5 million will be received upon the satisfaction of certain lease-related contingencies within one
year of the agreement date. The Timpany Plaza Loan Agreement is collateralized by the Timpany Plaza shopping center.

Debt obligations are composed of the following at December 31, 2023 and collateralized by 13 properties:

  December 31, 2023

Description
Maturity

dates
Balance

outstanding

Contractual
interest rates

weighted-average

Fixed-rate secured term loans:     
Timpany Plaza Sep 2028 $ 9,060,000 7.3%
Term loan, 10 properties Nov 2032 110,000,000 5.3%
Patuxent Crossing/Coliseum Marketplace Jan 2033 25,000,000 6.4%

144,060,000 5.6%
Unamortized issuance costs (3,566,000)
 $ 140,494,000 

Term loans payable may require the Company to deposit certain replacement and other reserves with its lenders. Such "restricted cash" is generally available only for
property-level requirements for which the reserves have been established and are not available to fund other property-level or Company-level obligations.

In order to continue qualifying as a REIT, the Company is required to distribute at least 90% of its "REIT taxable income", as defined in the Code. The Company paid
common stock dividends during 2022 and preferred stock dividends during 2022 and 2023, and has continued to declare preferred stock dividends through the first quarter of
2024. Future dividend declarations will continue to be at the discretion of the Board of Directors, and will depend on the cash flow and financial condition of the Company,
capital requirements, annual distribution requirements under the REIT provisions of the Code, and such other factors as the Board of Directors may deem relevant. The
Company intends to continue to operate its business in a manner that will allow it to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax requirements.

The following table sets forth the Company's significant debt repayment, interest, and operating lease obligations at December 31, 2023:

Maturity Date
2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 Thereafter Total

Debt:
Secured term loans $ 74,000 $ 306,000 $ 329,000 $ 481,000 $ 9,456,000 $ 133,414,000 $ 144,060,000 
Interest payments (a) 8,154,000 8,117,000 8,094,000 8,069,000 7,880,000 28,553,000 68,867,000 

Operating lease obligations 179,000 179,000 179,000 179,000 179,000 7,673,000 8,568,000 

Total $ 8,407,000 $ 8,602,000 $ 8,602,000 $ 8,729,000 $ 17,515,000 $ 169,640,000 $ 221,495,000 

(a) Represents interest payments expected to be incurred on the Company's debt obligations as of December 31, 2023.

In addition, the Company has $0.4 million outstanding construction commitments at December 31, 2023.

Other than the items disclosed in the table above, the Company had no off-balance sheet arrangements as of December 31, 2023 that are reasonably likely to have a
current or future material effect on the Company's financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.
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Net Cash Flows

 Years ended December 31,
 2023 2022
Cash flows provided by (used in):

Operating activities $ 8,248,000 $ (20,464,000)
Investing activities $ (3,697,000) $ 676,775,000 
Financing activities $ (2,106,000) $ (646,117,000)

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities, before net changes in operating assets and liabilities, was $8.7 million for 2023. Net cash used in operating activities, before net
changes in operating assets and liabilities, was $(28.9) million for 2022. The increase was a result of the reduction in costs associated with the completion of both the Grocery-
Anchored Portfolio Sale and Merger.

Investing Activities

Net cash flows (used in) provided by investing activities were primarily the result of the Company's property disposition activities and expenditures for property
improvements. During 2023, the Company incurred $6.5 million of expenditures for property improvements, which was partially offset by $2.8 million in net proceeds related
to the sale of the outparcel building adjacent to Carll's Corner, located in Bridgeton, New Jersey. During 2022, the Company received $667.4 million in proceeds from the
Grocery-Anchored Portfolio Sale and $31.9 million in proceeds from the sale of Riverview Plaza, which was partially offset by $22.4 million of expenditures for property
improvements.

Financing Activities

During 2023, the Company made payments of $10.8 million of preferred stock dividends, payments of $0.4 million of debt financing costs, which were partially offset by
$9.1 million received from a new term loan. During 2022, the Company made $408.1 million of preferred and common stock distributions, a $300.0 million term loan payoff,
$130.7 million of mortgage repayments, net payments of $66.0 million under the revolving credit facility, payments of $7.4 million of debt financing costs, $1.4 million of
distributions to limited partners, and the purchase of a minority interest in a joint venture for $1.0 million, which were partially offset by $265.0 million in new term loans and a
$3.4 million benefit as a result of interest rate swap terminations.

Funds From Operations

We use funds from operations ("FFO"), a non-GAAP measure, as an alternative measure of our operating performance, specifically as it relates to results of operations
and liquidity. We compute FFO in accordance with standards established by the Board of Governors of Nareit in its March 1995 White Paper (as amended in November 1999,
April 2002 and December 2018). As defined by Nareit, FFO represents net income (computed in accordance with GAAP), excluding gains (or losses) from sales of property,
plus real estate-related depreciation and amortization (excluding amortization of loan origination costs), plus impairment of real estate related long-lived assets and after
adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures. Most industry analysts and equity REITs, including us, consider FFO to be an appropriate supplemental measure
of operating performance because, by excluding gains or losses on dispositions and excluding depreciation, FFO is a helpful tool that can assist in the comparison of the
operating performance of a company’s real estate between periods, or as compared to different companies. Management uses FFO as a supplemental measure to conduct and
evaluate our business because there are certain limitations associated with using GAAP net income alone as the primary measure of our operating performance. Historical cost
accounting for real estate assets in accordance with GAAP implicitly assumes that the value of real estate assets diminishes predictably over time, while historically real estate
values have risen or fallen with market conditions. Accordingly, we believe FFO provides a valuable alternative measurement tool to GAAP when presenting our operating
results.

We believe the computation of FFO in accordance with Nareit's definition includes certain items that are not indicative of the results provided by our operating portfolio
and affect the comparability of our period-over-period performance. These items include, but are not limited to, legal settlements, non-cash share-based compensation expense,
non-cash amortization on loans and acquisition costs. Therefore, in addition to FFO, management uses Adjusted FFO ("AFFO"), which we define to exclude such items.
Management believes that these adjustments are appropriate in determining AFFO as they are not indicative of the operating performance of our assets. In addition, we believe
that AFFO is a useful supplemental measure for the investing community to use in comparing us to other REITs as many REITs provide some form of adjusted or modified
FFO. However, there can be no assurance that AFFO presented by us is comparable to the adjusted or modified FFO of other REITs.
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A reconciliation of net (loss) income attributable to common shareholders to FFO and AFFO for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

 Years ended December 31,
 2023 2022

Net (loss) income attributable to common shareholders $ (8,745,000) $ 33,279,000 
Real estate depreciation and amortization 10,918,000 19,318,000 
Limited partners' interest — 132,000 
Gain on sales (2,662,000) (125,500,000)
Impairment charges — 25,979,000 

FFO applicable to diluted common shares (489,000) (46,792,000)
Transaction costs (a) — 58,959,000 

AFFO applicable to diluted common shares $ (489,000) $ 12,167,000 

FFO per diluted common share $ (0.04) $ (3.40)

AFFO per diluted common share $ (0.04) $ 0.88 
Weighted average number of diluted common shares (b):

Common shares and equivalents 13,718,000 13,717,000 
OP Units — 44,000 

 13,718,000 13,761,000 

(a) Includes costs incurred in connection with the Grocery-Anchored Portfolio Sale and Merger.
(b) The weighted average number of diluted common shares used to compute FFO and AFFO applicable to diluted common shares includes OP Units, unvested restricted stock units and

unvested restricted shares/units that are excluded from the computation of diluted EPS.

Inflation, Deflation and Economic Condition Considerations

The U.S. is experiencing elevated levels of inflation, which could continue or worsen. Substantially all of the Company's tenant leases contain provisions designed to
partially mitigate the negative impact of inflation in the near term. Such lease provisions include clauses that require tenants to reimburse the Company for inflation-sensitive
costs such as real estate taxes, insurance and many of the operating expenses it incurs. In addition, many of our leases are for terms of less than ten years, which permits us to
seek increased rents upon re-rental at market rates. However, significant inflation rate increases over a prolonged period of time may have a material adverse impact on the
Company's business. Conversely, deflation could lead to downward pressure on rents and other sources of income.

Interest rate increases could result in higher incremental borrowing costs for the Company and our tenants. The duration of the Company's indebtedness and our relatively
low exposure to floating rate debt have mitigated the direct impact of inflation and interest rate increases. The degree and pace of these changes have had and may continue to
have impacts on our business.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and are not required to provide the information under this item.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Cedar Realty Trust, Inc.
Virginia Beach, Virginia

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cedar Realty Trust, Inc. (the "Company") as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the related consolidated
statements of operations, comprehensive income, equity, and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the related notes and schedules (collectively
referred to as the "consolidated financial statements"). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's consolidated
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required to be
communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially
challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements,
taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to
which it relates.

Evaluation of Real Estate for Impairment

Description of Matter
At December 31, 2023, the Company's net real estate totaled $201.7 million. As more fully described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company evaluates
its real estate investments for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of a real estate investment may not be recoverable.
Management evaluates various qualitative factors in determining whether events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a real estate investment may
not be recoverable.

Auditing the Company's impairment assessment involved subjectivity due to the estimation required to assess significant assumptions utilized in the recoverability of the real
estate based on undiscounted operating income and residual values, such as assumptions related to renewal and renegotiations of current leases, estimates of new leases on
vacant spaces, and estimates of operating costs.

How We Addressed the Matter in Our Audit
To test the Company's evaluation of net real estate for impairment, we performed audit procedures that included, among others, assessing the methodologies applied, evaluating
the significant assumptions discussed above and testing the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data used in the analysis. We compared the recoverability calculated to
the remaining net book value of the assets to ensure recoverability for the properties' remaining useful lives. We compared the significant assumptions used by
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management to relevant market information and other applicable sources. As part of our evaluation, we performed sensitivity analyses of significant assumptions to evaluate the
changes in the undiscounted cash flows of the related property that would result from changes in the assumptions.

/s/ Cherry Bekaert LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2022.

Virginia Beach, Virginia
March 5, 2024
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CEDAR REALTY TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

 December 31,
 2023 2022
ASSETS

Real estate:
Land $ 69,085,000 $ 69,111,000 
Buildings and improvements 299,080,000 294,999,000 
 368,165,000 364,110,000 
Less accumulated depreciation (166,489,000) (157,468,000)

Real estate, net 201,676,000 206,642,000 
     
Cash and cash equivalents 6,518,000 3,899,000 
Restricted cash 9,390,000 9,564,000 
Receivables, net 6,357,000 6,135,000 
Deferred costs and other assets, net 9,141,000 7,924,000 

TOTAL ASSETS $ 233,082,000 $ 234,164,000 
     
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY     

Loans payable, net $ 140,494,000 $ 131,462,000 
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabilities 8,382,000 10,094,000 
Due to Wheeler Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. 8,094,000 7,328,000 
Below market lease intangibles, net 2,655,000 3,078,000 

Total liabilities 159,625,000 151,962,000 
     

Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)   
     

Equity:     
Preferred stock 159,541,000 159,541,000 
Common stock ($0.06 par value, 150,000,000 shares authorized, 13,718,000 shares, issued and outstanding) 823,000 823,000 
Additional paid-in capital 868,323,000 868,323,000 
Cumulative distributions in excess of net income (955,230,000) (946,485,000)

Total equity 73,457,000 82,202,000 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $ 233,082,000 $ 234,164,000 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CEDAR REALTY TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

 Years ended December 31,

 2023 2022

REVENUES
Rental revenues $ 33,987,000 $ 32,963,000 
Other revenues 645,000 1,334,000 

Total revenues 34,632,000 34,297,000 
EXPENSES     

Operating, maintenance and management 7,728,000 8,411,000 
Real estate and other property-related taxes 5,425,000 5,949,000 
Corporate general and administrative 3,192,000 10,099,000 
Depreciation and amortization 10,918,000 9,645,000 

Total expenses 27,263,000 34,104,000 
     
OTHER     

Gain on sale 2,662,000 — 
Transaction costs — (58,959,000)
Impairment charges — (9,350,000)

Total other 2,662,000 (68,309,000)
     

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 10,031,000 (68,116,000)
     

NON-OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES     
Interest expense, net (8,024,000) (10,894,000)

Total non-operating income and expenses (8,024,000) (10,894,000)
     
NET INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 2,007,000 (79,010,000)
     
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS     

Income from discontinued operations — 14,302,000 
Impairment charges — (16,629,000)
Gain on sales — 125,500,000 

Total income from discontinued operations — 123,173,000 
     
NET INCOME 2,007,000 44,163,000 
     
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests:     

Limited partners' interest in Operating Partnership — (132,000)
Total net income attributable to noncontrolling interests — (132,000)

     
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO CEDAR REALTY TRUST, INC. 2,007,000 44,031,000 

     
Preferred stock dividends (10,752,000) (10,752,000)

     
NET (LOSS) INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON SHAREHOLDERS $ (8,745,000) $ 33,279,000 

     
NET (LOSS) INCOME PER COMMON SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON SHAREHOLDERS (BASIC AND DILUTED):     

Continuing operations $ (0.64) $ (6.64)
Discontinued operations — 9.12 

 $ (0.64) $ 2.48 

   
Weighted average number of common shares - basic and diluted 13,718,000 13,448,000

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CEDAR REALTY TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years ended December 31,
2023 2022

Net income $ 2,007,000 $ 44,163,000 

Unrealized gain on change in fair value of cash flow hedges — 8,321,000 

Comprehensive income 2,007,000 52,484,000 

Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests — (195,000)

Comprehensive income attributable to Cedar Realty Trust, Inc. $ 2,007,000 $ 52,289,000 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CEDAR REALTY TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

Years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

     
Treasury

stock,
at cost

Additional
paid-in
capital

Cumulative 
distributions
in excess of
net income

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
(income) loss Total

 Preferred stock Common stock
 Shares Amount Shares Amount
Balance, December 31, 2021 6,450,000 $ 159,541,000 13,658,000 $ 820,000 $ (13,266,000) $ 881,009,000 $ (582,464,000) $ (8,258,000) $ 437,382,000 
Net income — — — — — — 44,031,000 — 44,031,000
Unrealized gain on change in fair value of cash flow hedges — — — — — — — 8,258,000 8,258,000
Share-based compensation, net — — (103,000) (6,000) 13,266,000 (12,300,000) — — 960,000
Purchase of OP Units — — — — — — — — —
Preferred stock dividends — — — — — — (10,752,000) — (10,752,000)
Acquisition of minority interests — — — — — (1,000,000) — — (1,000,000)
Distributions to common shareholders/noncontrolling interests — — — — — — (397,300,000) — (397,300,000)
Reallocation adjustment of limited partners' interest — — — — — 622,000 — — 622,000
Common stock sales, net of issuance expenses — — — — — 1,000 — — 1,000
Common stock issuance — — 114,000 7,000 — (7,000) — — —
Common stock repurchases — — (13,669,000) (821,000) — 821,000 — — —
Common stock issued to Wheeler Real Estate Investment Trust,
Inc. — — 13,718,000 823,000 — (823,000) — — —
Balance, December 31, 2022 6,450,000 159,541,000 13,718,000 823,000 — 868,323,000 (946,485,000) — 82,202,000 
Net income — — — — — — 2,007,000 — 2,007,000 
Preferred stock dividends — — — — — — (10,752,000) — (10,752,000)

Balance, December 31, 2023 6,450,000 $ 159,541,000 13,718,000 $ 823,000 $ — $ 868,323,000 $ (955,230,000) $ — $ 73,457,000 
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CEDAR REALTY TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

Years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022
Continued

 Noncontrolling Interests    

 

Minority
interests in

consolidated
joint ventures

Limited
partners'
interest in
Operating

Partnership Total
Total
equity

Balance, December 31, 2021 $ — $ 2,586,000 $ 2,586,000 $ 439,968,000 
Net income — 132,000 132,000 44,163,000 
Unrealized gain on change in fair value of cash flow hedges — 63,000 63,000 8,321,000 
Share-based compensation, net — — — 960,000 
Purchase of OP Units — (726,000) (726,000) (726,000)
Preferred stock dividends — — — (10,752,000)
Acquisition of minority interests — — — (1,000,000)
Distributions to common shareholders/noncontrolling interests — (1,433,000) (1,433,000) (398,733,000)
Reallocation adjustment of limited partners' interest — (622,000) (622,000) — 
Common stock sales, net of issuance expenses — — — 1,000 
Common stock issuance — — — — 
Common stock repurchases — — — — 
Common stock issued to Wheeler Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. — — — — 
Balance, December 31, 2022 — — — 82,202,000 
Net income — — — 2,007,000 
Preferred stock dividends — — — (10,752,000)

Balance, December 31, 2023 $ — $ — $ — $ 73,457,000 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

29



Table of Contents

CEDAR REALTY TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

 Years ended December 31,
 2023 2022
OPERATING ACTIVITIES     

Net income $ 2,007,000 $ 44,163,000 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:     

Gain on sales (2,662,000) (125,500,000)
Impairment charges — 25,979,000 
Straight-line rents and expenses, net (854,000) (506,000)
Credit adjustments on operating lease receivables (711,000) 968,000 
Depreciation and amortization 10,918,000 19,372,000 
Above (below) market lease amortization, net (336,000) (1,080,000)
Expense relating to share-based compensation, net — 1,608,000 
Amortization of deferred financing costs 386,000 6,105,000 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions and dispositions:     
Receivables, net 1,343,000 (15,575,000)
Deferred costs and other assets, net (2,243,000) (5,654,000)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabilities 400,000 29,656,000 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 8,248,000 (20,464,000)
 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Expenditures for real estate improvements (6,456,000) (22,407,000)
Net proceeds from sales of real estate 2,759,000 699,337,000 
Contributions to unconsolidated joint venture — (155,000)

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (3,697,000) 676,775,000 
 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayments under revolving credit facility — (70,000,000)
Advances under revolving credit facility — 4,000,000 
Repayment of term note — (300,000,000)
Proceeds (termination payment) related to interest rate swap — 3,400,000 
Mortgage proceeds 9,060,000 265,000,000 
Mortgage repayments — (130,664,000)
Payments of deferred financing costs (414,000) (7,368,000)
Noncontrolling interests:     

Distributions to limited partners — (966,000)
Acquisition of joint venture minority interest share — (1,000,000)
Redemption of OP units — (467,000)

Preferred stock dividends (10,752,000) (10,752,000)
Distributions to common shareholders — (397,300,000)

Net cash used in financing activities (2,106,000) (646,117,000)
     
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 2,445,000 10,194,000 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year 13,463,000 3,269,000 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year $ 15,908,000 $ 13,463,000 
 
Reconciliation to consolidated balance sheets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,518,000 $ 3,899,000 
Restricted cash 9,390,000 9,564,000 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 15,908,000 $ 13,463,000 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Cedar Realty Trust, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2023

Note 1. Business and Organization

The Company is a REIT that focuses on owning and operating income producing retail properties with a primary focus on grocery-anchored shopping centers primarily in
the Northeast. At December 31, 2023, the Company owned a portfolio of 19 properties. Seven of these properties are located in Pennsylvania, four in Massachusetts, three in
Connecticut, three in New Jersey, one in Maryland and one in Virginia.

The Company, organized as a Maryland corporation, has established an umbrella partnership structure through the contribution of substantially all of its assets to the
Operating Partnership, organized as a limited partnership under the laws of Delaware. The Operating Partnership is the entity through which the Company conducts
substantially all of its business and owns (either directly or through subsidiaries) substantially all of its assets. At December 31, 2023, the Company, which is a subsidiary of
WHLR, owned a 100.0% interest in, and was the sole general partner of, the Operating Partnership.

As used herein, the "Company" refers to Cedar Realty Trust, Inc. and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, including the Operating Partnership or, where the context so
requires, Cedar Realty Trust, Inc. only.

Asset Sale and Merger

On March 2, 2022, the Company entered into definitive agreements for the sale of the Company and its assets in a series of related all-cash transactions. Specifically, the
Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into the Asset Purchase Agreement with the Grocery-Anchored Purchasers for the sale of a portfolio of 33 grocery-anchored
shopping centers for cash. In addition, the Company entered into the Merger Agreement with WHLR and certain of its affiliates pursuant to which, following closing of the
Grocery-Anchored Portfolio Sale, WHLR acquired the balance of the Company's shopping center assets by way of an all-cash merger transaction. The Transactions were
unanimously approved by the Company's former Board of Directors and were approved by the Company's common stockholders at a special meeting of stockholders held on
May 27, 2022.

On July 7, 2022, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries completed the Grocery-Anchored Portfolio Sale and the East River Park and Senator Square redevelopment
asset sales for total gross proceeds of approximately $879 million, including the assumed debt. There were no material relationships among the Company, the Grocery-
Anchored Purchasers, or any of their respective affiliates. On August 22, 2022, the Company completed the Merger. Each outstanding share of common stock of the Company
and outstanding common unit of the Operating Partnership held by persons other than the Company immediately prior to the Merger were canceled and converted into the right
to receive a cash payment of $9.48 per share or unit. As a result of the Merger, WHLR acquired all of the outstanding shares of the Company's common stock, which ceased to
be publicly traded on the NYSE. The Company's outstanding 7.25% Series B Preferred Stock and 6.50% Series C Preferred Stock remain outstanding and continue to trade on
the NYSE. In addition, prior to consummation of the Merger, the Company's Board of Directors declared a special dividend on shares of the Company's outstanding common
stock and OP Units of $19.52 per share, payable to holders of record of the Company's common stock and OP Units at the close of business on August 19, 2022.

In connection with the Transactions, the Company incurred transaction costs of $59.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, included in the accompanying
consolidated statement of operations, of which $33.5 million relates to employee severance payments.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation/Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts and operations of the Company, the Operating Partnership, its subsidiaries, and certain joint venture
partnerships in which it participates. The Company consolidates all variable interest entities ("VIEs") for which it is the primary beneficiary. Generally, a VIE is an entity with
one or more of the following characteristics: (1) the total equity investment at risk is not sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated
financial support, (2) as a group, the holders of the equity investment at risk (a) lack the power through voting or similar rights to make decisions about the entity's activities that
significantly impact the entity's performance, (b) have no obligation to absorb the expected losses of the entity, or (c) have no right to receive the expected residual returns of the
entity, or (3) the equity investors have voting rights that are not proportional to their economic interests, and substantially all of the entity's activities either involve, or are
conducted on behalf of, an investor that has disproportionately fewer voting rights. A VIE is required to be consolidated by its primary
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beneficiary. The primary beneficiary of a VIE has (1) the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the entity's economic performance, and (2) the obligation
to absorb losses of the VIE or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could be significant to the VIE. Significant judgments related to these determinations include
estimates about the current values, performance of real estate held by these VIEs, and general market conditions.

Limited partnerships and other similar entities are considered variable interest entities unless the limited partners hold substantive kick-out rights or participating rights.
Crossroads II, 60%-owned joint venture was consolidated as it was deemed to be a VIE and the Company was the primary beneficiary. The Company (1) guaranteed all related
debt, (2) did not require its partners to fund additional capital requirements, (3) had an economic interest greater than its voting proportion and (4) directed the management
activities that significantly impacted the performance of the joint venture. See Note 3, Real Estate, for additional details.

The accompanying financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis in accordance with GAAP, which requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue
and expenses during the periods covered by the financial statements. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Real Estate Investments

Real estate investments are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. The provision for depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method based upon the
estimated useful lives of the respective assets of between 3 and 40 years, with buildings being depreciated at the upper end of the range. Depreciation expense, net of
discontinued operations, amounted to $10.0 million and $8.5 million for 2023 and 2022, respectively. Expenditures for betterments that substantially extend the useful lives of
the assets are capitalized. Expenditures for maintenance, repairs, and betterments that do not substantially prolong the normal useful life of an asset are charged to operations as
incurred.

Real estate investments include costs of development and redevelopment activities, and construction in progress. Capitalized costs, including interest and other carrying
costs during the construction and/or renovation periods, are included in the cost of the related asset and charged to operations through depreciation over the asset's estimated
useful life. A variety of costs are incurred in the development and leasing of a property, such as pre-construction costs essential to the development of the property, development
costs, construction costs, interest costs, real estate taxes, salaries and related costs, and other costs incurred during the period of development. After a determination is made to
capitalize a cost, it is allocated to the specific component of a project that is benefited. The Company ceases capitalization on the portions substantially completed and occupied,
or held available for occupancy, and capitalizes only those costs associated with the portions under development. The Company considers a construction project to be
substantially completed and held available for occupancy upon the completion of tenant improvements, but not later than one year from cessation of major construction activity.

The Company allocates the fair value of real estate acquired to land, buildings and improvements. In addition, the fair value of in-place leases is allocated to intangible
lease assets and liabilities. The fair value of the tangible assets of an acquired property is determined by valuing the property as if it were vacant, which value is then allocated to
land, buildings and improvements based on management's determination of the fair values of these assets. In valuing an acquired property's intangibles, factors considered by
management include an estimate of carrying costs during the expected lease-up periods, such as real estate taxes, insurance, other operating expenses, and estimates of lost
rental revenue during the expected lease-up periods based on its evaluation of current market demand. Management also estimates costs to execute similar leases, including
leasing commissions, tenant improvements, legal and other related costs.

The values of acquired above market and below market leases are recorded based on the present values (using discount rates which reflect the risks associated with the
leases acquired) of the differences between the contractual amounts to be received and management's estimate of market lease rates, measured over the terms of the respective
leases that management deemed appropriate at the time of the acquisitions. Such valuations include consideration of the non-cancelable terms of the respective leases as well as
any applicable renewal periods. The fair values associated with below market rental renewal options are determined based on the Company's experience and the relevant facts
and circumstances that existed at the time of the acquisitions. The values of above market leases are amortized to rental income over the terms of the respective non-cancelable
lease periods. The portion of the values of below market leases associated with the original non-cancelable lease terms are amortized to rental income over the terms of the
respective non-cancelable lease periods. The portion of the values of the leases associated with below market renewal options that are likely of exercise are amortized to rental
income over the respective renewal periods. The value of other intangible assets (including leasing commissions, tenant improvements, etc.) is amortized to expense over the
applicable terms of the respective leases. If a lease were to
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be terminated prior to its stated expiration or not renewed, all unamortized amounts relating to that lease would be recognized in operations at that time.

Management reviews each real estate investment for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of a real estate investment may not be
recoverable. The review of recoverability of real estate investments held for use is based on an estimate of the future cash flows that are expected to result from the real estate
investment's use and eventual disposition. These cash flows consider factors such as expected future operating income, trends and prospects, as well as the effects of leasing
demand, capital expenditures, competition and other factors. If an impairment event exists due to the projected inability to recover the carrying value of a real estate investment,
an impairment loss is recorded to the extent that the carrying value exceeds estimated fair value.

Properties Held for Sale

The Company may decide to sell properties that are held for use. The Company records these properties as held for sale when management has committed to a plan to sell
the assets, actively seeks a buyer for the assets, and the consummation of the sale is considered probable and is expected within one year.

The carrying values of the assets and liabilities of properties determined to be held for sale, principally the net book values of the real estate and the related mortgage
loans payable expected to be assumed by the buyers, are reclassified as "held for sale" on the Company's consolidated balance sheets at the time such determinations are made,
on a prospective basis only.

The Company, when applicable, conducts a continuing review of the values for all properties "held for sale" based on estimated sales prices and sales contracts entered
into. Impairment charges/reversals, if applicable, are based on a comparison of the carrying values of the properties with either (1) actual sales prices less costs to sell for
properties sold, or contract amounts less costs to sell for properties in the process of being sold, (2) estimated sales prices, less costs to sell, based on discounted cash flow
analyses, if no contract amounts are being negotiated (see Note 4, Fair Value Measurements), or (3) with respect to land parcels, estimated sales prices, less costs to sell, based
on comparable sales completed in the selected market areas. Prior to the Company's determination to dispose of properties, which are subsequently reclassified to "held for sale",
the Company performs recoverability analyses based on the estimated undiscounted cash flows that are expected to result from the real estate investments' use and eventual
disposal. The projected undiscounted cash flows of each property reflects that the carrying value of each real estate investment would be recovered. Properties meeting the "held
for sale" criteria, are written down to the lower of their carrying value and estimated fair values less costs to sell.

The Company follows the guidance for reporting discontinued operations, whereby a disposal of an individual property or group of properties is required to be reported in
"discontinued operations" only if the disposal represents a strategic shift that has, or will have, a major effect on the Company's operations and financial results. The results of
operations for those properties not meeting such criteria are reported in "continuing operations" in the consolidated statements of operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents / Restricted Cash

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in banks and short-term investments with original maturities when purchased of less than ninety days.

The terms of the secured term loans may require the Company to deposit certain replacement and other reserves with its lenders. Such "restricted cash" is generally
available only for property-level requirements for which the reserves have been established. Restricted cash represents amounts held by lenders for real estate taxes, insurance,
reserves for capital improvements, leasing costs and tenant security deposits.

Fair Value Measurements

The accounting guidance for fair value measurement establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes observable and unobservable inputs used to measure fair value into
three levels:

• Level 1 – Inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.
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• Level 2 – Inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, and inputs that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument.

• Level 3 – Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement.

The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs and the lowest priority to Level 3 inputs. In determining fair value, the Company utilizes valuation
techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible while also considering counterparty credit risk in the
assessment of fair value.

Revenue Recognition and Receivables

The Company's underlying assets relating to rental revenue activity is solely retail space. The Company retains substantially all of the risks and benefits of ownership of
these underlying assets and accounts for these leases as operating leases. The Company combines lease and nonlease components in lease contracts, which includes combining
base rent and tenant reimbursement revenue.

Rental income with scheduled rent increases is recognized using the straight-line method over the respective non-cancelable terms of the leases. The aggregate excess of
rental revenue recognized on a straight-line basis over the contractual base rents is included in receivables on the consolidated balance sheet. Leases also generally contain
provisions under which the tenants reimburse the Company for a portion of property operating expenses and real estate taxes incurred, generally attributable to their respective
allocable portions of gross leasable area. Such income is recognized in the periods earned. In addition, a limited number of operating leases contain contingent rent provisions
under which tenants are required to pay, as additional rent, a percentage of their sales in excess of a specified amount.

The Company's leases generally require the tenant to reimburse the Company for a substantial portion of its expenses incurred in operating, maintaining, repairing,
insuring and managing the shopping center and common areas (collectively defined as Common Area Maintenance or "CAM" expenses). This significantly reduces the
Company's exposure to increases in costs and operating expenses resulting from inflation or other outside factors. These reimbursements are considered nonlease components
which the Company combines with the lease component. The Company calculates the tenant's share of operating costs by multiplying the total amount of the operating costs by
the tenant's pro-rata percentage of square footage to total square footage of the property. The Company also receives monthly payments for these reimbursements from
substantially all its tenants throughout the year. The Company recognizes tenant reimbursements as variable lease income.

The Company defers recognition of contingent rental income until those specified sales targets are met. Revenues also include items such as lease termination fees, which
tend to fluctuate more than rents from year to year. Termination fees are fees that the Company has agreed to accept in consideration for permitting certain tenants to terminate
their lease prior to the contractual expiration. The Company recognizes lease termination fees, which are included in revenues on the consolidated statements of operations, in
the year that the lease is terminated and collection of the fee is reasonably assured. Upon early lease termination, the Company records losses related to unrecovered intangibles
and other assets.

The Company determines an allowance for the uncollectible portion of accrued rents and accounts receivable based upon customer credit-worthiness (including expected
recovery of a claim with respect to any tenants in bankruptcy), historical bad debt levels, and current economic trends. All amounts that were historically recorded as bad debt
expense, and previously included in operating expenses in the Company's consolidated statement of operations, are now recorded as a reduction of rental revenues.

Segment Information

The Company's primary business is the ownership and operation of grocery-anchored shopping centers. The Company reviews operating and financial information for
each property on an individual basis and, accordingly, each property represents an individual operating segment. The Company evaluates financial performance using property
operating income, which consists of rental income and other property income, less operating expenses and real estate taxes. The Company has no operations outside of the
United States of America. Therefore, the Company has aggregated its properties into one reportable segment as the properties share similar long-term economic characteristics
and have other similarities including the fact that they are operated using consistent business strategies, are typically located in similar markets, and have similar tenant mixes.
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Lease Commitments

The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating leases, in which the Company is the lessee, are included in deferred costs and other assets,
net, and accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabilities on the Company's consolidated balance sheets.

Right-of-use ("ROU") assets represent the right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and the lease liabilities represent the Company's obligation to make lease
payments arising from the lease. Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease
term. As most of the Company's leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement
date in determining the present value of lease payments. The operating lease ROU assets include any lease payments made and excludes lease incentives. The Company's lease
terms may include options to extend the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option. Lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Company combines lease and associated nonlease components. The lease components are the majority of its leasing arrangements and the Company accounts for the
combined component as an operating lease. In the event the Company modifies existing ground leases or enters into new ground leases, such leases may be classified as finance
leases.

Transaction Costs

All costs associated with the Grocery-Anchored Portfolio Sale and the Merger, were expensed as incurred.

Income Taxes

The Company, organized in 1984, has elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust ("REIT") under the Code. A REIT will generally not be subject to federal
income taxation on that portion of its income that qualifies as REIT taxable income, to the extent that it distributes at least 90% of such REIT taxable income to its stockholders
and complies with certain other requirements. As of December 31, 2023, the Company was in compliance with all REIT requirements.

The Company follows a two-step approach for evaluating uncertain federal, state and local tax positions. Recognition (step one) occurs when an enterprise concludes that
a tax position, based solely on its technical merits, is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination. Measurement (step two) determines the amount of benefit that
more-likely-than-not will be realized upon settlement. Derecognition of a tax position that was previously recognized would occur when a company subsequently determines
that a tax position no longer meets the more-likely-than-not threshold of being sustained. The Company has not identified any uncertain tax positions which would require an
accrual.

Derivative Financial Instruments

Prior to the Merger, the Company occasionally utilized derivative financial instruments, principally interest rate swaps, to manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest
rates. The Company had established policies and procedures for risk assessment, and the approval, reporting and monitoring of derivative financial instruments. Derivative
financial instruments had to be effective in reducing the Company's interest rate risk exposure in order to qualify for hedge accounting. When the terms of an underlying
transaction were modified, or when the underlying hedged item ceased to exist, all changes in the fair value of the instrument were marked-to-market with changes in value
included in net income for each period until the derivative financial instrument matured or was settled. Any derivative financial instrument used for risk management that did
not meet the hedging criteria was marked-to-market with the changes in value included in net income.

Share-Based Compensation

During 2017, the Company's shareholders approved the 2017 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2017 Plan"), which replaced the Company's 2012 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2012
Plan"). As of the effective date of the 2017 Plan, the Company may not grant any further awards under the 2012 Plan. The 2017 Plan establishes the procedures for the granting
of, among other things, restricted stock awards. On May 1, 2019, the Company's shareholders approved an amendment to the 2017 Plan, which increased the maximum number
of shares of the Company's common stock that may be issued pursuant to the 2017 Plan by 303,000 shares, to a new total of 909,000 shares (see Note 14, Share-Based
Compensation), and the maximum number of shares that may be granted to a participant in any calendar year may not exceed 76,000. All grants issued pursuant to the 2017
Plan generally vest (1) at the end of designated time
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periods for time-based grants, or (2) upon the completion of a designated period of performance for performance-based grants and satisfaction of performance criteria. Time–
based grants are valued according to the market price for the Company's common stock at the date of grant. For performance-based grants, the Company generally engages an
independent appraisal company to determine the value of the shares at the date of grant, taking into account the underlying contingency risks associated with the performance
criteria. The value of all grants are being expensed on a straight-line basis over their respective vesting periods (irrespective of achievement of the market performance-based
grants) adjusted, as applicable, for forfeitures. For restricted share grants subject to graded vesting, the amounts expensed are at least equal to the measured expense of each
vested tranche. Based on the terms of the 2017 Plan, those grants of restricted shares that are contributed to the Rabbi Trusts are classified as treasury stock on the Company's
consolidated balance sheet. The 2017 Plan was terminated in connection with the Merger.

Supplemental Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Information

Years ended December 31,
2023 2022

Supplemental disclosure of cash activities:    
Cash paid for interest $ 7,495,000 $ 14,344,000 

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities:  
Capitalization of interest and financing costs — 1,035,000 
Buildings and improvements included in accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabilities 136,000 1,463,000 
Payoff of mortgages through mortgage assumptions — 157,925,000 

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued guidance which requires disclosure of incremental segment information on both an
annual and interim basis. The guidance will require that the Company continue to disclose existing segment information required by FASB Accounting Standards Codification
Topic 280, as well as significant segment expenses and other segment items that are regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker ("CODM"). The Company will
also be required to disclose the title and position of the CODM and how the CODM uses reported measures of segment profit or loss in assessing segment performance and
deciding how to allocate resources. The guidance will be effective for the Company's fiscal year beginning on January 1, 2024 and interim periods within the Company's fiscal
year beginning on January 1, 2025. The Company is currently in the process of evaluating the guidance, but does not believe it will have a material effect on the Company's
consolidated financial statements.

Other accounting standards that have been recently issued or proposed by the FASB or other standard-setting bodies are not currently applicable to the Company or are
not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Note 3. Real Estate

Investment in unconsolidated joint venture

On May 5, 2021, the Company formed a joint venture with Goldman Sachs Urban Investment Group and Asland Capital Partners (the "Joint Venture") for the
construction of an approximately 258,000 square foot six-story commercial building in Washington, D.C. consisting of approximately 240,000 square feet of office space which
is 100% leased to the Washington, D.C., Department of General Services for its headquarters and approximately 18,000 square feet of street-level retail. On August 5, 2022, the
Joint Venture was sold in connection with the Grocery-Anchored Portfolio Sale. The Company contributed approximately $4.8 million of capital to the Joint Venture through its
tenure.

2022 Acquisition

On June 28, 2022, the Company acquired a 40% minority ownership percentage in the Crossroads II joint venture for $1.0 million. The Company's ownership interest in
Crossroads II was included in the Grocery-Anchored Portfolio Sale that occurred on July 7, 2022.
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Dispositions

Excluding the Grocery-Anchored Portfolio Sale, during 2023 and 2022, the Company sold the properties listed below:

Property Location
Date
Sold

Sales
Price

Gain on Sale/
Impairment

2023      
Carll's Corner outparcel building Bridgeton, NJ 7/11/2023 $ 3,000,000 $ 2,662,000 
      
2022      
Riverview Plaza Philadelphia, PA 5/16/2022 $ 34,000,000 $ (361,000)

Impairments

Impairments of $9.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 also include those related to the Company's then-investment in the unconsolidated joint venture and
the then-note receivable associated with Senator Square. These impairments are included in operating loss in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

Discontinued Operations

On July 7, 2022, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries completed the Grocery-Anchored Portfolio Sale and the East River Park and Senator Square redevelopment
asset sales for total gross proceeds of approximately $879 million, including the assumed debt. The assets sold in these transactions were:

Property Name Location Property Name Location

Academy Plaza Philadelphia, PA New London Mall New London, CT
Bethel Shopping Center Bethel, CT Newport Plaza Newport, PA
Carmans Plaza Massapequa, NY Northside Commons Campbelltown, PA
Christina Crossing Wilmington, DE Norwood Shopping Center Norwood, MA
Colonial Commons Harrisburg, PA Oak Ridge Shopping Center Suffolk, VA
Crossroads II Bartonsville, PA Oakland Mills Columbia, MD
East River Park Washington, DC Palmyra Shopping Center Palmyra, PA
Elmhurst Square Portsmouth, VA Quartermaster Plaza Philadelphia, PA
Fishtown Crossing Philadelphia, PA Senator Square Washington, DC
Franklin Village Plaza Franklin, MA Shoppes at Arts District Hyattsville, MD
General Booth Plaza Virginia Beach, VA Swede Square E. Norriton Township, PA
Girard Plaza Philadelphia, PA The Point Harrisburg, PA
Groton Shopping Center Groton, CT The Shops as Bloomfield Station Bloomfield, NJ
Halifax Plaza Halifax, PA The Shops at Suffolk Downs Revere, MA
Jordan Lane Wethersfield, PA Trexlertown Plaza Trexlertown, PA
Kempsville Crossing Virginia Beach, VA Valley Plaza Hagerstown, MD
Lawndale Plaza Philadelphia, PA Yorktowne Plaza Cockeysville, MD
Meadows Marketplace Hummelstown, PA   

The Grocery-Anchored Portfolio Sale represented a strategic shift and had a material effect on the Company's operations and financial results, and, therefore, the
Company determined that it was deemed a discontinued operation. Accordingly, the portfolio of 33 grocery-anchored shopping centers were classified as held for sale and the
results of their operations were classified as discontinued operations in 2022.
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The following is a summary of income from discontinued operations:

Years ended December 31,
2023 2022

REVENUES     
Rental revenues $ — $ 44,130,000 
Other revenues — 184,000 

Total revenues — 44,314,000 
EXPENSES     

Operating, maintenance and management — 9,557,000 
Real estate and other property-related taxes — 6,749,000 
Corporate general and administrative — 469,000 
Depreciation and amortization — 9,726,000 

Total expenses — 26,501,000 
     

     
OPERATING INCOME — 17,813,000 

     
NON-OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES     

Interest expense, net — (3,511,000)
Total non-operating income and expenses — (3,511,000)

     
INCOME FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS — 14,302,000 
     

Impairment charges — (16,629,000)
Gain on sales — 125,500,000 

     
TOTAL INCOME FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS $ — $ 123,173,000 

Net cash provided by operating activities from discontinued operations was $0.0 million and $25.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
Net cash provided by investing activities from discontinued operations was $0.0 million and $651.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Note 4. Fair Value Measurements

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, rents and other receivables, certain other assets, accounts payable, accrued expenses and other
liabilities, and variable-rate debt approximate their fair value due to their terms and/or short-term nature. The fair value of the Company's investments and liabilities related to
deferred compensation were determined to be Level 1 within the valuation hierarchy, and were based on independent values provided by financial institutions.

The fair value of the Company's fixed rate secured term loans were estimated using available market information and discounted cash flow analyses based on borrowing
rates the Company believes it could obtain with similar terms and maturities. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the fair value of the Company's fixed rate secured term loans,
which were determined to be Level 3 within the valuation hierarchy, was $131.4 million and $131.8 million, respectively, and the carrying value of such loans, was $140.5
million and $131.5 million, respectively.

Nonfinancial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the consolidated financial statements consist of real estate held for sale, which, if applicable, are measured on
a nonrecurring basis, and have been determined to be (1) Level 2 within the valuation hierarchy, where applicable, based on the respective contracts of sale, adjusted for closing
costs and expenses, or (2) Level 3 within the valuation hierarchy, where applicable, based on estimated sales prices, adjusted for closing costs and expenses, determined by
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discounted cash flow analyses, income capitalization analyses or a sales comparison approach if no contracts had been concluded. The discounted cash flow and income
capitalization analyses include all estimated cash inflows and outflows over a specific holding period and, where applicable, any estimated debt premiums. These cash flows
were composed of unobservable inputs which included forecasted rental revenues and expenses based upon existing in-place leases, market conditions and expectations for
growth. Capitalization rates and discount rates utilized in these analyses were based upon observable rates that the Company believed to be within a reasonable range of current
market rates for the respective properties. The sales comparison approach is utilized for certain land values and includes comparable sales that were completed in the selected
market areas. The comparable sales utilized in these analyses were based upon observable per acre rates that the Company believes to be within a reasonable range of current
market rates for the respective properties.

As a result of the Grocery-Anchored Portfolio Sale, the Company has no interest rate swap and deferred compensation assets or liabilities as of December 31, 2023 and
2022.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded impairments of $9.4 million related to Riverview Plaza, located in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, which was
sold that same year, and the Company's then-investment in the unconsolidated joint venture and the then-note receivable associated with Senator Square located in Washington
D.C., both of which assets were sold in the Grocery-Anchored Portfolio Sale. These charges are included in impairment charges in the consolidated statement of operations. The
fair value of the assets was determined to be Level 2. Such assets have an aggregate fair value of $0.0 million as of December 31, 2022.

Note 5. Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents in excess of insured amounts and
tenant receivables. The Company places its cash and cash equivalents with high quality financial institutions. Management performs ongoing credit evaluations of its tenants
and requires certain tenants to provide security deposits and/or suitable guarantees.

Excluding properties included in discontinued operations, there were no tenants that accounted for an aggregate of more than 10% of the Company's total revenues during
2023 and 2022.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, one property constitutes approximately 14.6% of the Company's revenues and five properties constitute approximately 90.4% of
the Company's property operating income in the aggregate.

The Company's properties are located largely in the Northeast, which exposes it to greater economic risks than if the properties it owned were located in a greater number
of geographic regions (in particular, 7 of the Company's properties are located in Pennsylvania).

Note 6. Receivables, net

Receivables, net at December 31, 2023 and 2022 are composed of the following:

December 31,
2023 2022

Rents and other receivables, net $ 1,894,000 $ 2,904,000 
Straight-line rents, net 4,463,000 3,231,000 

$ 6,357,000 $ 6,135,000 

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company's allowance for uncollectible receivables totaled $0.5 million and $2.6 million, respectively.
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Note 7. Deferred Costs and Other Assets, net

Deferred costs and other assets, net, at December 31, 2023 and 2022 are composed of the following:

 December 31,
 2023  2022

Lease origination costs $ 5,501,000 $ 4,747,000 
Right-of-use assets 2,059,000 2,062,000 
Prepaid expenses 1,504,000 1,029,000 
Other 77,000 86,000 
Total other assets and deferred charges, net $ 9,141,000 $ 7,924,000 

Deferred costs are amortized over the terms of the related agreements. Amortization expense related to deferred costs, net of discontinued operations, amounted to $1.0
million and $1.1 million for 2023 and 2022, respectively. The unamortized balances of deferred lease origination costs is net of accumulated amortization of $10.7 million and
$10.6 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Deferred lease origination costs will be charged to future operations as follows:

 

Lease
origination

costs

2024 $ 874,000 
2025 806,000 
2026 747,000 
2027 700,000 
2028 568,000 
Thereafter 1,806,000 
 $ 5,501,000 
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Note 8. Loans Payable, net

Debt is composed of the following at December 31, 2023 and 2022 and collateralized by 13 properties at December 31, 2023 and 12 properties at December 31, 2022:

  December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Description
Maturity

dates
Balance

outstanding

Contractual
interest rates

weighted-average
Balance

outstanding

Contractual
interest rates

weighted-average

Fixed-rate secured term loans:        
Timpany Plaza Sep 2028 $ 9,060,000 7.3% $ — n/a
Term loan, 10 properties Nov 2032 110,000,000 5.3% 110,000,000 5.3%
Patuxent Crossing/Coliseum Marketplace Jan 2033 25,000,000 6.4% 25,000,000 6.4%

 144,060,000 5.6% 135,000,000 5.5%

Unamortized issuance costs  (3,566,000)  (3,538,000)  
  $ 140,494,000  $ 131,462,000  

On July 11, 2022, in connection with the Grocery-Anchored Portfolio Sale, the Company's then-existing unsecured credit facility and term loans were paid off and
terminated, and the then-existing mortgage loans payable were assumed by the Grocery-Anchored Purchasers.

KeyBank Credit Agreement

On August 22, 2022, the Company entered into the KeyBank Credit Agreement for $130.0 million and was collateralized by all of the Company's remaining 19 properties
following the Transactions. As of December 31, 2022, the KeyBank Credit Agreement was repaid with the proceeds from the Term Loan Agreement, 10 properties and
Patuxent Crossing/Coliseum Marketplace Loan Agreement.

Term Loan Agreement, 10 properties

On October 28, 2022, the Company entered into the Term Loan Agreement, 10 properties for $110.0 million at a fixed rate of 5.25% with interest-only payments due
monthly. Wheeler REIT, L.P. provided a limited recourse indemnity in connection with such loan. Commencing on December 10, 2027, until the maturity date of November 10,
2032, monthly principal and interest payments will be made based on a 30-year amortization schedule calculated based on the principal amount as of that time. The Term Loan
Agreement, 10 properties is collateralized by 10 properties, consisting of Brickyard Plaza, Fairview Commons, Gold Star Plaza, Golden Triangle, Hamburg Square, Pine Grove
Plaza, Southington Center, Trexler Mall, Washington Center and Webster Commons, and proceeds were used to paydown the Company's KeyBank Credit Agreement.

Patuxent Crossing/Coliseum Marketplace Loan Agreement

On December 21, 2022, the Company entered into the Patuxent Crossing/Coliseum Marketplace Loan Agreement for $25.0 million at a fixed rate of 6.35% with interest-
only payments due monthly through maturity on January 6, 2033. The Patuxent Crossing/Coliseum Marketplace Loan Agreement is collateralized by 2 properties, consisting of
Patuxent Crossing and Coliseum Marketplace, and proceeds were used to satisfy the remaining obligation of the KeyBank Credit Agreement and released the remaining
collateral under that agreement.

Timpany Plaza Loan Agreement

On September 12, 2023, the Company entered into the Timpany Plaza Loan Agreement for $11.56 million at a fixed rate of 7.27% with interest-only payments due
monthly for the first twelve months. Commencing on September 12, 2024, until the maturity date of September 12, 2028, monthly principal and interest payments will be made
based on a 30-year amortization schedule calculated based on the principal amount as of that time. On the closing date, the Company received $9.06 million of the
$11.56 million, and the remaining $2.5 million will be received upon the satisfaction of certain lease-related contingencies within one year of the agreement date. The Timpany
Plaza Loan Agreement is collateralized by the Timpany Plaza shopping center.
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Scheduled Principal Payments

Scheduled principal payments on secured term loans at December 31, 2023, due on various dates from 2024 to 2033, are as follows:

2024 $ 74,000 
2025 306,000 
2026 329,000 
2027 481,000 
2028 9,456,000 
Thereafter 133,414,000 
 $ 144,060,000 

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company terminated its outstanding interest rate swaps as part of the Grocery-Anchored Portfolio Sale for a $3.4 million benefit, which is included in interest
expense, net on the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022. Charges and/or credits relating to the changes in the fair value of the interest
rate swaps were made to accumulated other comprehensive loss, limited partners' interest, or operations (included in interest expense), as applicable. Over time, the unrealized
gains and losses recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss were reclassified into earnings as an increase or reduction to interest expense in the same periods in which
the hedged interest payments affected earnings.

The following presents the effect of the Company's derivative financial instruments on the consolidated statements of operations and the consolidated statements of equity
for the years ended 2023 and 2022, respectively:

Gain recognized in other 
comprehensive income (loss) 

(effective portion)

Designation/
Cash flow  Derivative

Years ended December 31,
2023 2022

Qualifying Interest rate swaps $ — $ 6,001,000 
      

(Loss) recognized in other 
comprehensive income (loss) 

reclassified into earnings (effective portion)
  Years ended December 31,
 Classification 2023 2022

 Continuing Operations $ — $ (2,320,000)

Note 9. Intangible Lease Asset/Liability

Unamortized intangible lease liabilities that relate to below market leases amounted to $2.7 million and $3.1 million at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
respectively. Unamortized intangible lease assets that relate to above market leases amounted to $0.0 million and $0.1 million at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
respectively.
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The unamortized balance of intangible lease liabilities at December 31, 2023 is net of accumulated amortization of $43.3 million, and will be credited to future operations
as follows:

2024 $ 257,000 
2025 243,000 
2026 243,000 
2027 243,000 
2028 243,000 
Thereafter 1,426,000 
 $ 2,655,000 

Note 10. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is the lessee under several ground lease agreements and its executive office lease agreement. The executive office lease agreement was terminated during
the third quarter of 2022. As of December 31, 2023, the Company's weighted average remaining lease term is approximately 47.8 years and the weighted average discount rate
used to calculate the Company's lease liability is approximately 8.6%. Rent expense under the Company's ground lease and executive office lease agreements was approximately
$0.2 million and $0.3 million for 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The following table represents a reconciliation of the Company's undiscounted future minimum lease payments for its ground lease and executive office lease agreements
applicable to lease liabilities as of December 31, 2023:

2024 $ 179,000 
2025 179,000 
2026 179,000 
2027 179,000 
2028 179,000 
Thereafter 7,673,000 
Total undiscounted future minimum lease payments 8,568,000 
Future minimum lease payments, discount (6,509,000)
Lease liabilities $ 2,059,000 

Insurance

The Company carries comprehensive liability, property, fire, flood, wind, extended coverage, business interruption and rental loss insurance covering all of the properties
in its portfolio under an insurance policy, in addition to other coverages, such as trademark and pollution coverage that may be appropriate for certain of its properties.
Additionally, the Company carries a directors', officers', entity and employment practices liability insurance policy that covers such claims made against the Company and its
directors and officers. The Company believes the policy specifications and insured limits are appropriate and adequate for its properties given the relative risk of loss, the cost of
the coverage and industry practice; however, its insurance coverage may not be sufficient to fully cover losses.

Regulatory and Environmental

As the owner of the buildings on our properties, the Company could face liability for the presence of hazardous materials (e.g., asbestos or lead) or other adverse
conditions (e.g., poor indoor air quality) in its buildings. Environmental laws govern the presence, maintenance, and removal of hazardous materials in buildings, and if the
Company does not comply with such laws, it could face fines for such noncompliance. Also, the Company could be liable to third parties (e.g., occupants of the buildings) for
damages related to exposure to hazardous materials or adverse conditions in its buildings, and the Company could incur material expenses with respect to abatement or
remediation of hazardous materials or other adverse conditions in its buildings. In addition, some of the Company's tenants routinely handle and use hazardous or regulated
substances and wastes as part of their operations at our properties, which are subject to regulation. Such environmental and health and safety laws and regulations could subject
the Company or its tenants to
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liability resulting from these activities. Environmental liabilities could affect a tenant's ability to make rental payments to the Company, and changes in laws could increase the
potential liability for noncompliance. This may result in significant unanticipated expenditures or may otherwise materially and adversely affect the Company's operations. The
Company is not aware of any material contingent liabilities, regulatory matters or environmental matters that may exist.

Litigation

The Company is involved in various legal proceedings in the ordinary course of its business, including, but not limited to commercial disputes. The Company believes
that such litigation, claims and administrative proceedings will not have a material adverse impact on its financial position or its results of operations. The Company records a
liability when it considers the loss probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. In addition, the below legal proceedings are in process:

As described in Note 1, on March 2, 2022, the Company entered into definitive agreements for the Transactions, which provided for the sale of the Company and its assets
in a series of related all-cash transactions. On April 8, 2022, several purported holders of the Company's outstanding preferred stock filed a putative class action complaint
against the Company, the Board of Directors prior to the Merger, and WHLR in Montgomery County Circuit Court, Maryland entitled Sydney, et al. v. Cedar Realty Trust, Inc.,
et al., (Case No. C-15-CV-22-001527).

On May 6, 2022, the Plaintiffs in Sydney filed a motion for a preliminary injunction. Also on May, 6, 2022, a purported holder of the Company's outstanding preferred
stock filed a separate putative class action complaint against the Company and the Board of Directors prior to the Merger in the United States District Court for the District of
Maryland, entitled Kim v. Cedar Realty Trust, Inc., et al., Civil Action No. 22-cv-01103. On May 11, 2022, the Company, the former Board of Directors of the Company and
WHLR removed the Sydney action to the United States District Court for the District of Maryland, Case No. 8:22-cv-01142-GLR. On May 16, 2022, the court ordered that a
hearing on the Sydney Plaintiffs' motion for preliminary injunction be held on June 22, 2022. On June 2, 2022, the Plaintiffs in Kim also filed a motion for a preliminary
injunction. The court consolidated the motions for preliminary injunction.

On June 23, 2022, following a hearing, the court issued an order denying both motions for preliminary injunction, holding that the Plaintiffs in both cases were unlikely to
succeed on the merits and that Plaintiffs had not established that they would suffer irreparable harm if the injunction was denied.

By order dated July 11, 2022, the court consolidated the Sydney and Kim cases and set an August 24, 2022 deadline for the Plaintiffs in both cases to file a consolidated
amended complaint. Plaintiffs filed their amended complaint on August 24, 2022. The amended complaint alleges on behalf of a putative class of holders of the Company's
preferred stock, among other things, claims for breach of contract against the Company and the former Board of Directors with respect to the articles supplementary governing
the terms of the Company's preferred stock, breach of fiduciary duty against the former Board of Directors, and tortious interference and aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary
duty against WHLR. On October 7, 2022, Defendants moved to dismiss the amended complaint. Plaintiffs opposed the motion to dismiss and filed a motion to certify a question
of law to Maryland's Supreme Court. On August 1, 2023, the court issued a decision and order granting Defendants' motions to dismiss, without leave to amend, and denying
Plaintiffs' motion to certify a question of law to the Maryland Supreme Court. The Plaintiffs appealed the dismissal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit,
Case No. 23-1905, docketed on August 30, 2023. The appeal has been fully briefed. At this juncture, the outcome of the litigation remains uncertain.

On July 11, 2022, a purported holder of the Company's outstanding preferred stock filed a complaint against the Company and the Board of Directors prior to the Merger
in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York, entitled High Income Securities Fund v. Cedar Realty Trust, Inc., et al., No. 2:22-cv-4031. The
complaint alleged that the Defendants violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and SEC Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by making false and misleading statements and
omissions, and that the former Board of Directors are control persons under Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. On September 25, 2023, the Court granted Defendants' motion
to dismiss the complaint with prejudice, and the time within which the Plaintiff could have appealed such decision has passed.

On October 14, 2022, a purported holder of the Company's outstanding preferred stock filed a putative class action against the Company, the Board of Directors prior to
the Merger, and WHLR in Nassau County Supreme Court, New York entitled Krasner v. Cedar Realty Trust, Inc., et al., (Case No. 613985/2022). The complaint alleges on
behalf of a putative class of holders of the Company's preferred stock, among other things, claims for breach of contract against the Company and the former Board of Directors
with respect to the articles supplementary governing the terms of the Company's preferred stock, breach of fiduciary duty against the
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former Board of Directors, and tortious interference and aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty against WHLR. The complaint seeks, among other relief, an award of
monetary damages, attorneys' fees, and expert fees. The Defendants filed motions in the Nassau County action to dismiss or stay the case based both on the pendency of the
lawsuit in Maryland in which the same claims were asserted by other preferred stockholders and on the merits. The court held a hearing on the motions on October 27, 2023,
and on December 4, 2023 granted the motions to dismiss based on the pendency of the lawsuit in Maryland without addressing the merits.

Note 11. Shareholders' Equity

Preferred Stock

The Company's 7.25% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock "Series B Preferred Stock" has no stated maturity, is not convertible into any other security of
the Company, and is redeemable, in whole or in part, at the Company's option beginning May 22, 2017 at a price of $25.00 per share plus accrued and unpaid distributions.

The Company's 6.50% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock "Series C Preferred Stock" has no stated maturity, is not convertible into any other security of
the Company, and is redeemable at the Company's option beginning August 24, 2022 at a price of $25.00 per share plus accrued and unpaid distributions.

The Company is authorized to issue up to 12,500,000 shares of preferred stock. The following tables summarize details about the Company's preferred stock:

Series B
Preferred Stock

Series C
Preferred Stock

Par value $ 0.01 $ 0.01 
Liquidation value $ 25.00 $ 25.00 
   
 December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

 
Series B

Preferred Stock
Series C

Preferred Stock
Series B

Preferred Stock
Series C

Preferred Stock

Shares authorized 6,050,000 6,450,000 6,050,000 6,450,000 
Shares issued and outstanding 1,450,000 5,000,000 1,450,000 5,000,000 
Balance $ 34,767,000 $ 124,774,000 $ 34,767,000 $ 124,774,000 

Common Stock

The Company had a Dividend Reinvestment and Direct Stock Purchase Plan ("DRIP") which offered a convenient method for shareholders to invest cash dividends
and/or make optional cash payments to purchase shares of the Company's common stock. Such purchases were at 100% of market value. There were no significant transactions
under the DRIP during 2022. At December 31, 2022, there were no shares authorized under the DRIP since the DRIP was terminated in connection with the Transactions.

Dividends

The following table provides a summary of dividends declared and paid per share:

 Years ended December 31,
 2023 2022

Common stock $ — $ 19.586 
7.25% Series B Preferred Stock $ 1.813 $ 1.813 
6.50% Series C Preferred Stock $ 1.625 $ 1.625 

On August 9, 2022, the Company's Board of Directors declared a special dividend on shares of the Company's outstanding common stock of $19.52 per share, payable to
holders of record of the Company's common stock at the close of business on August 19, 2022.

45



Table of Contents
Cedar Realty Trust, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2023

On August 26, 2022, the Company paid merger consideration of $9.48 per share on shares of the Company's outstanding common stock.

At December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were $1.2 million and $1.2 million, respectively, of accrued preferred stock dividends.

Note 12. Revenues

Rental revenues for 2023 and 2022, respectively, are comprised of the following:

Years ended December 31,
2023 2022

Base rents $ 23,902,000 $ 23,997,000 
Expense recoveries - variable lease revenue 7,705,000 8,001,000 
Percentage rent - variable lease revenue 479,000 531,000 
Straight-line rents 854,000 77,000 
Above (below) market lease amortization, net 336,000 896,000 

33,276,000 33,502,000 
Credit adjustments on operating lease receivables 711,000 (539,000)

Total rental revenues $ 33,987,000 $ 32,963,000 

The Company reviews the collectability of charges under its tenant operating leases on a regular basis, taking into consideration changes in factors such as the tenant's
payment history, the financial condition of the tenant, business conditions in the industry in which the tenant operates and economic conditions in the area where the property is
located. In the event that collectability with respect to any tenant changes, the Company recognizes an adjustment to rental income. The Company's review of collectability of
charges under its operating leases includes any accrued rental revenues related to the straight-line method of reporting rental revenue.

Annual future base rents due to be received under non-cancelable operating leases in effect at December 31, 2023 are approximately as follows:

2024 $ 24,680,000 
2025 24,042,000 
2026 22,237,000 
2027 20,212,000 
2028 15,329,000 
Thereafter 51,420,000 

$ 157,920,000 

Total future minimum rents do not include expense recoveries for real estate taxes and operating costs, or percentage rents based upon tenants' sales volume. Such
amounts do not include amortization of intangible lease liabilities.

Note 13. 401(k) Retirement Plan

The Company had a 401(k) retirement plan (the "Plan"), which permitted all eligible employees to defer a portion of their compensation under the Code. Pursuant to the
provisions of the Plan, the Company could make discretionary contributions on behalf of eligible employees. The Company made contributions to the Plan of $145,000 for
2022. The Plan was terminated as a result of the Company's merger with WHLR.
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Note 14. Share-Based Compensation

The following tables set forth certain share-based compensation information for 2023 and 2022, respectively:

 Years ended December 31,
 2023 2022

Expense relating to share/unit grants $ — $ 1,662,000 
Amounts capitalized — (54,000)

Total charged to operations $ — $ 1,608,000 

At December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no shares available for grants pursuant to the Company's 2017 Stock Incentive Plan since this plan was terminated in
connection with the Merger.

During 2022, there were 7,000 time-based restricted shares issued with a weighted average grant date fair value of $26.31 per share.

The total fair value of shares vested during 2022 was $11.9 million.

Former President and CEO Employment Contract

On June 15, 2018, the Company's then-President and CEO was granted a market performance-based equity award of 227,272 restricted stock units ("RSUs") and 227,272
dividend equivalent rights ("DERs") of the Company. Each RSU represents a contingent right to receive one share of common stock if certain market performance criteria are
achieved. Each DER accrues and will be deemed to be reinvested into the Company's common stock for which payment will only be made for the portion of the market
performance-based equity award that are earned and vest. During the three years ending June 15, 2021 (the "Interim Performance Period"), a maximum of 113,636 shares were
earned. Any portion of the market performance-based equity award that was not earned as of the end of the Interim Performance Period was to be carried forward for calculation
for the five years ending June 15, 2023 (the "Full Performance Period"). The percentage of the market performance-based equity award to be earned was to be determined based
on the Company's annual return on an investment in the Company's common stock ("TSR") over the Interim Performance Period and/or over the Full Performance Period as
follows: if average annual TSR (1) is below 4%, the percentage of grant earned would be 0%, (2) equals 4%, the percentage of grant earned would be 33.3%, (3) equals 6.5%,
the percentage of grant earned would be 66.7%, and (4) equals 10% or above, the percentage of grant earned would be 100%. Linear interpolation was to be applied to
determine the percentage of the market performance-based equity award that is earned where the average annual TSR over the performance period falls between the
percentages set forth above. Based on market performance for the Interim Performance Period, it was determined the Company's then-President and CEO earned 113,636
shares. Accordingly, on July 20, 2021, the Company issued 113,636 common shares to the then-President and CEO and paid him $0.3 million for the related DERs.

On August 22, 2022, due to a change in control of the Company in connection with the Transactions, the RSUs fully vested. On August 26, 2022, the Company's then-
President and CEO received an aggregate cash payment of $3.3 million, representing the aggregate per share merger consideration and per share special dividend amount
attributable to the vested RSUs, along with $0.5 million for the related DERs.

Note 15. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share ("EPS") is calculated by dividing net income (loss) attributable to the Company's common shareholders by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding for the period including participating securities (restricted shares that have non-forfeitable rights to receive dividends issued pursuant to the
Company's share-based compensation program are considered participating securities). Unvested restricted shares that are participating securities are not allocated net losses
and/or any excess of dividends declared over net income, as such amounts are allocated entirely to the common shareholders. For 2023 and 2022, the
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Company had 0.0 million and 0.2 million, respectively, of weighted average unvested restricted shares outstanding. The following table provides a reconciliation of the
numerator and denominator of the EPS calculations for 2023 and 2022, respectively:

 Years ended December 31,
 2023 2022

Numerator     
Net income (loss) from continuing operations $ 2,007,000 $ (79,010,000)
Preferred stock dividends (10,752,000) (10,752,000)
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests — 355,000 
Net earnings allocated to unvested shares — 58,000 
Loss from continuing operations, net of noncontrolling interest, attributable to vested common shares (8,745,000) (89,349,000)
Income from discontinued operations, net of noncontrolling interests, attributable to vested common shares — 122,686,000 
Net (loss) income attributable to vested common shares $ (8,745,000) $ 33,337,000 

Denominator     
Weighted average number of vested common shares outstanding, basic and diluted 13,718,000 13,448,000 

Net (loss) income per common share attributable to common shareholders (basic and diluted):     
Continuing operations $ (0.64) $ (6.64)
Discontinued operations — 9.12 
 $ (0.64) $ 2.48 

Fully-diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into shares of common
stock. For 2023, there were no market performance-based equity awards issued or outstanding. For 2022, no RSUs would have been issuable under the Company's then-
President and CEO's market performance-based equity award (see Note 14, Share-Based Compensation) had the measurement period ended on December 31, 2022, and
therefore, this market performance-based equity award had no impact in calculating diluted EPS for this period. Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests of the Operating
Partnership has been excluded from the numerator and the related OP Units have been excluded from the denominator for the purpose of calculating diluted EPS as there would
have been no dilutive effect had such amounts been included. The weighted average number of OP Units outstanding was 0 and 44,000 for 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Note 16. Related Party Transactions

With the completion of the Company's merger with WHLR, the Company became a subsidiary of WHLR. WHLR performs property management and leasing services for
the Company pursuant to the Wheeler Real Estate Company Management Agreement. The management fee is 4% of gross operating income, and leasing commissions range
from 3% to 6%. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company paid WHLR $2.1 million and $1.0 million, respectively, for these services. The Operating
Partnership and WHLR's operating partnership, Wheeler REIT, L.P., are party to the Cost Sharing Agreement. The related party amounts due to WHLR at December 31, 2023
and 2022 are comprised of:

December 31,
2023 2022

Financings and real estate taxes $ 7,166,000 $ 7,166,000 
Management fees 225,000 110,000 
Leasing commissions 161,000 85,000 
Cost Sharing Agreement allocations (a) 548,000 — 
Other (6,000) (33,000)
Total $ 8,094,000 $ 7,328,000 
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(a) Includes allocations for executive compensation and directors' liability insurance. In 2022, WHLR did not make any allocations to the Company for these services
due to certain limitations set forth in the Cost Sharing Agreement.

Note 17. Subsequent Events

On January 23, 2024, the Company's Board of Directors declared a dividend of $0.453125 and $0.406250 per share with respect to the Company's Series B Preferred
Stock and Series C Preferred Stock, respectively. The dividends were paid on February 20, 2024 to shareholders of record on February 9, 2024.

On February 29, 2024, the Company entered into a revolving credit agreement with KeyBank National Association to draw up to $9.5 million (the "Revolving Credit
Agreement"). The interest rate under the Revolving Credit Agreement is the daily SOFR, plus applicable margins of 0.10% plus 2.75%. Interest payments are due monthly, and
principal is due at maturity on February 28, 2025. The Revolving Credit Agreement may be extended, at the Company's option, for up to two additional three-month periods,
subject to customary conditions. The Revolving Credit Agreement is collateralized by 6 properties, consisting of Carll's Corner, Fieldstone Marketplace, Oakland Commons,
Kings Plaza, Oregon Avenue and South Philadelphia, and proceeds will be used for capital expenditures and tenant improvements for such properties.

49



Table of Contents

Cedar Realty Trust, Inc.
Schedule II
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Balance at Charged to Deductions Balance at
beginning costs and from end

Description of year expense reserves of year
Allowance for doubtful accounts:

Year ended December 31, 2023 $ 2,565,000 $ (711,000) $ (1,385,000) $ 469,000 
Year ended December 31, 2022 $ 4,971,000 $ 539,000 $ (2,945,000) $ 2,565,000 
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Property Encumbrances

Gross
leasable

area

Initial cost to the Company Subsequent
cost

capitalized (c)Land
Building and

Improvements
Brickyard Plaza (a) 227,598 $ 7,632,000 $ 29,308,000 $ (812,000)
Carll's Corner 116,532 3,034,000 15,293,000 (12,541,000)
Coliseum Marketplace (b) 106,648 2,924,000 14,416,000 (2,936,000)
Fairview Commons (a) 50,119 858,000 3,568,000 462,000 
Fieldstone Marketplace 193,970 5,229,000 21,440,000 (3,206,000)
Gold Star Plaza (a) 71,720 1,644,000 6,519,000 (115,000)
Golden Triangle (a) 202,790 2,320,000 9,713,000 12,162,000 
Hamburg Square (a) 102,058 1,153,000 4,678,000 6,571,000 
Kings Plaza 168,243 2,413,000 12,604,000 2,611,000 
Oakland Commons 90,100 2,504,000 15,662,000 (4,668,000)
Oregon Avenue — 2,247,000 18,616,000 (16,969,000)
Patuxent Crossing (b) 264,068 14,849,000 18,445,000 1,916,000 
Pine Grove Plaza (a) 79,306 2,010,000 6,489,000 652,000 
South Philadelphia 221,511 8,222,000 36,314,000 (8,670,000)
Southington Center (a) 155,842 — 11,834,000 1,464,000 
Timpany Plaza $9,060,000 182,799 3,412,000 19,240,000 (3,801,000)
Trexler Mall (a) 342,541 6,932,000 32,815,000 13,705,000 
Washington Centers Shoppes (a) 157,300 2,061,000 7,314,000 7,617,000 
Webster Commons (a) 98,984 3,551,000 18,412,000 (1,518,000)
Other n/a — 1,965,000 — (1,399,000)

Total Portfolio  2,832,129 $ 74,960,000 $ 302,680,000 $ (9,475,000)

 Gross amount at which carried at
December 31, 2023

Accumulated
depreciation

Year built/
Year last
renovated

Year 
acquired

Depreciation 
life

(continued)

Property Land
Building and

improvements Total
Brickyard Plaza $ 7,648,000 $ 28,480,000 $ 36,128,000 $ 14,894,000 1990/2012 2004 3 - 40 years
Carll's Corner 220,000 5,566,000 5,786,000 4,756,000 1960s-1999 2007 3 - 40 years
Coliseum Marketplace 3,586,000 10,818,000 14,404,000 7,182,000 1987/2012 2005 3 - 40 years
Fairview Commons 858,000 4,030,000 4,888,000 1,964,000 1976/2003 2007 3 - 40 years
Fieldstone Marketplace 5,167,000 18,296,000 23,463,000 12,593,000 1988/2003 2005/2012 3 - 40 years
Gold Star Plaza 1,644,000 6,404,000 8,048,000 3,018,000 1988 2006 3 - 40 years
Golden Triangle 2,320,000 21,875,000 24,195,000 12,063,000 1960/2005 2003 3 - 40 years
Hamburg Square 1,153,000 11,249,000 12,402,000 5,263,000 1993/2010 2004 3 - 40 years
Kings Plaza 2,408,000 15,220,000 17,628,000 5,970,000 1970/1994 2007 3 - 40 years
Oakland Commons 2,504,000 10,994,000 13,498,000 6,654,000 1962/2013 2007 3 - 40 years
Oregon Avenue 2,141,000 1,753,000 3,894,000 177,000 2011 2016 3 - 40 years
Patuxent Crossing 13,211,000 21,999,000 35,210,000 11,563,000 1985-1997 2009 3 - 40 years
Pine Grove Plaza 1,622,000 7,529,000 9,151,000 4,062,000 2001/2002 2003 3 - 40 years
South Philadelphia 8,222,000 27,644,000 35,866,000 22,627,000 1950/2003 2003 3 - 40 years
Southington Center — 13,298,000 13,298,000 6,591,000 1972/2000 2003 3 - 40 years
Timpany Plaza 3,368,000 15,483,000 18,851,000 8,349,000 1970's-1989 2007 3 - 40 years
Trexler Mall 6,932,000 46,520,000 53,452,000 21,946,000 1973/2013 2005 3 - 40 years
Washington Centers Shoppes 2,000,000 14,992,000 16,992,000 7,719,000 1979/1995 2001 3 - 40 years
Webster Commons 4,081,000 16,364,000 20,445,000 8,892,000 1960's-2004 2007 3 - 40 years
Other — 566,000 566,000 206,000 n/a n/a n/a

 Total Portfolio $ 69,085,000 $ 299,080,000 $ 368,165,000 $ 166,489,000 
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The changes in real estate and accumulated depreciation for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, are as follows:

Cost 2023 2022
Balance, beginning of the year $ 364,110,000 $ 369,827,000 
Properties transferred to/from held for sale — (11,495,000)
Disposals (2,401,000) — 
Property impairments — (16,629,000)
Improvements and betterments 6,456,000 22,407,000 

Balance, end of the year $ 368,165,000 (d) $ 364,110,000 

     
Accumulated depreciation     

Balance, beginning of the year $ 157,468,000 $ 155,250,000 
Properties transferred to/from held for sale — (15,339,000)
Disposals (945,000) — 
Depreciation expense (e) 9,966,000 17,557,000 

Balance, end of the year $ 166,489,000 $ 157,468,000 

     
Net book value $ 201,676,000 $ 206,642,000 

(a) Properties secure the Term Loan Agreement, 10 properties.
(b) Properties secure the Patuxent Crossing/Coliseum Marketplace Loan Agreement.
(c) Negative amounts represent write-offs of fully depreciated assets and impairments.
(d) At December 31, 2023, the aggregate cost for federal income tax purposes was approximately $86.3 million greater than the Company's recorded values.
(e) Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the buildings and improvements, which range from 3 to 40 years.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure: None

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures in ensuring that the information required to be disclosed in our filings under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, including ensuring that such information is accumulated and communicated
to our management, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Based on such evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial
officer have concluded that, as of December 31, 2023, such disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be
disclosed by us in our filings under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the
SEC's rules and forms and to provide reasonable assurance that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive
officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting, as defined in
rules promulgated under the Exchange Act, is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our CEO and CFO and effected by our Board of Directors, management and
other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with GAAP. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

• pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets;
• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and that our receipts

and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and our Board of Directors; and
• provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on

our financial statements.

Our internal control over financial reporting is evaluated on a regular basis by personnel in our organization. The overall goals of these various evaluation activities are to
monitor our internal control over financial reporting and to make modifications as necessary, as disclosure and internal controls are intended to be dynamic systems that change
(including improvements and corrections) as conditions warrant.     

Management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, utilizing the framework
established in "INTERNAL CONTROL-INTEGRATED FRAMEWORK" issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013). Based
on this assessment, management has determined that our internal controls over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 were effective.

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only
reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

This Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal controls over financial reporting.
Management's report was not subject to attestation by our independent registered public accounting firm in accordance with SEC rules.
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Item 9B. Other Information:

During the three months ended December 31, 2023, none of our officers or directors adopted or terminated any contract, instruction or written plan for the purchase or
sale of our securities that was intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) or any "non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement," as defined in Item 408 of
Regulation S-K.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections: Not applicable

Part III.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The affairs of the Company are managed by the Board of Directors. Directors are elected annually by the Company's sole holder of its common stock, and serve until a
successor has been elected or approved.

Code of Ethics and Governance Principles

The Company is operating under WHLR's Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and Corporate Governance Principles, each of which are available on our website, all
under separate headings as allowed by the NYSE Governance Requirements. The Company will post any amendments to or waivers from its Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics (to the extent applicable to the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer) on its website. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is available at
ir.whlr.us under "Governance - Governance Documents."

The Company is relying on the general exemption to the requirement to have an audit committee provided in Rule 10A-3. WHLR satisfies the requirements of Rule 10A-3
with respect to its common stock listed on NASDAQ. The Company is 100% beneficially owned by WHLR. The Company has listed on the NYSE only non-convertible, non-
participating preferred securities.

Members of the Board of Directors

As of December 31, 2023, the members of the Board of Directors are identified below:

Directors
Kerry G. Campbell
Paula J. Poskon
E.J. Borrack
M. Andrew Franklin
Crystal Plum

Kerry G. Campbell
Chairman of the Board of Directors; Independent Director
Age — 58
Director since 2022

Mr. Campbell was appointed to the Board of Directors in August 2022 and serves as its Chair. Ms. Campbell also serves on the Board of Directors of WHLR. Mr.
Campbell is the principal of a financial litigation and investment management consulting firm, Kerry Campbell LLC, where since February 2014, he has served as a financial
expert witness for arbitrations and litigations and provided consulting services to financial institutions and investors. His firm has been retained by institutional investors, high
net worth investors and large global diversified financial institution.

Mr. Campbell received an M.B.A in Finance from the University of Chicago Booth Graduate School of Business and a Bachelor of Science in Finance summa cum laude
from Fordham University Gabelli School of Business. Mr. Campbell is an Approved FINRA Dispute Resolution Arbitrator, a Chartered Financial Analyst®, a CERTIFIED
FINANCIAL PLANNER™, an Accredited Investment Fiduciary Analyst™ and a Securities Experts Roundtable Member.

Mr. Campbell has been chosen as a director based on his 30 plus years of extensive and diverse financial industry experience, together with his experience as a financial
expert witness on behalf of defendants and plaintiffs in arbitrations and litigations.
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E.J. Borrack
Independent Director
Age — 59
Director since 2022

E.J. Borrack was appointed to the Board of Directors in August 2022. Ms. Borrack also serves on the Board of Directors of WHLR. Since 2013, she has been the General
Counsel of The Stilwell Group, a group of private investment partnerships with a focus on activist investing in financially-related, small-cap companies. Previously, she was the
Chief Compliance Officer of two SEC registered investment advisers. She was also the General Counsel of Wealthfront during that company's start-up phase. Prior to that, Ms.
Borrack worked on complex commercial litigation matters as an associate at law firms in New York City and Philadelphia.

Ms. Borrack graduated from the University of Pennsylvania Law School and has a B.A. in English from the University of Pennsylvania.

Ms. Borrack has been chosen as a director based on her breadth of experience working on issues involving complex commercial litigation, regulatory compliance,
securities regulation, and corporate governance.

Paula J. Poskon
Independent Director
Age — 59
Director since 2022

Ms. Poskon was appointed to the Board of Directors in August 2022. Ms. Poskon is the President of STOV Advisory Services LLC ("STOV"), which offers professional
consulting and advisory services to company executives and institutional investors in the areas of real estate, capital markets, investor relations, and diversity and inclusion. She
founded STOV in July 2016. For the past 15 years of her two decades of capital markets experience, Ms. Poskon specialized in real estate investment trusts.

Ms. Poskon graduated from the Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania with a Bachelor of Science in Economics with a concentration in Accounting and a
Master of Business Administration in Finance with a concentration in Strategic Management and considerable coursework in real estate finance.

Ms. Poskon has been chosen as a director based on her more than 20 years of capital markets experience in equity research and investment banking, the majority of which
was focused on public REITs.

M. Andrew Franklin and Crystal Plum

Mr. Franklin and Ms. Plum are also officers of the Company, and their biographies are included below. Mr. Franklin has been chosen as a director based on his extensive
experience in the real estate industry and knowledge of WHLR, the Company’s parent. Ms. Plum has been chosen as a director based on her experience with corporate
accounting and financial matters and her knowledge of WHLR.

Executive Officers

M. Andrew Franklin
Director, Chief Executive Officer and President since August 2022
Age — 43

Andrew Franklin was appointed as Chief Executive Officer and President and Director in August 2022, in connection with consummation of the Company's merger with
WHLR. He was also appointed as Chief Executive Officer and President of WHLR in 2021 and previously served as their Interim Chief Executive Officer since July 2021,
Chief Operating Officer since February 2018, and Senior Vice President of Operations since January 2017. Mr. Franklin has over 23 years of commercial real estate experience.
Mr. Franklin is a graduate of the University of Maryland, with a Bachelor of Science degree in Finance.

Crystal Plum
Director, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer since August 2022
Age — 42

Crystal Plum was appointed as Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Director in August 2022, in connection with consummation of the Company's merger with WHLR.
She previously served as Corporate Secretary of the Company until November 2023. Ms. Plum was also appointed as Chief Financial Officer of WHLR in February 2020 and
previously served as their Vice
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President of Financial Reporting and Corporate Accounting from March 2018 to February 2020 and as their Director of Financial Reporting from September 2016 to March
2018. Prior to that time, she served as Manager at Dixon Hughes Goodman LLP from September 2014 to August 2016 and as Supervisor at Dixon Hughes Goodman LLP from
2008 to September 2014. Ms. Plum has experience reviewing and performing audits, reviews, compilations and tax engagements for a diverse group of clients, as well as
banking experience. Ms. Plum is a Certified Public Accountant and has a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration — Accounting and Finance from Old Dominion
University.

Director Compensation

Directors who are employees or officers of our Company do not receive any compensation for their services. For fiscal year 2023, non-employee and non-officer directors
were entitled to annual cash compensation in the amount of $50,000 for their services as directors, with an additional annual cash retainer of $40,000 for service as Chair, to be
paid quarterly.

We reimburse each of our directors for his or her expenses incurred in connection with attendance at Board of Directors and committee meetings.

The following table summarizes our directors' compensation for 2023:

Name

Fees Earned
or Paid

in Cash ($)
Stock Awards

($) (1)
All Other

Compensation ($) Total ($)
Kerry G. Campbell 90,000 — — 90,000 
Paula J. Poskon 50,000 — — 50,000 
E.J. Borrack 50,000 — — 50,000 
M. Andrew Franklin — — — — 
Crystal Plum — — — — 

(1) As of December 31, 2023, none of the directors held any equity awards on account of their service on the Board of Directors.

Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires the Company's directors, executive officers, and beneficial owners of more than 10% of our common stock to file reports with
the SEC indicating their holdings of, and transactions in, the Company's equity securities. Based solely on a review of copies of these reports, we believe that all of our
executive officers, directors, and 10% owners timely complied with all Section 16(a) filing requirements for fiscal 2023.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Compensation Tables

Summary Compensation Table

The table below summarizes the total compensation for the fiscal years indicated paid or awarded to each of our named executive officers, calculated in accordance with
SEC rules and regulations:

Name
Fiscal
Year

Salary (1)
($)

Bonus (2)
($)

Stock
Awards (3)

($)

All Other
Compensation

($)
Total

($)
M. Andrew Franklin (4) 2023 159,000 70,000 — — 229,000 

Chief Executive Officer 2022 — — — — — 
and President

Crystal Plum (4) 2023 99,000 44,000 — — 143,000 
Chief Financial 2022 — — — — — 
Officer

(1) Amounts shown for Mr. Franklin and Ms. Plum are salary allocations made from WHLR to the Company in accordance with the Cost Sharing Agreement.
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(2) Amounts shown for Mr. Franklin and Ms. Plum are bonus allocations made from WHLR to the Company in accordance with the Cost Sharing Agreement.
(3) This column represents the grant date fair value of stock awards granted under the Company's Stock Incentive Plans. The number of shares granted is calculated in accordance with

Financial Accounting Standards Board, Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718 ("FASB ASC Topic 718"), not including any estimates of forfeitures related to service-based
vesting conditions.

(4) Each of Mr. Franklin and Ms. Plum were appointed to each of their positions with the Company in August 2022 upon the closing of the Merger. Mr. Franklin and Ms. Plum are
compensated by WHLR and the Company did not reimburse WHLR for any related compensation costs in 2022.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards for Year Ended December 31, 2023

There were no grants of plan-based awards for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2023

There were no outstanding equity awards at December 31, 2023.

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control

Mr. Franklin and Ms. Plum

As of December 31, 2023, Mr. Franklin's employment agreement with WHLR provides for benefits upon a change in control of WHLR, which is the parent of the
Company. In the event that Mr. Franklin terminates his employment with "Good Reason" following a "Change in Control" or is terminated by WHLR without "Cause" (as such
terms are defined in his employment agreement) and such termination occurred within six months of a change in control, Mr. Franklin would generally be entitled to a lump sum
payment equal to 2.99 times his annual base salary ($400,000), less mandatory deductions, payable within ninety calendar days of the termination (and, in the case of such a
termination without Cause, a bonus amount based on any bonus determined by WHLR's Board of Directors and payable to other executives of WHLR during the twelve months
after the change in control). In addition, Mr. Franklin would be entitled to health care coverage pursuant to COBRA at Mr. Franklin's expense for up to eighteen months.

As of December 31, 2023, Ms. Plum was not party to any arrangements with the Company or WHLR that provide for benefits payable upon a termination of employment
or change in control.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Based upon our records and the information reported in filings with the SEC, the following were beneficial owners of more than 5% of our shares of Common Stock as of
December 31, 2023:

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner
Number of Shares

Beneficially Owned
Percentage of Class

Beneficially Owned (1)
Wheeler Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc.

2529 Virginia Beach Boulevard
Virginia Beach, VA 23452

13,718,169 100.0 %

(1) Based upon 13,718,169 shares of Common Stock outstanding on December 31, 2023. All beneficial ownership identified on this table is held by the beneficial owner with sole voting
power and sole investment power.
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Name of
NEO or
Director

Number of
Series B Shares

Beneficially Owned

Percentage of
Series B Shares

Beneficially Owned

Number of
Series C Shares

Beneficially Owned

Percentage of
Series C Shares

Beneficially Owned
Kerry G. Campbell — * — *
Paula J. Poskon — * — *
E.J. Borrack — * — *
M. Andrew Franklin 2,890 * 1,900 *
Crystal Plum — * — *
Directors and Executive Officers as a
Group 2,890 * 1,900 *

* Less than 1%

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

Related Party Policies and Related Party Transactions

WHLR's Code of Business Conduct and Ethics requires that our directors and officers deal with the Company on an arms-length basis in any related party transaction. All
transactions between us and any of our directors, named executive officers or other vice presidents, or between us and any entity in which any of our directors, named executive
officers or other vice presidents is an officer or director or has an ownership interest, must be pre-approved by the Board of Directors.

With the completion of the Company's merger with WHLR, the Company became a subsidiary of WHLR. WHLR performs property management and leasing services for
the Company pursuant to the Wheeler Real Estate Company Management Agreement. The management fee is 4% of gross operating income, and leasing commissions range
from 3% to 6%. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company paid WHLR $2.1 million and $1.0 million, respectively, for these services. The Operating
Partnership and WHLR's operating partnership, Wheeler REIT, L.P., are party to the Cost Sharing Agreement. The related party amounts due to WHLR at December 31, 2023
and 2022 are comprised of:

December 31,
2023 2022

Financings and real estate taxes $ 7,166,000 $ 7,166,000 
Management fees 225,000 110,000 
Leasing commissions 161,000 85,000 
Cost Sharing Agreement allocations (a) 548,000 — 
Other (6,000) (33,000)
Total $ 8,094,000 $ 7,328,000 

(a) Includes allocations for executive compensation and directors' liability insurance. In 2022, WHLR did not make any allocations to the Company for these services due to
certain limitations set forth in the Cost Sharing Agreement.

Determinations of Director Independence

The Board of Directors currently consists of five members. The Chair of the Board of Directors is Kerry G. Campbell. The Board of Directors reviews the independence
of each director yearly. During this review, the Board of Directors considers whether there are any transactions and relationships between any director (and his or her immediate
family and affiliates) and the Company and its management that are inconsistent with a determination that the director is independent in light of applicable law and listing
standards. The Company believes that under the applicable rules and regulations of the New York Stock Exchange, Mr. Campbell, Ms. Poskon, and Ms. Borrack are
independent. Mr. Franklin and Ms. Plum are not independent because they are officers of the Company.
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Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The Company's independent registered public accounting firm was Cherry Bekaert LLP in 2023 and Ernst & Young LLP and Cherry Bekaert LLP in 2022. The following
table summarizes fees paid to our independent registered public accounting firms for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Type of Fee 2023 2022
Audit Fees (1) $ 297,000 $ 282,000 
Audit Related Fees — — 
Tax Fees (2) — 183,000 
All Other Fees — — 
Total $ 297,000 $ 465,000 

(1) Audit fees were incurred for professional services in connection with the audit of our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, for internal
control over financial reporting for the year ended December 31, 2022, reviews of our interim consolidated financial statements which are included in each of our quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, and certain accounting consultations.

(2) Tax fees for 2022 include tax compliance and preparation, and tax consulting services related to tax planning.

Prior to the completion of the Merger on August 22, 2022, Cedar's then-Audit Committee reviewed and approved the fees of the Company's independent registered public
accounting firm in accordance with its policies and procedures. Following the completion of the Merger, the Audit Committee was disbanded and WHLR's Audit Committee
serves as the Company's audit committee, which reviewed and approved all of the 2022 and 2023 fees of the Company's independent registered public accounting firm in
accordance with its policies and procedures.
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Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) 1. Financial Statements

The response to this portion of Item 15 is included in Item 8 of this report.

2. Financial Statement Schedules

The response to this portion of Item 15 is included in Item 8 of this report.

3. Exhibits

Incorporated by Reference
Item Title or Description Form Filing Date
  
2.1.a Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 2, 2022, by and among Cedar Realty Trust, Inc.,

DRA Fund X-B LLC, and KPR Centers LLC
Current Report on Form 8-
K March 3, 2022

  
2.1.b First Amendment to Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2022, by and

among the Seller Parties signature thereto, Cedar Realty Trust, Inc., DRA Fund X-B LLC and
KPR Centers LLC.

Annual Report on Form 10-
K March 2, 2023

  
2.1.c Second Amendment to Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of April 29, 2022, by and

among the Seller Parties signature thereto, Cedar Realty Trust, Inc., DRA Fund X-B LLC and
KPR Centers LLC.

Annual Report on Form 10-
K March 2, 2023

  
2.1.d Third Amendment to Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of July 7, 2022, by and

among the Seller Parties signature thereto, Cedar Realty Trust, Inc., DRA Fund X-B LLC and
KPR Centers LLC.

Annual Report on Form 10-
K March 2, 2023

  
2.2.a Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of March 2, 2022, by and among Wheeler Real Estate

Investment Trust, Inc., Wheeler Merger Sub, Inc., WHLR OP Merger Sub LLC, Cedar Realty
Trust, Inc., and Cedar Realty Trust Partnership, L.P. Current Report on Form 8-K March 3, 2022

  
2.2.b First Amendment to Merger Agreement, dated as of April 19, 2022, by and among Wheeler

Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc., Wheeler Merger Sub, Inc., WHLR OP Merger Sub LLC,
Cedar Realty Trust, Inc., and Cedar Realty Trust Partnership, L.P.

Proxy Statement on
Schedule 14A April 21, 2022

  
2.2.c Second Amendment to Merger Agreement, entered into as of August 9, 2022, by and among

Wheeler Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc., WHLR Merger Sub, Inc., WHLR OP Merger Sub
LLC, Cedar Realty Trust, Inc., and Cedar Realty Trust Partnership, L.P. Current Report on Form 8-K August 12, 2022

  
3.1.a

Articles of Incorporation of Cedar Realty Trust, Inc.
Annual Report on Form 10-
K February 25, 2014

  
3.1.b

Articles Supplementary to Articles of Incorporation of Cedar Realty Trust, Inc.
Registration Statement on
Form 8-A August 18, 2017

  
3.1.c Articles Supplementary to Articles of Incorporation of Cedar Realty Trust, Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K August 22, 2017
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000119312522064518/d239117dex21.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000095017023005812/cdr-ex2_1b.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000095017023005812/cdr-ex2_1c.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000095017023005812/cdr-ex2_1d.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000119312522064518/d239117dex22.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000119312522113224/d328333ddefm14a.htm#toc328333_78a
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000119312522113224/d328333ddefm14a.htm#toc328333_78a
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000119312522219336/d394041dex21.htm
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000119312517262301/d445825dex32.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000119312517263847/d639592dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000119312517263847/d639592dex31.htm
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Incorporated by Reference
Item Title or Description Form Filing Date
3.1.d

Articles Supplementary to Articles of Incorporation of Cedar Realty Trust, Inc.
Current Report on Form
8-K December 15, 2017

  
3.1.e

Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation of Cedar Realty Trust, Inc.
Current Report on Form
8-K May 7, 2018

  
3.1.f

Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation of Cedar Realty Trust, Inc.
Current Report on Form
8-K November 27, 2020

3.1.g
Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation of Cedar Realty Trust, Inc.

Current Report on Form
8-K November 27, 2020

3.2
Amended and Restated By-laws of Cedar Realty Trust, Inc.

Current Report on Form
8-K November 2, 2020

4.1† Description of the Registrant's Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934.

10.1 Loan Agreement, dated as of August 22, 2022, by and between Cedar Realty Trust Partnership,
L.P., as Borrower, KeyBank National Association as Administrative Agent, KeyBanc Capital
Markets as Lead Arranger and Bookrunner, and the Lenders party thereto.

Current Report on Form
8-K August 25, 2022

10.2
Guaranty, dated August 22, 2022, made by Cedar Realty Trust, Inc.

Current Report on Form
8-K August 25, 2022

10.3 Environmental Compliance and Indemnity Agreement, dated as of August 22, 2022, made by
Wheeler Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc., Cedar Realty Trust, Inc., Cedar Realty Trust
Partnership, L.P., and certain subsidiaries of Cedar Realty Trust Partnership, L.P.

Current Report on Form
8-K August 25, 2022

10.4 Term Loan Agreement dated October 28, 2022, between Guggenheim Real Estate LLC and the
Borrowers party thereto.

Current Report on Form
8-K October 31, 2022

10.5 Loan Agreement dated December 21, 2022, between Citi Real Estate Funding Inc and the
Borrowers party thereto.

Current Report on Form
8-K December 22, 2022

14.1† WHLR Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

21.1† List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant

31.1† Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer

31.2† Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer

32.1† Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000119312517369808/d482937dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000119312518154670/d583331dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000119312518154670/d583331dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000156459020055515/cdr-ex31_26.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000156459020055515/cdr-ex31_26.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000156459020055515/cdr-ex32_25.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000156459020055515/cdr-ex32_25.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000119312520284002/d26624dex32.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000119312520284002/d26624dex32.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000121390022051139/ea164925ex10-1_cedarrealty.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000121390022051139/ea164925ex10-1_cedarrealty.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000121390022051139/ea164925ex10-2_cedarrealty.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000121390022051139/ea164925ex10-2_cedarrealty.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000121390022051139/ea164925ex10-3_cedarrealty.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000121390022051139/ea164925ex10-3_cedarrealty.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000121390022067391/ea167759ex10-1_cedarrealty.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000121390022067391/ea167759ex10-1_cedarrealty.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000095017022026953/cdr-ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/761648/000095017022026953/cdr-ex10_1.htm
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Incorporated by Reference
Item Title or Description Form Filing Date

32.2† Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Officer

97.1† Cedar Realty Trust, Inc. Incentive Compensation Clawback Policy

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data
File because iXBRLtags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.
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* Pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K, certain exhibits have been omitted. The registrant hereby agrees to furnish a copy of any omitted exhibit to the SEC upon request
by the SEC.

(b) Exhibits

The response to this portion of Item 15 is included in Item 15(a)(3) above.

(c) The following financial statement schedules are filed as part of the report:

The response to this portion of Item 15 is included in Item 15(a)(2) above.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary: None
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/s/ M. ANDREW FRANKLIN /s/ CRYSTAL PLUM
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M. Andrew Franklin Crystal Plum
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Kerry G. Campbell E.J. Borrack
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/s/ PAULA J. POSKON
Paula J. Poskon
Director

March 5, 2024
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Exhibit 4.1

Description of the Registrant’s Securities
Registered Pursuant to Section 12

of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

The following description of the terms of our securities is only a summary. For a complete description, we refer you to our articles of incorporation and amended and
restated by-laws, which are filed as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to the applicable provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law (the “MGCL”).
As used in this exhibit, and except where the context otherwise requires, “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to Cedar Realty Trust, Inc.

Securities Registered Under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

We have two classes of stock registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (including the rules and regulations thereunder, the “Exchange Act”):
(1) our 7-1/4% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, $25.00 Liquidation Value (the “Series B Preferred Stock”) and (2) our 6-1/2% Series C Cumulative
Redeemable Preferred Stock, $25.00 Liquidation Value (the “Series C Preferred Stock”, and together with the Series B Preferred Stock, the “Preferred Stock”).

Description of the Series B Preferred Stock

Ranking

The Series B Preferred Stock, with respect to distribution rights and rights upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up, ranks:

(i) senior to our authorized common stock, which consists of 150 million shares of common stock with a par value of $.06 per share (the “Common Stock”), and all other
classes or series of our equity securities we may issue in the future the terms of which specifically provide that such equity securities will rank junior to the Series B Preferred
Stock;

(ii) on a parity with the Series C Preferred Stock and all other classes or series of our equity securities we may issue the terms of which specifically provide that such equity
securities rank on a parity with the Series B Preferred Stock; and

(iii) junior to all classes or series of equity securities we may issue the terms of which specifically provide that such equity securities rank senior to the Series B Preferred
Stock.

The term “equity securities” does not include any convertible debt securities we may issue in the future.

Distributions

Holders of the Series B Preferred Stock are entitled to receive, when and as authorized by our board of directors, out of funds legally available for the payment of
distributions, cumulative cash distributions at the rate of 7.25% of the liquidation preference per annum. Distributions on the Series B Preferred Stock accrue and are cumulative
from (but excluding) the date of original issue and are payable quarterly in arrears on the 20th day of each February, May, August and November or, if not a business day, the
next business day. Distributions payable on the Series B Preferred Stock for any partial period are computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months.
We pay distributions to holders of record as they appear in our stock transfer books at the close of business on the applicable record date designated by our board of directors for
the payment of distributions that is not more than 60 nor less than 10 days prior to the distribution payment date.

We do not authorize or pay any distributions on the Series B Preferred Stock or set aside funds for the payment of distributions if restricted or prohibited by law, or if the
terms of any of our agreements, including agreements relating to our indebtedness or our other series of preferred stock, prohibit that authorization, payment or setting aside of
funds or provide that the authorization, payment or setting aside of funds is a breach of or a default under that agreement. We are, and may in the future become, a party to
agreements which restrict or prevent the payment of distributions on, or the purchase or redemption of, shares. These restrictions may include indirect covenants which require
us to maintain specified levels of net worth or assets.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, distributions on the Series B Preferred Stock accrue whether or not we have earnings, whether or not there are funds legally available for
the payment of distributions and whether or not distributions are authorized. Accrued but unpaid distributions on the Series B Preferred Stock do not bear interest, and holders
of the Series B Preferred Stock are not entitled to any distributions in excess of full cumulative distributions as described above. All of our distributions on the Series B
Preferred Stock, including any capital gain distributions, are credited first to the earliest accrued and unpaid distribution due.



We do not declare or pay any distributions (other than distributions in kind on our Common Stock or shares of any other class or series of our preferred stock that rank
junior to the Series B Preferred Stock as to distributions), or set aside any funds for the payment of distributions, on shares of our Common Stock or shares of any other class or
series of our preferred stock that rank on a parity with or junior to the Series B Preferred Stock as to distributions, including the Series C Preferred Stock, or redeem or
otherwise acquire shares of our Common Stock or shares of any other class or series of our preferred stock that rank on a parity with or junior to the Series B Preferred Stock,
including the Series C Preferred Stock, as to distributions (except by conversion into or exchange for our Common Stock or other shares ranking junior to the Series B Preferred
Stock), unless we also have declared and either paid or set aside for payment full cumulative distributions on the Series B Preferred Stock for all past distribution periods (other
than pro rata distributions as described below). This restriction does not limit our redemption or other acquisition of shares for the purposes of enforcing restrictions upon
ownership and transfer of our equity securities contained in our charter (as may be amended or supplemented) or for the purpose of preserving our status as a REIT for federal
income tax purposes.

If distributions are not paid in full (or a sum sufficient for such full payment is not so set apart) upon the Series B Preferred Stock and any other class or series of our
preferred stock ranking on a parity with the Series B Preferred Stock as to distributions, including the Series C Preferred Stock, all distributions declared upon the Series B
Preferred Stock and such other class or series of preferred stock will be authorized pro rata so that the amount of distributions authorized per share of Series B Preferred Stock
and per share of such other class or series of preferred stock (which will not include any accumulation in respect of unpaid distributions for prior distribution periods if such
other class or series of preferred stock does not have a cumulative distribution) bear to each other. No interest, or sum of money in lieu of interest, will be payable in respect of
any distribution payment or payments on the Series B Preferred Stock which may be in arrears.

Optional Redemption

At our option upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days written notice, we may redeem the Series B Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, at any time or from time to
time, at a redemption price of $25.00 per share, plus all accrued and unpaid distributions to, but not including, the date fixed for redemption.

We will mail to record holders of the Series B Preferred Stock a notice of redemption no fewer than 30 days nor more than 60 days before the redemption date. We will
send the notice to the address shown on our stock transfer books. A failure to give notice of redemption or any defect in the notice or in its mailing will not affect the validity of
the redemption of any share of Series B Preferred Stock except as to the holder to whom notice was defective. Each notice will state the following:

  •  the redemption date;

  •  

the redemption price, including, without limitation, a statement as to whether or not accumulated but unpaid distributions will be payable as
part of the redemption price, or payable on the next distribution payment date, to the record holder at the close of business on the relevant record
date;

  •  the number of shares of Series B Preferred Stock to be redeemed;

  •  the place where the certificates (if any) for the Series B Preferred Stock are to be surrendered for payment; and

  •  that distributions on the shares to be redeemed will cease to accrue on the redemption date.

If we redeem fewer than all of the shares of Series B Preferred Stock held by any holder, the notice of redemption mailed to each stockholder will also specify the number
of shares of Series B Preferred Stock that we will redeem from each stockholder. In this case, we will determine the number of shares of Series B Preferred Stock to be
redeemed on a pro rata basis. Any redemption may be made conditional on such factors as may be determined by our board of directors and as set forth in the redemption
notice. Unless full cumulative distributions on all shares of Series B Preferred Stock have been or contemporaneously are declared and either paid or set aside for payment for
all past distribution periods, we generally may not redeem any Series B Preferred Stock unless we redeem all of the Series B Preferred Stock.

If we have given a notice of redemption and have set aside sufficient funds for the redemption in trust for the benefit of the holders of the shares of Series B Preferred Stock
called for redemption, then, from and after the redemption date, those shares of Series B Preferred Stock will be treated as no longer outstanding, no further



distributions will accrue and all other rights of the holders of those shares of Series B Preferred Stock will terminate. The holders of those shares of Series B Preferred Stock
will retain their right to receive the redemption price for their shares and any accrued and unpaid distributions to, but not including, the redemption date.

The holders of shares of Series B Preferred Stock at the close of business on a distribution record date will be entitled to receive the distribution payable with respect to the
Series B Preferred Stock on the corresponding payment date notwithstanding the redemption of the Series B Preferred Stock between such record date and the corresponding
payment date or our default in the payment of the distribution due. Except as provided above, we will make no payment or allowance for unpaid distributions, whether or not in
arrears, on Series B Preferred Stock to be redeemed.

The Series B Preferred Stock has no stated maturity and is not subject to any sinking fund or mandatory redemption provisions, except as provided under “— Restrictions
on Ownership and Transfer” below.

Subject to applicable law, we may purchase Series B Preferred Stock in the open market, by tender or by private agreement. Any Series B Preferred Stock that we
reacquire will be returned to the status of authorized but unissued preferred stock, without designation as to series until such shares are once more designated as part of a
particular series by our board of directors.

Special Optional Redemption

Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control (as defined below), we may, at our option, redeem the Series B Preferred Stock in whole or in part within 120 days after the
first date on which such Change of Control occurred, by paying $25.00 per share, plus any accrued and unpaid distributions to, but not including, the date of redemption. If,
prior to the Change of Control Conversion Date (as defined in “— Conversion Rights” below), we have provided or provide notice of redemption with respect to the Series B
Preferred Stock (whether pursuant to our optional redemption right or our special optional redemption right), the holders of Series B Preferred Stock will not have the
conversion right described below under “— Conversion Rights”.

We will mail to record holders of the Series B Preferred Stock a notice of redemption no fewer than 30 days nor more than 60 days before the redemption date. We will
send the notice to the address shown on our stock transfer books. A failure to give notice of redemption or any defect in the notice or in its mailing will not affect the validity of
the redemption of any share of Series B Preferred Stock except as to the holder to whom notice was defective. Each notice will state the following:

  •  the redemption date;

 •  

the redemption price, including, without limitation, a statement as to whether or not accumulated but unpaid distributions will be payable as
part of the redemption price, or payable on the next distribution payment date, to the record holder at the close of business on the relevant record
date;

  •  the number of shares of Series B Preferred Stock to be redeemed;

  •  the place where the certificates (if any) for the Series B Preferred Stock are to be surrendered for payment;

  •  that the Series B Preferred Stock is being redeemed pursuant to our special optional redemption right in connection with the occurrence of a
Change of Control and a brief description of the transaction or transactions constituting such Change of Control;

  •  

that the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock to which the notice relates will not be able to tender such Series B Preferred Stock for
conversion in connection with the Change of Control and each share of Series B Preferred stock tendered for conversion that is selected, prior to
the Change of Control Conversion Date, for redemption will be redeemed on the related date of redemption instead of converted on the Change
of Control Conversion Date; and

  •  that distributions on the Series B Preferred Stock to be redeemed will cease to accrue on the redemption date.



If we redeem fewer than all of the outstanding shares of Series B Preferred Stock held by any holder, the notice of redemption mailed to each stockholder will also specify
the number of shares of Series B Preferred Stock that we will redeem from each stockholder. In this case, we will determine the number of shares of Series B Preferred Stock to
be redeemed on a pro rata basis. Any such redemption may be made conditional on such factors as may be determined by the board of directors and as set forth in the notice.

Unless full cumulative distributions on all shares of Series B Preferred Stock have been or contemporaneously are declared and either paid or set apart for payment for all
past distribution periods, no shares of Series B Preferred Stock will be redeemed unless all outstanding shares of Series B Preferred Stock are simultaneously redeemed. In
addition, unless full cumulative distributions on all shares of Series B Preferred Stock have been or contemporaneously are declared and either paid or set apart for payment for
all past distribution periods, we will not purchase or otherwise acquire directly or indirectly any shares of Series B Preferred Stock, any shares of our Common Stock or shares
of any other class or series ranking junior to or on parity with the Series B Preferred Stock as to distributions or upon liquidation (except by conversion into or exchange for
shares of our equity securities ranking junior to the Series B Preferred Stock as to distributions and upon liquidation). These restrictions on redemptions, purchases and other
acquisitions shall not prevent our redemption, purchase or acquisition of preferred stock of any series in order to ensure that we remain qualified as a REIT for United States
federal income tax purposes, or the purchase or acquisition of Series B Preferred Stock pursuant to a purchase or exchange offer made on the same terms to all holders of the
Series B Preferred Stock.

If we have given a notice of redemption and have set aside sufficient funds for the redemption in trust for the benefit of the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock called for
redemption, then from and after the redemption date, those shares of Series B Preferred Stock will be treated as no longer being outstanding, no further distributions will accrue
and all other rights of the holders of those shares of Series B Preferred Stock will terminate. The holders of those shares of Series B Preferred Stock will retain their right to
receive the redemption price for their shares and any accrued and unpaid distributions through, but not including, the redemption date.

The holders of Series B Preferred Stock at the close of business on a distribution record date will be entitled to receive the distribution payable with respect to the Series B
Preferred Stock on the corresponding payment date notwithstanding the redemption of the Series B Preferred Stock between such record date and the corresponding payment
date or our default in the payment of the distribution due. Except as provided above, we will make no payment or allowance for unpaid distributions, whether or not in arrears,
on Series B Preferred Stock to be redeemed.

For purposes of the special optional redemption and the Change of Control conversion rights described below, a “Change of Control” is when, after the original issuance of
Series B Preferred Stock, the following has occurred and is continuing:

  •  

the acquisition by any person, including any syndicate or group deemed to be a “person” under Section 13(d)(3) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) of beneficial ownership, directly or indirectly, through a purchase, merger or other
acquisition transaction or series of purchases, mergers or other acquisition transactions of shares of our capital stock entitling that person to
exercise more than 50% of the total voting power of our capital stock entitled to vote generally in elections of directors (except that such
person will be deemed to have beneficial ownership of all securities that such person has the right to acquire, whether such right is currently
exercisable or is exercisable only upon the occurrence of a subsequent condition), and (y) following the closing of any transaction referred to in
clause (x), neither we nor the acquiring or surviving entity has a class of common securities (or ADRs, representing such securities) listed on
the NYSE, the NYSE Amex or NASDAQ, or listed or quoted on an exchange or quotation system that is a successor to the NYSE, the NYSE
Amex or NASDAQ; or

  •  a change of control occurs pursuant to the provisions of any shareholder rights plan that may be adopted by the Company.

Conversion Rights

The Series B Preferred Stock is not convertible into or exchangeable for any property or other securities unless upon the occurrence of a Change of Control as described
below.



Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control, each holder of Series B Preferred Stock will have the right, unless, prior to the Change of Control Conversion Date, we have
provided or provide notice of our election to redeem the Series B Preferred Stock as described under “— Optional Redemption” or “— Special Optional Redemption”, to convert
some or all of the Series B Preferred Stock held by such holder (the “Change of Control Conversion Right”) on the Change of Control Conversion Date into a number of shares
of our Common Stock per share of Series B Preferred Stock (the “Common Stock Conversion Consideration”) equal to the lesser of:

  •  

the quotient obtained by dividing

(i) the sum of the $25.00 liquidation preference plus the amount of any accrued and unpaid distributions to, but not including, the Change
of Control Conversion Date (unless the Change of Control Conversion Date is after a record date for the Series B Preferred Stock distribution
payment and prior to the corresponding Series B Preferred Stock distribution payment date, in which case no additional amount for such
accrued and unpaid distribution will be included in this sum), by

(ii) the Common Stock Price; and

 •  10.2041 (the “Stock Cap”), subject to the adjustments described below.

The Stock Cap is subject to pro rata adjustments for any stock splits (including those effected pursuant to a distribution of our Common Stock), subdivisions or
combinations (in each case, a “Stock Split”) with respect to our Common Stock as follows: the adjusted Stock Cap as the result of a Stock Split will be the number of shares of
our Common Stock that is equivalent to the product obtained by multiplying (i) the Stock Cap in effect immediately prior to such Stock Split by (ii) a fraction, the numerator of
which is the number of shares of our Common Stock outstanding after giving effect to such Stock Split and the denominator of which is the number of shares of our Common
Stock outstanding immediately prior to such Stock Split.

For the avoidance of doubt, subject to the immediately succeeding sentence, the aggregate number of shares of our Common Stock (or equivalent Alternative Conversion
Consideration (as defined below), as applicable) issuable in connection with the exercise of the Change of Control Conversion Right (or equivalent Alternative Conversion
Consideration, as applicable), will not exceed 4,081,640 in total (or equivalent Alternative Conversion Consideration, as applicable) (the “Exchange Cap”). The Exchange Cap is
subject to pro rata adjustments for any Stock Splits on the same basis as the corresponding adjustment to the Stock Cap.

In the case of a Change of Control pursuant to which shares of our Common Stock will be converted into cash, securities or other property or assets (including any
combination thereof) (the “Alternative Form Consideration”), a holder of Series B Preferred Stock will receive upon conversion of such Series B Preferred Stock the kind and
amount of Alternative Form Consideration which such holder would have owned or been entitled to receive upon the Change of Control had such holder held a number of
shares of our Common Stock equal to the Common Stock Conversion Consideration immediately prior to the effective time of the Change of Control (the “Alternative
Conversion Consideration”, and the Common Stock Conversion Consideration or the Alternative Conversion Consideration, as may be applicable to a Change of Control, is
referred to as the “Conversion Consideration”).

If the holders of our Common Stock have the opportunity to elect the form of consideration to be received in the Change of Control, the consideration that the holders of
the Series B Preferred Stock will receive will be the form and proportion of the aggregate consideration elected by the holders of our Common Stock who participate in the
determination (based on the weighted average of elections) and will be subject to any limitations to which all holders of our Common Stock are subject, including, without
limitation, pro rata reductions applicable to any portion of the consideration payable in the Change of Control.

We will not issue fractional shares of Common Stock upon the conversion of the Series B Preferred Stock. Instead, we will pay the cash value of such fractional shares.

Within 15 days following the occurrence of a Change of Control, we will provide to holders of Series B Preferred Stock a notice of occurrence of the Change of Control
that describes the resulting Change of Control Conversion Right. This notice will state the following:



  •  the events constituting the Change of Control;

  •  the date of the Change of Control;

  •  the last date on which the holders of Series B Preferred Stock may exercise their Change of Control Conversion Right;

  •  the method and period for calculating the Common Stock Price;

  •  the Change of Control Conversion Date;

 •  

that if, prior to the Change of Control Conversion Date, we have provided or provide notice of our election to redeem all or any portion of
the Series B Preferred Stock, holders will not be able to convert Series B Preferred Stock and such shares will be redeemed on the related
redemption date, even if such shares have already been tendered for conversion pursuant to the Change of Control Conversion Right;

  •  if applicable, the type and amount of Alternative Conversion Consideration entitled to be received per share of Series B Preferred Stock;

  •  the name and address of the paying agent and the conversion agent; and

  •  the procedures that the holders of Series B Preferred Stock must follow to exercise the Change of Control Conversion Right.

We will issue a press release and post a notice on our website, in any event prior to the opening of business on the first business day following any date on which we
provide the notice described above to the holders of Series B Preferred Stock.

To exercise the Change of Control Conversion Right, the holder of Series B Preferred Stock will be required to deliver, on or before the close of business on the Change of
Control Conversion Date, the certificates (if any) evidencing Series B Preferred Stock to be converted, duly endorsed for transfer, together with a written conversion notice
completed, to our transfer agent. The conversion notice must state:

  •  the relevant Change of Control Conversion Date;

  •  the number of shares of Series B Preferred Stock to be converted; and

  •  that the Series B Preferred Stock is to be converted pursuant to the applicable provisions of the Series B Preferred Stock.

The “Change of Control Conversion Date” is the date the Series B Preferred Stock is to be converted, which will be a business day that is no fewer than 20 days nor more
than 35 days after the date on which we provide the notice described above to the holders of Series B Preferred Stock.

The “Common Stock Price” will be: (i) the amount of cash consideration per share of Common Stock, if the consideration to be received in the Change of Control by the
holders of our Common Stock is solely cash, or (ii) the average of the closing prices per share for our Common Stock on the NYSE for the ten consecutive trading days
immediately preceding, but not including, the effective date of the Change of Control, if the consideration to be received in the Change of Control by the holders of our
Common Stock is other than solely cash.

Holders of Series B Preferred Stock may withdraw any notice of exercise of a Change of Control Conversion Right (in whole or in part) by a written notice of withdrawal
delivered to our transfer agent prior to the close of business on the business day prior to the Change of Control Conversion Date. The notice of withdrawal must state:



  •  the number of withdrawn shares of Series B Preferred Stock;

  •  if certificated Series B Preferred Stock have been issued, the certificate numbers of the withdrawn shares of Series B Preferred Stock; and

  •  the number of shares of Series B Preferred Stock, if any, which remain subject to the conversion notice.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Series B Preferred Stock is held in global form, the conversion notice and/or the notice of withdrawal, as applicable, must comply
with applicable procedures of DTC.

Series B Preferred Stock as to which the Change of Control Conversion Right has been properly exercised and for which the conversion notice has not been properly
withdrawn will be converted into the applicable Conversion Consideration in accordance with the Change of Control Conversion Right on the Change of Control Conversion
Date, unless prior to the Change of Control Conversion Date we have provided or provide notice of our election to redeem such Series B Preferred Stock, whether pursuant to
our optional redemption right or our special optional redemption right. If we elect to redeem Series B Preferred Stock that would otherwise be converted into the applicable
Conversion Consideration on a Change of Control Conversion Date, such Series B Preferred Stock will not be so converted and the holders of such shares will be entitled to
receive on the applicable redemption date $25.00 per share, plus any accrued and unpaid distributions thereon to, but not including, the redemption date, in accordance with our
optional redemption right or special optional redemption right. See “— Optional Redemption” and “— Special Optional Redemption” above.

We will deliver amounts owing upon conversion no later than the third business day following the Change of Control Conversion Date.

We will comply with all federal and state securities laws and stock exchange rules in connection with any conversion of Series B Preferred Stock into shares of our
Common Stock. Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Series B Preferred Stock, no holder of Series B Preferred Stock will be entitled to convert such Series B Preferred
Stock into shares of our Common Stock to the extent that receipt of such Common Stock would cause such holder (or any other person) to exceed the share ownership limits
contained in our charter (as may be amended and supplemented) setting forth the terms of the Series B Preferred Stock, unless we provide an exemption from this limitation for
such holder. See “— Restrictions on Ownership and Transfer” below.

Except as provided above in connection with a Change of Control, the Series B Preferred Stock is not convertible into or exchangeable for any other securities or property.

Liquidation Rights

Upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our affairs, the holders of shares of Series B Preferred Stock are entitled to be paid out of our
assets that are legally available for distribution to our stockholders (after payment or provision for payment of all of our debts and other liabilities) the sum of (a) the liquidation
preference of $25.00 per share and (b) an amount equal to any accrued and unpaid distributions (whether or not declared) to the date of payment, before any distribution of
assets is made to holders of our Common Stock or shares of any class or series of our preferred stock that we may issue that ranks junior to the Series B Preferred Stock as to
liquidation rights.

In the event that, upon any such voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up, our available assets are insufficient to pay the amount of the liquidating
distributions on all outstanding shares of Series B Preferred Stock and the corresponding amounts payable on all shares of other classes or series of our capital stock ranking on
a parity with the Series B Preferred Stock as to liquidation rights, including the Series C Preferred Stock, then the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock and all other such
classes or series of capital stock shall share ratably in any such distribution of assets in proportion to the full liquidating distributions to which they would otherwise be
respectively entitled.

Holders of Series B Preferred Stock will be entitled to written notice of any such liquidation. After payment of the full amount of the liquidating distributions to which they
are entitled, the holders of Series B Preferred Stock will have no right or claim to any of our remaining assets. The consolidation or merger of us with or into any other
corporation, trust or entity or of any other corporation with or into us, a statutory share exchange by us or the sale, lease or conveyance of all or substantially all of our assets or
business shall not be deemed to constitute a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of us.

Voting Rights

Holders of Series B Preferred Stock have no voting rights, except as follows:



  •  

If distributions on our Series B Preferred Stock are due for six or more quarterly periods and remain unpaid, whether or not these quarterly
periods are consecutive, holders of the Series B Preferred Stock, voting together as a single class with the holders of the Series C Preferred
Stock and any other class or series of preferred stock which have similar voting rights that are exercisable, will be entitled to vote for the
election of two additional directors (if not already elected by the holders of such other classes or series of parity voting preferred stock) to serve
on our board of directors until all distribution arrearages have been paid.

  •  

If the listing of the Series B Preferred Stock on the NYSE or another national securities exchange or market is not maintained for 180
consecutive days, until such listing default is cured, the holders of Series B Preferred Stock, voting together with the holders of any other class
or series of preferred stock which have similar voting rights that are exercisable, will be entitled to elect up to two additional directors (if not
already elected by reason of similar types of voting rights of the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock) to serve on our board of directors.

  •  

In addition, the affirmative vote of the holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding Series B Preferred Stock (voting as a separate class)
is required for us to authorize, create or increase the authorized or issued amount of any class or series of our equity securities ranking senior to
the outstanding Series B Preferred Stock as to distributions and amounts upon liquidation or to amend our charter (whether by merger,
consolidation or otherwise), in a manner that materially and adversely affects the rights of the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock, unless the
Series B Preferred Stock remains outstanding with its terms materially unchanged or, if the Corporation is not the surviving entity, the Series B
Preferred Stock is exchanged for a security of the surviving entity with terms that are materially the same as the Series B Preferred Stock.

In any matter in which the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock are entitled to vote, each share of Series B Preferred Stock is entitled to one vote. If the holders of the
Series B Preferred Stock and another series of preferred stock are entitled to vote together as a single class on any matter, the Series B Preferred Stock and the shares of the
other class or series will have one vote for each $25.00 of liquidation preference. The two additional directors described above shall be elected by a plurality of the votes cast by
the holders of the outstanding shares of Series B Preferred Stock when they have the voting rights set forth above (voting together as a single class with the holders of any class
or series of preferred stock which have similar voting rights that are exercisable) in such election to serve until the next annual meeting of stockholders and until their successors
are duly elected and qualified or until such directors’ right to hold the office terminates, whichever occurs earlier.



Information Rights

During any period in which we are not subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act and any shares of Series B Preferred Stock
are outstanding, we will (i) transmit by mail or other permissible means under the Exchange Act to all holders of Series B Preferred Stock as their names and addresses appear in
our record books and without cost to such holders, copies of the annual reports on Form 10-K and quarterly reports on Form 10-Q that we would have been required to file with
the SEC pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act if we were subject thereto (other than any exhibits that would have been required) and (ii) within 15 days
following written request, supply copies of such reports to any prospective holder of the Series B Preferred Stock. We will mail (or otherwise provide) the reports to the holders
of Series B Preferred Stock within 15 days after the respective dates by which we would have been required to file such reports with the SEC if we were subject to Section 13 or
Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act.

Restrictions on Ownership and Transfer

Our charter provides that no person or entity may beneficially own, or be deemed to own by virtue of the applicable constructive ownership provisions of the Code, more
than 9.9% of the outstanding shares of our Common Stock. The articles supplementary designating the terms of the Series B Preferred Stock provide that the 9.9% ownership
limitation applies to ownership of our Series B Preferred Stock as a separate class.

Any person who acquires or attempts to acquire beneficial or constructive ownership of Series B Preferred Stock that will or may violate the ownership limitation is
required to give written notice immediately to us and provide us with such other information as we may request in order to determine the effect of such transfer on our REIT
status.

If our Board of Directors or a committee thereof determines that a transfer or proposed transfer of the shares of Series B Preferred Stock violates or may violate the
ownership limitation or certain other provisions of our charter prohibiting transfers that may have the effect of causing us to lose our REIT status, our Board of Directors or
committee thereof is empowered to take any action it deems advisable to refuse to give effect to or to prevent such transfer, including (i) electing to purchase any shares owned
by a person or group of affiliated persons in excess of the ownership limitations or (ii) refusing to transfer or issue shares to a person if an acquisition of shares by such person
or group would result in such person or group exceeding these ownership limits or jeopardizing our status as a REIT. Any transfer of shares that would result in a person or
group exceeding ownership limits or in our disqualification as a REIT is deemed void as of the date of such transfer. Our Board of Directors has the right to waive ownership
limitations and excess share provisions of our charter and the articles supplementary designating the terms of the Series B Preferred Stock.

Listing

The Series B Preferred Stock is listed on the NYSE, under the symbol “CDRpB”.

Registrar and Transfer Agent

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC is the registrar and transfer agent for the Series B Preferred Stock.

Description of the Series C Preferred Stock

Ranking

The Series C Preferred Stock, with respect to dividend rights and rights upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up, ranks:

(i) senior to our Common Stock and all other classes or series of our equity securities we may issue in the future, the terms of which specifically provide that such equity
securities will rank junior to the Series C Preferred Stock;

(ii) on a parity with the Series B Preferred Stock and all other classes or series of our equity securities we may issue, the terms of which specifically provide that such
equity securities rank on a parity with the Series C Preferred Stock; and

(iii) junior to all classes or series of equity securities we may issue the terms of which specifically provide that such equity securities rank senior to the Series C Preferred
Stock.

The term “equity securities” does not include any convertible debt securities we may issue in the future.

Dividends



Holders of the Series C Preferred Stock are entitled to receive, when and as authorized by our board of directors, out of funds legally available for the payment of
dividends, cumulative cash dividends at the rate of 6.50% of the liquidation preference per annum (equivalent to $1.625 per annum per share). Dividends on the Series C
Preferred Stock accrue and are cumulative from, and including, the dividend payment date immediately preceding the date of issuance of the Series C Preferred Stock and are
payable quarterly in arrears on the 20  day of each February, May, August and November or, if not a business day, the next business day. Dividends payable on the Series C
Preferred Stock for any partial period are computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. We pay dividends to holders of record as they appear in
our stock transfer books at the close of business on the applicable record date designated by our board of directors for the payment of dividends that is not more than 60 nor less
than 10 days prior to the dividend payment date.

We do not authorize or pay any dividends on the Series C Preferred Stock or set aside funds for the payment of dividends if restricted or prohibited by law, or if the terms
of any of our agreements, including agreements relating to our indebtedness or our other series of preferred stock, prohibit that authorization, payment or setting aside of funds
or provide that the authorization, payment or setting aside of funds is a breach of or a default under that agreement. We are, and may in the future become, a party to agreements
which restrict or prevent the payment of dividends on, or the purchase or redemption of, shares. These restrictions may include indirect covenants which require us to maintain
specified levels of net worth or assets.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, dividends on the Series C Preferred Stock accrue whether or not we have earnings, whether or not there are funds legally available for the
payment of dividends and whether or not dividends are authorized. Accrued but unpaid dividends on the Series C Preferred Stock do not bear interest, and holders of the Series
C Preferred Stock are not entitled to any dividends in excess of full cumulative dividends as described above. All of our dividends on the Series C Preferred Stock, including
any capital gain dividends, are credited first to the earliest accrued and unpaid dividend due.

We do not declare or pay any dividends (other than dividends in kind on our Common Stock or shares of any other class or series of our preferred stock that rank junior to
the Series C Preferred Stock as to dividends), or set aside any funds for the payment of dividends, on shares of our Common Stock or shares of any other class or series of our
preferred stock that rank on a parity with or junior to the Series C Preferred Stock as to dividends, including the Series B Preferred Stock, or redeem, purchase or otherwise
acquire shares of our Common Stock or shares of any other class or series of our preferred stock that rank on a parity with or junior to the Series C Preferred Stock, including
the Series B Preferred Stock, as to dividends (except by conversion into or exchange for our Common Stock or other shares ranking junior to the Series C Preferred Stock),
unless we also have declared and either paid or set aside for payment full cumulative dividends on the Series C Preferred Stock for all past dividend periods (other than pro rata
dividends as described below). This restriction does not limit our redemption, purchase or other acquisition of shares for the purposes of enforcing restrictions upon ownership
and transfer of our equity securities contained in our charter (including the articles supplementary designating the terms of the Series C Preferred Stock) or for the purpose of
preserving our status as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

If dividends are not paid in full (or a sum sufficient for such full payment is not so set apart) upon the Series C Preferred Stock and any other class or series of our preferred
stock ranking on a parity with the Series C Preferred Stock as to dividends, including the Series B Preferred Stock, all dividends declared upon the Series C Preferred Stock and
such other class or series of preferred stock will be authorized pro rata so that the amount of dividends authorized per share of Series C Preferred Stock and per share of such
other class or series of preferred stock (which will not include any accumulation in respect of unpaid dividends for prior dividend periods if such other class or series of
preferred stock does not have a cumulative dividend) bear to each other. No interest, or sum of money in lieu of interest, will be payable in respect of any dividend payment or
payments on the Series C Preferred Stock which may be in arrears.

Optional Redemption

At our option upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days written notice, we may redeem the Series C Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, at any time or from time to
time, at a redemption price of $25.00 per share, plus all accrued and unpaid dividends to, but not including, the date fixed for redemption.

We will mail to record holders of the Series C Preferred Stock a notice of redemption no fewer than 30 days nor more than 60 days before the redemption date. We will
send the notice to the address shown on our stock transfer books. A failure to give notice of redemption or any defect in the notice or in its mailing will not affect the validity of
the redemption of any share of Series C Preferred Stock except as to the holder to whom notice was defective. Each notice will state the following:

th



 •  the redemption date;

  •  

the redemption price, including, without limitation, a statement as to whether or not accumulated but unpaid dividends will be payable as
part of the redemption price, or payable on the next dividend payment date, to the record holder at the close of business on the relevant record
date;

  •  the number of shares of Series C Preferred Stock to be redeemed;

  •  the place where the certificates (if any) for the Series C Preferred Stock are to be surrendered for payment; and

  •  that dividends on the shares to be redeemed will cease to accrue on the redemption date.

If we redeem fewer than all of the shares of Series C Preferred Stock held by any holder, the notice of redemption mailed to each stockholder will also specify the number
of shares of Series C Preferred Stock that we will redeem from each stockholder. In this case, we will determine the number of shares of Series C Preferred Stock to be
redeemed in accordance with the procedures of the Depositary Trust Company (“DTC”). Any redemption may be made conditional on such factors as may be determined by
our board of directors and as set forth in the redemption notice. Unless full cumulative dividends on all shares of Series C Preferred Stock have been or contemporaneously are
declared and either paid or set aside for payment for all past dividend periods, we generally may not redeem any Series C Preferred Stock unless we redeem all of the Series C
Preferred Stock.

If we have given a notice of redemption and have set aside sufficient funds for the redemption in trust for the benefit of the holders of the shares of Series C Preferred Stock
called for redemption, then, from and after the redemption date, those shares of Series C Preferred Stock will be treated as no longer outstanding, no further dividends will
accrue and all other rights of the holders of those shares of Series C Preferred Stock will terminate. The holders of those shares of Series C Preferred Stock will retain their right
to receive the redemption price for their shares and any accrued and unpaid dividends to, but not including, the redemption date.

The holders of shares of Series C Preferred Stock at the close of business on a dividend record date will be entitled to receive the dividend payable with respect to the
Series C Preferred Stock on the corresponding payment date notwithstanding the redemption of the Series C Preferred Stock between such record date and the corresponding
payment date or our default in the payment of the dividend due. Except as provided above, we will make no payment or allowance for unpaid dividends, whether or not in
arrears, on Series C Preferred Stock to be redeemed.

The Series C Preferred Stock has no stated maturity and is not subject to any sinking fund or mandatory redemption provisions, except as provided under “— Restrictions
on Ownership and Transfer” below.

Subject to applicable law, we may purchase Series C Preferred Stock in the open market, by tender or by private agreement. Any Series C Preferred Stock that we
reacquire will be returned to the status of authorized but unissued preferred stock, without designation as to series until such shares are once more designated as part of a
particular series by our board of directors.

Special Optional Redemption

Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control (as defined below), we may, at our option, redeem the Series C Preferred Stock, in whole or in part within 120 days after the
first date on which such Change of Control occurred, by paying $25.00 per share, plus any accrued and unpaid dividends to, but not including, the date of redemption. If, prior
to the Change of Control Conversion Date (as defined in “— Conversion Rights” below), we have provided or provide notice of redemption with respect to the Series C
Preferred Stock (whether pursuant to our optional redemption right or our special optional redemption right), the holders of Series C Preferred Stock will not have the
conversion right described below under “— Conversion Rights”.

We will mail to record holders of the Series C Preferred Stock a notice of redemption no fewer than 30 days nor more than 60 days before the redemption date. We will
send the notice to the address shown on our stock transfer books. A failure to give notice of redemption or any defect in the notice or in its mailing will not affect the validity of
the redemption of any share of Series C Preferred Stock except as to the holder to whom notice was defective. Each notice will state the following:



  •  the redemption date;

  •  

the redemption price, including, without limitation, a statement as to whether or not accumulated but unpaid dividends will be payable as
part of the redemption price, or payable on the next dividend payment date, to the record holder at the close of business on the relevant record
date;

  •  the number of shares of Series C Preferred Stock to be redeemed;

  •  the place where the certificates (if any) for the Series C Preferred Stock are to be surrendered for payment;

  •  that the Series C Preferred Stock is being redeemed pursuant to our special optional redemption right in connection with the occurrence of a
Change of Control and a brief description of the transaction or transactions constituting such Change of Control;

  •  

that the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock to which the notice relates will not be able to tender such Series C Preferred Stock for
conversion in connection with the Change of Control and each share of Series C Preferred stock tendered for conversion that is selected, prior to
the Change of Control Conversion Date, for redemption will be redeemed on the related date of redemption instead of converted on the Change of
Control Conversion Date; and

  •  that dividends on the Series C Preferred Stock to be redeemed will cease to accrue on the redemption date.

If we redeem fewer than all of the outstanding shares of Series C Preferred Stock held by any holder, the notice of redemption mailed to each stockholder will also specify
the number of shares of Series C Preferred Stock that we will redeem from each stockholder. In this case, we will determine the number of shares of Series C Preferred Stock to
be redeemed in accordance with the procedures of DTC. Any such redemption may be made conditional on such factors as may be determined by the board of directors and as
set forth in the notice.

Unless full cumulative dividends on all shares of Series C Preferred Stock have been or contemporaneously are declared and either paid or set apart for payment for all past
dividend periods, no shares of Series C Preferred Stock will be redeemed unless all outstanding shares of Series C Preferred Stock are simultaneously redeemed. In addition,
unless full cumulative dividends on all shares of Series C Preferred Stock have been or contemporaneously are declared and either paid or set apart for payment for all past
dividend periods, we will not purchase or otherwise acquire directly or indirectly any shares of Series C Preferred Stock, any shares of our Common Stock or shares of any
other class or series ranking junior to or on a parity with the Series C Preferred Stock as to dividends or upon liquidation (except by conversion into or exchange for shares of
our equity securities ranking junior to the Series C Preferred Stock as to dividends and upon liquidation). These restrictions on redemptions, purchases and other acquisitions
shall not prevent our redemption, purchase or acquisition of preferred stock of any series in order to ensure that we remain qualified as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax
purposes, or the purchase or acquisition of Series C Preferred Stock pursuant to a purchase or exchange offer made on the same terms to all holders of the Series C Preferred
Stock.

If we have given a notice of redemption and have set aside sufficient funds for the redemption in trust for the benefit of the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock called for
redemption, then from and after the redemption date, those shares of Series C Preferred Stock will be treated as no longer being outstanding, no further dividends will accrue
and all other rights of the holders of those shares of Series C Preferred Stock will terminate. The holders of those shares of Series C Preferred Stock will retain their right to
receive the redemption price for their shares and any accrued and unpaid dividends through, but not including, the redemption date.

The holders of Series C Preferred Stock at the close of business on a dividend record date will be entitled to receive the dividend payable with respect to the Series C
Preferred Stock on the corresponding payment date notwithstanding the redemption of the Series C Preferred Stock between such record date and the corresponding payment
date or our default in the payment of the dividend due. Except as provided above, we will make no payment or allowance for unpaid dividends, whether or not in arrears, on
Series C Preferred Stock to be redeemed.



For purposes of the special optional redemption and the Change of Control Conversion Rights described below, a “Change of Control” is when, after the date of original
issuance of Series C Preferred Stock, the following has occurred and is continuing:

  •  

the acquisition by any person, including any syndicate or group deemed to be a “person” under Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act of
beneficial ownership, directly or indirectly, through a purchase, merger or other acquisition transaction or series of purchases, mergers or other
acquisition transactions of shares of our capital stock entitling that person to exercise more than 50% of the total voting power of our capital
stock entitled to vote generally in elections of directors (except that such person will be deemed to have beneficial ownership of all securities that
such person has the right to acquire, whether such right is currently exercisable or is exercisable only upon the occurrence of a subsequent
condition), and (y) following the closing of any transaction referred to in clause (x), neither we nor the acquiring or surviving entity has a class of
common securities (or ADRs representing such securities) listed on the NYSE, the NYSE American or NASDAQ, or listed or quoted on an
exchange or quotation system that is a successor to the NYSE, the NYSE American or NASDAQ; or

  •  a change of control occurs pursuant to the provisions of any shareholder rights plan that may be adopted by the Company.

Conversion Rights

The Series C Preferred Stock is not convertible into or exchangeable for any property or other securities unless upon the occurrence of a Change of Control as described
below.

Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control, each holder of Series C Preferred Stock will have the right, unless, prior to the Change of Control Conversion Date, we have
provided or provide notice of our election to redeem the Series C Preferred Stock as described under “— Optional Redemption” or “— Special Optional Redemption”, to convert
some or all of the Series C Preferred Stock held by such holder (the “Change of Control Conversion Right”), on the Change of Control Conversion Date into a number of shares
of our Common Stock per share of Series C Preferred Stock (the “Common Stock Conversion Consideration”), equal to the lesser of:

  •  

the quotient obtained by dividing (i) the sum of the $25.00 liquidation preference plus the amount of any accrued and unpaid dividends to,
but not including, the Change of Control Conversion Date (unless the Change of Control Conversion Date is after a record date for the Series C
Preferred Stock dividend payment and prior to the corresponding Series C Preferred Stock dividend payment date, in which case no additional
amount for such accrued and unpaid dividend will be included in this sum) by (ii) the Common Stock Price; and

  •  9.8814, (the “Stock Cap”), subject to the adjustments described below.

The Stock Cap is subject to pro rata adjustments for any stock splits (including those effected pursuant to a distribution of our Common Stock), subdivisions or
combinations (in each case, a “Stock Split”) with respect to our Common Stock as follows: the adjusted Stock Cap as the result of a Stock Split will be the number of shares of
our Common Stock that is equivalent to the product obtained by multiplying (i) the Stock Cap in effect immediately prior to such Stock Split by (ii) a fraction, the numerator of
which is the number of shares of our Common Stock outstanding after giving effect to such Stock Split and the denominator of which is the number of shares of our Common
Stock outstanding immediately prior to such Stock Split.

For the avoidance of doubt, subject to the immediately succeeding sentence, the aggregate number of shares of our Common Stock (or equivalent Alternative Conversion
Consideration (as defined below), as applicable) issuable in connection with the exercise of the Change of Control Conversion Right (or equivalent Alternative Conversion
Consideration, as applicable), will not exceed 59,782,470 in total (or equivalent Alternative Conversion



Consideration, as applicable) (the “Exchange Cap”). The Exchange Cap is subject to pro rata adjustments for any Stock Splits on the same basis as the corresponding adjustment
to the Stock Cap.

In the case of a Change of Control pursuant to which shares of our Common Stock will be converted into cash, securities or other property or assets (including any
combination thereof) (the “Alternative Form Consideration”), a holder of Series C Preferred Stock will receive upon conversion of such Series C Preferred Stock the kind and
amount of Alternative Form Consideration which such holder would have owned or been entitled to receive upon the Change of Control had such holder held a number of
shares of our Common Stock equal to the Common Stock Conversion Consideration immediately prior to the effective time of the Change of Control (the “Alternative
Conversion Consideration”), and the Common Stock Conversion Consideration or the Alternative Conversion Consideration, as may be applicable to a Change of Control (the
“Conversion Consideration”).

If the holders of our Common Stock have the opportunity to elect the form of consideration to be received in the Change of Control, the consideration that the holders of
the Series C Preferred Stock will receive will be the form and proportion of the aggregate consideration elected by the holders of our Common Stock who participate in the
determination (based on the weighted average of elections) and will be subject to any limitations to which all holders of our Common Stock are subject, including, without
limitation, pro rata reductions applicable to any portion of the consideration payable in the Change of Control.

We will not issue fractional shares of Common Stock upon the conversion of the Series C Preferred Stock. Instead, we will pay the cash value of such fractional shares.

Within 15 days following the occurrence of a Change of Control, we will provide to holders of Series C Preferred Stock a notice of occurrence of the Change of Control
that describes the resulting Change of Control Conversion Right. This notice will state the following:

  •  the events constituting the Change of Control;

  •  the date of the Change of Control;

  •  the last date on which the holders of Series C Preferred Stock may exercise their Change of Control Conversion Right;

  •  the method and period for calculating the Common Stock Price;

 •  the Change of Control Conversion Date;

  •  

that if, prior to the Change of Control Conversion Date, we have provided or provide notice of our election to redeem all or any portion of
the Series C Preferred Stock, holders will not be able to convert Series C Preferred Stock and such shares will be redeemed on the related
redemption date, even if such shares have already been tendered for conversion pursuant to the Change of Control Conversion Right;

  •  if applicable, the type and amount of Alternative Conversion Consideration entitled to be received per share of Series C Preferred Stock;

  •  the name and address of the paying agent and the conversion agent; and

  •  the procedures that the holders of Series C Preferred Stock must follow to exercise the Change of Control Conversion Right.

We will issue a press release and post a notice on our website, in any event prior to the opening of business on the first business day following any date on which we
provide the notice described above to the holders of Series C Preferred Stock.

To exercise the Change of Control Conversion Right, the holder of Series C Preferred Stock will be required to deliver, on or before the close of business on the Change of
Control Conversion Date, the certificates (if any) evidencing Series C Preferred Stock to be converted, duly endorsed for transfer, together with a written conversion notice
completed, to our transfer agent. The conversion notice must state:



  •  the relevant Change of Control Conversion Date;

  •  the number of shares of Series C Preferred Stock to be converted; and

  •  that the Series C Preferred Stock is to be converted pursuant to the applicable provisions of the Series C Preferred Stock.

The “Change of Control Conversion Date” is the date the Series C Preferred Stock is to be converted, which will be a business day that is no fewer than 20 days nor more
than 35 days after the date on which we provide the notice described above to the holders of Series C Preferred Stock.

The “Common Stock Price” will be: (i) the amount of cash consideration per share of Common Stock, if the consideration to be received in the Change of Control by the
holders of our Common Stock is solely cash, or (ii) the average of the closing prices per share for our Common Stock on the NYSE for the ten consecutive trading days
immediately preceding, but not including, the effective date of the Change of Control, if the consideration to be received in the Change of Control by the holders of our
Common Stock is other than solely cash.

Holders of Series C Preferred Stock may withdraw any notice of exercise of a Change of Control Conversion Right (in whole or in part) by a written notice of withdrawal
delivered to our transfer agent prior to the close of business on the business day prior to the Change of Control Conversion Date. The notice of withdrawal must state:

  •  the number of withdrawn shares of Series C Preferred Stock;

  •  if certificated Series C Preferred Stock have been issued, the certificate numbers of the withdrawn shares of Series C Preferred Stock; and

  •  the number of shares of Series C Preferred Stock, if any, which remain subject to the conversion notice.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Series C Preferred Stock is held in global form, the conversion notice and/or the notice of withdrawal, as applicable, must comply
with applicable procedures of DTC.

Series C Preferred Stock as to which the Change of Control Conversion Right has been properly exercised and for which the conversion notice has not been properly
withdrawn will be converted into the applicable Conversion Consideration in accordance with the Change of Control Conversion Right on the Change of Control Conversion
Date, unless prior to the Change of Control Conversion Date we have provided or provide notice of our election to redeem such Series C Preferred Stock, whether pursuant to
our optional redemption right or our special optional redemption right. If we elect to redeem Series C Preferred Stock that would otherwise be converted into the applicable
Conversion Consideration on a Change of Control Conversion Date, such Series C Preferred Stock will not be so converted and the holders of such shares will be entitled to
receive on the applicable redemption date $25.00 per share, plus any accrued and unpaid dividends thereon to, but not including, the redemption date, in accordance with our
optional redemption right or special optional redemption right. See “— Optional Redemption” and “— Special Optional Redemption” above.

We will deliver amounts owing upon conversion no later than the third business day following the Change of Control Conversion Date.

We will comply with all U.S. federal and state securities laws and stock exchange rules in connection with any conversion of Series C Preferred Stock into shares of our
Common Stock. Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Series C Preferred Stock, no holder of Series C Preferred Stock will be entitled to convert such Series C Preferred
Stock into shares of our Common Stock to the extent that receipt of such Common Stock would cause such holder (or any other person) to exceed the share ownership limits
contained in our charter and our articles supplementary setting forth the terms of the Series C Preferred Stock, unless we provide an exemption from this limitation for such
holder. See “— Restrictions on Ownership and Transfer” below.

Except as provided above in connection with a Change of Control, the Series C Preferred Stock is not convertible into or exchangeable for any other securities or property.

Liquidation Rights

Upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our affairs, the holders of shares of Series C Preferred Stock are entitled to be paid out of our
assets that are legally available for distribution to our stockholders (after payment or provision for payment of all of our debts and other liabilities) the sum of (a) the



liquidation preference of $25.00 per share and (b) an amount equal to any accrued and unpaid dividends (whether or not declared) to the date of payment, before any distribution
of assets is made to holders of our Common Stock or shares of any class or series of our preferred stock that we may issue that ranks junior to the Series C Preferred Stock as to
liquidation rights.

In the event that, upon any such voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up, our available assets are insufficient to pay the amount of the liquidating
distributions on all outstanding shares of Series C Preferred Stock and the corresponding amounts payable on all shares of other classes or series of our capital stock ranking on
a parity with the Series C Preferred Stock as to liquidation rights, including the Series B Preferred Stock, then the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock and all other such
classes or series of capital stock shall share ratably in any such distribution of assets in proportion to the full liquidating distributions to which they would otherwise be
respectively entitled.

Holders of Series C Preferred Stock will be entitled to written notice of any such liquidation, dissolution or winding up. After payment of the full amount of the liquidating
distributions to which they are entitled, the holders of Series C Preferred Stock will have no right or claim to any of our remaining assets. The consolidation or merger of us with
or into any other corporation, trust or entity or of any other corporation with or into us, a statutory share exchange by us or the sale, lease or conveyance of all or substantially all
of our assets or business shall not be deemed to constitute a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of us.

Voting Rights

Holders of Series C Preferred Stock have no voting rights, except as follows:

  •  

If dividends on our Series C Preferred Stock are due for six or more quarterly periods and remain unpaid, whether or not these quarterly
periods are consecutive, holders of the Series C Preferred Stock, voting together as a single class with the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock
and any other class or series of preferred stock which have similar voting rights that are exercisable, will be entitled to vote for the election of
two additional directors (if not already elected by the holders of such other classes or series of parity voting preferred stock) to serve on our
board of directors until all dividend arrearages have been paid.

  •  

In addition, the affirmative vote of the holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding Series C Preferred Stock (voting as a separate class)
is required for us to authorize, create or increase the authorized or issued amount of any class or series of our equity securities ranking senior to
the outstanding Series C Preferred Stock as to dividends and amounts upon liquidation or to amend our charter (whether by merger,
consolidation or otherwise), in a manner that materially and adversely affects the rights of the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock, unless the
Series C Preferred Stock remains outstanding with its terms materially unchanged or, if the Corporation is not the surviving entity, the Series C
Preferred Stock is exchanged for a security of the surviving entity with terms that are materially the same as the Series C Preferred Stock.

In any matter in which the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock are entitled to vote, each share of Series C Preferred Stock is entitled to one vote. If the holders of the
Series C Preferred Stock and another series of preferred stock are entitled to vote together as a single class on any matter, the Series C Preferred Stock and the shares of the
other class or series will have one vote for each $25.00 of liquidation preference. The two additional directors described above shall be elected by a plurality of the votes cast by
the holders of the outstanding shares of Series C Preferred Stock when they have the voting rights set forth above (voting together as a single class with the holders of any class
or series of preferred stock which have similar voting rights that are exercisable) in such election to serve until the next annual meeting of stockholders and until their successors
are duly elected and qualified or until such directors’ right to hold the office terminates, whichever occurs earlier.

Holders of shares of Series C Preferred Stock vote on any matters on which holders of Series C Preferred Stock are entitled to vote as a single class with all other issued
and outstanding shares of Series C Preferred Stock.



Information Rights

During any period in which we are not subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act and any shares of Series C Preferred Stock
are outstanding, we will (i) transmit by mail or other permissible means under the Exchange Act to all holders of Series C Preferred Stock as their names and addresses appear in
our record books and without cost to such holders, copies of the annual reports on Form 10-K and quarterly reports on Form 10-Q that we would have been required to file with
the SEC pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act if we were subject thereto (other than any exhibits that would have been required) and (ii) within 15 days
following written request, supply copies of such reports to any prospective holder of the Series C Preferred Stock. We will mail (or otherwise provide) the reports to the holders
of Series C Preferred Stock within 15 days after the respective dates by which we would have been required to file such reports with the SEC if we were subject to Section 13 or
Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act.

Restrictions on Ownership and Transfer

Our charter provides that no person or entity may beneficially own, or be deemed to own by virtue of the applicable constructive ownership provisions of the Code, more
than 9.9% of the outstanding shares of our Common Stock. The articles supplementary designating the terms of the Series C Preferred Stock provide that the 9.9% ownership
limitation applies to ownership of our Series C Preferred Stock as a separate class.

Any person who acquires or attempts to acquire beneficial or constructive ownership of Series C Preferred Stock that will or may violate the ownership limitation is
required to give written notice immediately to us and provide us with such other information as we may request in order to determine the effect of such transfer on our REIT
status.

If our Board of Directors or a committee thereof determines that a transfer or proposed transfer of the shares of Series C Preferred Stock violates or may violate the
ownership limitation or certain other provisions of our charter prohibiting transfers that may have the effect of causing us to lose our REIT status, our Board of Directors or
committee thereof is empowered to take any action it deems advisable to refuse to give effect to or to prevent such transfer, including (i) electing to purchase any shares owned
by a person or group of affiliated persons in excess of the ownership limitations or (ii) refusing to transfer or issue shares to a person if an acquisition of shares by such person
or group would result in such person or group exceeding these ownership limits or jeopardizing our status as a REIT. Any transfer of shares that would result in a person or
group exceeding ownership limits or in our disqualification as a REIT is deemed void as of the date of such transfer. Our Board of Directors has the right to waive ownership
limitations and excess share provisions of our charter and the articles supplementary designating the terms of the Series C Preferred Stock.

Listing

The Series C Preferred Stock is listed on the NYSE, under the symbol “CDRpC”.

Registrar and Transfer Agent

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC is the registrar and transfer agent for the Series C Preferred Stock.

Material Provisions of Maryland Law and our Charter and Bylaws

Number of Directors; Vacancies

Our charter provides that the number of directors will be set only by the board of directors in accordance with our bylaws. Our bylaws provide that a majority of our entire
board of directors may at any time increase or decrease the number of directors. However, the number of directors may never be less than three.

Whenever any vacancy occurs on the board of directors by reason of death, resignation, removal, or increase in the authorized number of directors, or otherwise, it may be
filled by the board of directors or by the stockholders at a special meeting of the stockholders called for that purpose.

Annual Elections; Majority Voting

Each of our directors will be elected by our stockholders to serve until our next annual meeting of stockholders and until his or her successor is duly elected and qualifies.
Our bylaws provide for majority voting in uncontested director elections. Pursuant to our bylaws, in a contested election, directors are elected by a plurality of all of the votes
cast in the election of directors, and in an uncontested election, a director is elected if he or she receives more votes for his or her election than votes against his or her election.

Removal of Directors



Our charter provides that, subject to the rights, if any, of holders of any class or series of preferred stock to elect or remove one or more directors, a director may be
removed only for cause, and then only by the affirmative vote of at least a majority of the votes entitled to be cast generally in the election of directors. “Cause” is defined in our
charter to mean the willful and continuous failure of a director to substantially perform such director’s duties (other than any such failure resulting from temporary incapacity
due to physical or mental illness) or the willful engaging by a director in gross misconduct materially and demonstrably injurious to the corporation.

Calling of Special Meetings of Stockholders

Our bylaws provide that special meetings of stockholders may be called by our chairman of the board. Additionally, our bylaws provide that, subject to the satisfaction of
certain procedural and informational requirements by the stockholders requesting the meeting, a special meeting of stockholders to act on any matter that may properly be
considered at a meeting of stockholders shall be called by the chairman of the board or the secretary of the corporation upon the written request of (x) a majority of the directors
or (y) the holders of 25 percent or more of all the votes entitled to be cast on such matter at such meeting.

Business Combinations

The MGCL provides that “business combinations” between a Maryland corporation and an interested stockholder or an affiliate of an interested stockholder are
prohibited for five years after the most recent date on which the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. These business combinations include a merger,
consolidation, share exchange, or, in circumstances specified in the statute, an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities. An interested stockholder is
defined as:

• any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of the corporation’s voting stock; or

• an affiliate or associate of the corporation who, at any time within the two-year period immediately prior to the date in question, was the beneficial owner, directly
or indirectly, of 10% or more of the voting power of the then outstanding stock of the corporation.

After the five-year prohibition, any business combination between the Maryland corporation and an interested stockholder generally must be recommended by the board
of directors of the corporation and approved by two super-majority stockholder votes, unless, among other conditions, the holders of the corporation’s common stock receive a
minimum price, as defined by Maryland law, for their shares and the consideration is received in cash or in the same form as previously paid by the interested stockholder for its
shares. None of these provisions of Maryland law will apply, however, to business combinations that are approved or exempted by the board of directors of the corporation
before the time that the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. Furthermore, a person is not an interested stockholder if the transaction by which he or she
would otherwise have become an interested stockholder is approved in advance by the board of directors.

As permitted by Maryland law, our charter contains an election exempting any business combinations between us and any other person or entity from the business
combination provisions of the MGCL and, consequently, the five-year prohibition and the supermajority vote requirements will not apply to business combinations between us
and any person as described above. As a result, any person described above may be able to enter into business combinations with us that may not be in the best interest of our
stockholders without compliance by our company with the supermajority vote requirements and other provisions of the statute.



Control Share Acquisitions

The MGCL provides that the acquirer of certain levels of voting power in electing directors of a Maryland corporation (one-tenth or more, but less than one-third, one-
third or more but less than a majority, and a majority or more) is not entitled to vote the shares in excess of the applicable threshold unless voting rights for the shares are
approved at a meeting by holders of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter, excluding shares of stock owned by the acquiror or by an officer or director of the
corporation who is an employee of the corporation, or unless the acquisition of the shares has been specifically or generally approved or exempted from the statute by a
provision in the corporation’s charter or bylaws adopted before the acquisition of the shares.

As permitted by Maryland law, our charter contains an election exempting from the control share acquisition statute any and all acquisitions by any person of shares of
our stock.

Appraisal Rights

The MGCL provides that stockholders may exercise appraisal right, subject to certain exceptions, including if appraisal rights are eliminated under a company’s charter or
if the company’s stock is listed on a national securities exchange. The Company’s preferred stock is listed on a national securities exchange, therefore stockholders will not be
entitled to exercise appraisal rights in the event of our consolidation, merger, transfer or business combination, the acquisition of the stockholder’s stock in a share exchange,
amendment of our charter in a way that substantially adversely affects the stockholders’ rights, or our conversion to a different form of entity.

Subtitle 8

Under Subtitle 8 of Title 3 of the MGCL, a Maryland corporation with a class of equity securities registered under the Exchange Act and at least three directors who are
not officers or employees of the corporation, and who are not affiliated with a person who is seeking to acquire control of the corporation, may elect to be subject, by provision
in its charter or bylaws or a resolution of its board of directors and notwithstanding any contrary provision in the charter or bylaws, to any or all of the following five provisions:

• a classified board requirement;

• a two-thirds vote requirement for removing a director;

• a requirement that the number of directors be fixed only by vote of the board of directors;

• a requirement that a vacancy on the board be filled only by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors and for the remainder of the full term of the
class of directors in which the vacancy occurred and until a successor is elected and qualifies; or

• a requirement for the calling of a special meeting of stockholders only at the written request of stockholders entitled to cast at least a majority of the votes entitled to
be cast at the meeting.

We have not elected to create a classified board; however, our board of directors may elect in the future, without stockholder approval, to create a classified board or elect
to be subject to one or more of the other provisions of Subtitle 8.

Amendments to Our Charter and Bylaws

Other than amendments permitted to be made without stockholder approval under Maryland law or by a specific provision in our charter, our charter may be amended
only if such amendment is declared advisable by our board of directors and approved by the affirmative vote of stockholders entitled to cast two-thirds of all of the votes entitled
to be cast on the matter. Our board of directors, without stockholder approval, has the power under our charter to amend our charter from time to time to increase or decrease the
aggregate number of shares of stock or the number of shares of stock of any class or series that we are authorized to issue, to authorize us to issue authorized but unissued shares
of our common stock or preferred stock and to classify any unissued shares of our preferred stock, or reclassify any unissued shares of our common stock or preferred stock,
into one or more classes or series of stock and set the terms of such newly classified or reclassified shares.

Our board of directors may amend or repeal our bylaws or adopt new by laws. In addition, stockholders, by the affirmative vote of a majority of all votes entitled to be
cast on the matter, may amend or repeal our bylaws or adopt new bylaws, provided, that stockholders may not alter or repeal the section of our bylaws providing for director,
officer and employee indemnification or the provisions relating to amendment of the bylaws, in either case without the approval of our board of directors

Transactions Outside the Ordinary Course of Business



We generally may not merge with or into or consolidate with another company, sell all or substantially all of our assets or engage in a statutory share exchange or convert
unless such transaction is declared advisable by our board of directors and approved by the affirmative vote of stockholders entitled to cast a majority of all of the votes entitled
to be cast on the matter.

Anti-Takeover Effect of Certain Provisions of Maryland Law and of Our Charter and Bylaws

The provisions of the MGCL, our charter and our bylaws described above including, among others, and the restrictions on ownership and transfer of our stock, could delay,
defer or prevent a transaction or a change of control of our company that might involve a premium price for holders of our common stock or otherwise be in their best interests.

Indemnification and Limitation of Directors’ and Officers’ Liability

Our charter and bylaws provide for indemnification of directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by Maryland law.

The MGCL generally permits indemnification of any director or officer with respect to any proceedings unless it is established that: (a) the act or omission of the director or
officer was material to the matter giving rise to the proceeding and was either (i) committed in bad faith or (ii) the result of active and deliberate dishonesty; (b) the director or
officer actually received an improper personal benefit in money, property or services; or (c) in the case of a criminal proceeding, the director or officer had reasonable cause to
believe that the act or omission was unlawful. The indemnity may include judgments, penalties, fines, settlements, and reasonable expenses actually incurred by the director or
officer in connection with the proceedings. However, a corporation may not indemnify a director or officer who shall have been adjudged to be liable to the corporation, or who
instituted a proceeding against the corporation (unless such proceeding was brought to enforce the indemnification provisions of the MGCL, or the charter, bylaws, a resolution
of the board of directors of the corporation or an agreement approved by the board of directors). In addition, a director may not be indemnified under the MGCL in respect of
any proceeding charging improper personal benefit to the director, whether or not involving action in the director’s official capacity, in which the director was adjudged to be
liable on the basis that personal benefit was improperly received. The termination of any proceeding by judgment, order or settlement does not create a presumption that the
director or officer did not meet the requisite standard of conduct required for permitted indemnification. The termination of any proceeding by conviction, or plea of nolo
contendere or its equivalent, or an entry of an order of probation prior to judgment, creates a rebuttable presumption that the director or officer did not meet that standard of
conduct. A director or officer who has been successful on the merits or otherwise, in the defense of any proceeding referred to above shall be indemnified against any
reasonable expenses incurred by the director or officer in connection with the proceeding.

Insofar as the foregoing provisions permit indemnification of directors, officers or persons controlling us for liability arising under the Securities Act, we have been
informed that in the opinion of the SEC, this indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore unenforceable.





USActive 59591805.6 CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS 1. Introduction Wheeler Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. and its subsidiaries (together, the “Company”) has adopted this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code of Conduct”) to set out standards of conduct to guide all officers, directors and employees of the Company (collectively, the “Company Personnel”). While this Code of Conduct is intended to meet the standards for a code of business conduct and ethics under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, and the listing standards of the NASDAQ Stock Market (“NASDAQ”), it should not be viewed as a substitute for each person’s thoughtful consideration as to whether any proposed individual course of conduct conforms to the highest ethical standards that the Company expects of Company Personnel. 2. The Code A. Obeying the Law Obeying the law, both in letter and in spirit, is the foundation. All Company Personnel must respect and obey the laws of all jurisdictions in which the Company operates. B. Fair Dealing and Competition It is the Company’s policy to deal fairly with its tenants, customers, lenders, suppliers and competitors. In the course of business dealings on behalf of the Company, no Company Personnel should take advantage of another person or party through manipulation, concealment, abuse of privileged information, misrepresentation of material facts or any other unfair business practice. C. Confidentiality All Company Personnel must maintain the confidentiality of non-public information entrusted to them by the Company, its tenants and customers, or other third parties, except when disclosure is otherwise authorized or legally mandated. Confidential information includes all non-public information that might be of use to competitors, or harmful to the Company or its tenants and customers, if disclosed. In particular, it includes non-public information that tenants and customers have entrusted to the Company. Exhibit 14.1



 



USActive 59591805.6 -2- D. Accounting Matters All Company Personnel participate, in some measure, in the gathering of information made available to the Company’s accounting department for use in the preparation of the Company’s financial reports and other information required to be publicly disclosed by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and NASDAQ. Company Personnel involved in the gathering of such information should endeavor to ensure that such information is accurate and complete in all material respects through full compliance with the Company’s accounting requirements, internal disclosure, and accounting controls and audits. E. Records Retention All Company Personnel should retain documents and other records for such period of time as they and their colleagues will reasonably need such records in connection with the Company’s usual business activities. All documents not required to be retained for business or legal reasons, including draft work product, should not be retained and should be destroyed in order to reduce the high cost of storing and handling the vast amounts of material that would otherwise accumulate. However, under unusual circumstances, such as litigation, governmental investigation or if required by applicable state and federal law and regulations, your supervisor, manager, the human resources department or the Compliance Officer for this Code of Conduct (the “Code of Conduct Compliance Officer”) may notify you if retention of documents or other records is necessary. The Code of Conduct Compliance Officer is the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. In his or her absence, you may contact the General Counsel of the Company. F. Use and Protection of Company Assets Proper use and protection of the Company’s assets is the responsibility of all Company Personnel. Company facilities, materials, equipment, information and other assets should be used only for conducting the Company’s business and are not to be used for any unauthorized purpose. Company Personnel should guard against waste and abuse of Company assets. G. Conflicts of Interest Company Personnel are expected to avoid any situation in which their personal interests conflict, or have the

appearance of conflicting, with those of the Company. For example: (i) Loans to, or guarantees of obligations of, Company Personnel and their family members by the Company may create conflicts of interest and are, accordingly, prohibited by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Accordingly, loans to Company Personnel or their family



 



USActive 59591805.6 -3- members by the Company, or guarantees of obligations of Company Personnel or family members from the Company are prohibited. (ii) A conflict of interest almost always exists when Company Personnel work concurrently for a competitor, customer or supplier. Company Personnel may not work for a competitor as a consultant or board member. The best policy is to avoid any direct or indirect business connection with the Company’s competitors, tenants, customers or suppliers, except on the Company’s behalf. (iii) A conflict of interest may also occur when Company Personnel have an ownership or financial interest in another business organization that is doing business with the Company or when Company Personnel have a direct or indirect interest in a transaction in which the Company is a participant. These transactions between the Company and the other organization are characterized as ‘Related Person Transactions’. While not all Related Person Transactions are improper, the Code of Conduct Compliance Officer must be made aware by Company Personnel involved of the details of each such transaction so that she can make a judgment as to the appropriateness of the transaction. The Related Person Transactions Committee has the authority to determine if a Related Person Transaction constitutes an impermissible conflict of interest. Please refer to the Charter of the Related Person Transactions Committee for further information. Conflicts of interest may not always be clear and are not always impermissible, so if you have a question, you should consult with your supervisor, manager, the human resources department or the Code of Conduct Compliance Officer. Also, if you become aware of a conflict or potential conflict, please bring it promptly to the attention of your supervisor, manager, the human resources department or the Code of Conduct Compliance Officer. H. Discrimination and Harassment The Company is firmly committed to providing equal opportunity in all aspects of employment and shall not tolerate illegal discrimination or harassment of any kind. I. Health and Safety All Company Personnel are required to follow health and safety rules, including by reporting accidents, injuries and unsafe

equipment, practices or conditions. All Company Personnel must work free from the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs. J. Insider Trading All non-public information about the Company shall be considered confidential information. Company Personnel who have access to confidential information are



 



USActive 59591805.6 -4- not permitted to use or share that information for stock trading purposes. To use non-public information for personal financial benefit or to “tip” others who might make an investment decision on the basis of this information is not only unethical but also illegal. Please refer to the Company’s Insider Trading Policy for further information. 3. Questions about the Code of Conduct Any questions about how to interpret this Code of Conduct should be raised with your supervisor, manager, the human resources department or the Code of Conduct Compliance Officer. 4. Reporting Suspected Violations If any Company Personnel knows of or suspects any illegal or unethical conduct, or any other violation of this Code of Conduct, they should promptly report this to the Code of Conduct Compliance Officer. In dealing with any issues arising under, or relating to, this Code of Conduct, the Code of Conduct Compliance Officer shall, to the extent necessary or appropriate, confer with the CEO or the Board of Directors and/or any of its committees. No Company Personnel shall be required to identify themselves when reporting a violation. To the extent possible, the Company will use its best efforts to keep confidential the identity of anyone reporting a violation of this Code of Conduct. The Company will also use its best efforts to keep confidential the identities of Company Personnel about whom allegations of violations are brought, unless or until it is established that a violation has occurred. It is the Company’s policy that retaliation against any Company Personnel who report actual or suspected violations of this Code of Conduct is prohibited; anyone who attempts to retaliate will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 5. Enforcement Upholding this Code of Conduct is the responsibility of every officer, director and employee of the Company. The conduct of Company Personnel matters. Accordingly, violations of this Code of Conduct may lead to significant penalties, including dismissal. 6. Amendments and Waivers This Code of Conduct is maintained by the Board of Directors. In accordance with SEC rules, any amendment made (other than technical, administrative, or other non-

substantive amendments), or waiver granted, to the Code of Conduct that applies to the Company’s principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or persons performing similar functions shall be disclosed in a Form 8-K filing. DATE: August 31, 2023



 



Exhibit 21.1

CEDAR REALTY TRUST, INC.
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Entity Jurisdiction
Cedar 2129 Oregon Avenue, LLC Delaware
Cedar Brickyard, LLC Delaware
Cedar Brickyard II, LLC Delaware
Cedar-Bristol, LLC Delaware
Cedar-Carll’s Corner, LLC Delaware
Cedar Center Holdings L.L.C. 3 Delaware
Cedar-Fairview Commons, LLC Delaware
Cedar-Fieldstone SPE, LLC Delaware
Cedar-Fieldstone Marketplace, LP Delaware
Cedar Golden Triangle, LLC Delaware
Cedar Hamburg, LLC Delaware
Cedar-Kings, LLC Delaware
Cedar Lender LLC Delaware
Cedar-PC Annex, LLC Delaware
Cedar-PC Plaza, LLC Delaware
Cedar PCP-San Souci, LLC Delaware
Cedar-San Souci SPE, LLC Delaware
Cedar-Second Member LLC Delaware
Cedar Realty Trust Partnership, L.P. Delaware
Cedar Southington Plaza, LLC Delaware
Cedar-South Philadelphia II, LLC Delaware
Cedar-South Philadelphia I, LLC Delaware
Cedar-Timpany, LLC Delaware
Cedar-Trexler, LLC Delaware
Cedar-Trexler SPE, LLC Delaware
CIF Loyal Plaza Associates Corp. Delaware
CIF-Pine Grove Pad Associates LLC Delaware
CIF-Pine Grove Plaza Associates LLC Delaware
Cedar-Coliseum FF, LLC Delaware
EE SERVICES, LLC Delaware
Cedar-Gold Star Plaza, LLC Delaware
Gold Star Realty, Inc. Pennsylvania
Greentree Road L.L.C. 1 Delaware
Greentree Road L.L.C. 2 Delaware
Pine Grove Pad Associates, LLC Delaware
Pine Grove Plaza Associates, LLC Delaware
Washington Center L.L.C. 1 Delaware
Washington Center L.L.C. 2 Delaware



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, M. Andrew Franklin, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cedar Realty Trust, Inc. (the “Company” or “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting to the registrant's auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: March 5, 2024

/s/ M. ANDREW FRANKLIN
M. Andrew Franklin
Chief Executive Officer and President



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Crystal Plum, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cedar Realty Trust, Inc. (the “Company” or “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting to the registrant's auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: March 5, 2024
 
/s/ CRYSTAL PLUM
Crystal Plum
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, M. Andrew Franklin, Chief Executive Officer of Cedar Realty Trust, Inc. (the “Company”), pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, do hereby certify, to
the best of my knowledge, as follows:

1. The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2023 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in such Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have executed this Certification this 5  day of March 2024.

/s/ M. ANDREW FRANKLIN
M. Andrew Franklin
Chief Executive Officer and President

th



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Crystal Plum, Chief Financial Officer of Cedar Realty Trust, Inc. (the “Company”), pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, do hereby certify, to the best
of my knowledge, as follows:

1. The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2023, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in such Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have executed this Certification this 5  day of March 2024.

/s/ CRYSTAL PLUM
Crystal Plum
Chief Financial Officer

th



Exhibit 97.1

CEDAR REALTY TRUST, INC.

INCENTIVE COMPENSATION CLAWBACK POLICY

This Incentive Compensation Clawback Policy (the “Policy”), which provides for the recovery of certain incentive compensation in the event
of an Accounting Restatement (as defined below), is designed to comply with, and shall be interpreted to be consistent with, Section 10D of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), Rule 10D-1 promulgated under the Exchange Act (“Rule 10D-1”) and
Section 303A.14 of the Listed Company Manual (the “Listing Standard”) of the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”).

1. Administration

Except as specifically set forth herein, this Policy shall be administered by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Cedar Realty Trust, Inc (the
“Company”). If the Board creates a compensation committee (the “Compensation Committee”), the Compensation Committee shall administer
this Policy so long as the Compensation Committee continues in existence.

The Administrator is authorized to interpret and construe this Policy and to make all determinations necessary, appropriate or advisable for the
administration of this Policy. Any determinations made by the Administrator shall be final and binding on all affected individuals and need not
be uniform with respect to each individual covered by the Policy.

In the administration of this Policy, the Administrator is authorized to consult with the full Board or such other committees of the Board as may
be necessary or appropriate as to matters within the scope of such other committee’s responsibility and authority.

Subject to any limitation at applicable law, the Administrator may authorize and empower any officer or employee of the Company to take any
and all actions necessary or appropriate to carry out the purpose and intent of this Policy (other than with respect to any recovery under this
Policy involving such officer or employee).

2. Definitions

As used in this Policy, the following definitions shall apply:

• “Accounting Restatement” means an accounting restatement of the Company’s financial statements due to the Company’s
material noncompliance with any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws, including any required accounting
restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is material to the previously issued financial
statements, or that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in
the current period.

• “Administrator” means the Board or the Compensation Committee if a Compensation Committee exists.

• “Applicable Period” means the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the date on which the Company is required to
prepare an Accounting Restatement, as well as any transition period (that results from a change in the Company’s fiscal year)
within or immediately following those three completed fiscal years (except that a transition period that comprises a period of at
least nine months shall count as a completed fiscal year). The “date on which the Company



is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement” is the earlier to occur of (a) the date the Board, a committee of the Board, or
an officer of the Company authorized to take such action if Board action is not required concludes, or reasonably should have
concluded, that the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement or (b) the date a court, regulator or other legally
authorized body directs the Company to prepare an Accounting Restatement, in each case regardless of if or when the restated
financial statements are filed.

• “Covered Executives” means the Company’s current and former executive officers, as determined by the Administrator in
accordance with the definition of executive officer set forth in Rule 10D-1 and the Listing Standard.

• “Erroneously Awarded Compensation” has the meaning set forth in Section 5 of this Policy.

• A “Financial Reporting Measure” is any measure that is determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles
used in preparing the Company’s financial statements, and any measure that is derived wholly or in part from such measure.
Financial Reporting Measures include, but are not limited to, the following (and any measures derived from the following):
Company stock price; total shareholder return (“TSR”); revenues; net income; operating income; profitability of one or more
reportable segments; financial ratios (e.g., accounts receivable turnover and inventory turnover rates); earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortization; funds from operations and adjusted funds from operations; liquidity measures (e.g., working
capital, operating cash flow); return measures (e.g., return on invested capital, return on assets); earnings measures (e.g., earnings
per share); any of such financial reporting measures relative to a peer group, where the Company’s financial reporting measure is
subject to an Accounting Restatement; and tax basis income. A Financial Reporting Measure need not be presented within the
Company’s financial statements or included in a filing with the Securities Exchange Commission.

• “Incentive-Based Compensation” means any compensation that is granted, earned or vested based wholly or in part upon the
attainment of a Financial Reporting Measure. Incentive-Based Compensation is “received” for purposes of this Policy in the
Company’s fiscal period during which the Financial Reporting Measure specified in the Incentive-Based Compensation award is
attained, even if the payment or grant of such Incentive-Based Compensation occurs after the end of that period.

3. Covered Executives; Incentive-Based Compensation

This Policy applies to Incentive-Based Compensation received by a Covered Executive (a) after beginning services as a Covered Executive; (b)
if that person served as a Covered Executive at any time during the performance period for such Incentive-Based Compensation; (c) while the
Company had a listed class of securities on a national securities exchange; and (d) during the Applicable Period.

4. Required Recoupment of Erroneously Awarded Compensation in the Event of an Accounting Restatement

In the event the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, the Company shall promptly recoup the amount of any
Erroneously Awarded Compensation received by any Covered Executive, as calculated pursuant to Section 5 hereof, during the Applicable
Period.
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5. Erroneously Awarded Compensation: Amount Subject to Recovery

The amount of “Erroneously Awarded Compensation” subject to recovery under the Policy, as determined by the Administrator, is the amount
of Incentive-Based Compensation received by the Covered Executive that exceeds the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation that would
have been received by the Covered Executive had it been determined based on the restated amounts.

Erroneously Awarded Compensation shall be computed by the Administrator without regard to any taxes paid by the Covered Executive in
respect of the Erroneously Awarded Compensation.

By way of example, with respect to any compensation plans or programs that take into account Incentive-Based Compensation, the amount of
Erroneously Awarded Compensation subject to recovery hereunder includes, but is not limited to, the amount contributed to any notional
account based on Erroneously Awarded Compensation and any earnings accrued to date on that notional amount.

For Incentive-Based Compensation based on stock price or TSR: (a) the Administrator shall determine the amount of Erroneously Awarded
Compensation based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the Accounting Restatement on the stock price or TSR upon which the Incentive-
Based Compensation was received; and (b) the Company shall maintain documentation of the determination of that reasonable estimate and
provide such documentation to the NYSE.

6. Method of Recoupment

The Administrator shall determine, in its sole discretion, the timing and method for promptly recouping Erroneously Awarded Compensation
hereunder, which may include, without limitation, (a) seeking reimbursement of all or part of any cash or equity-based award, (b) cancelling
prior cash or equity-based awards, whether vested or unvested, or paid or unpaid, (c) cancelling or offsetting against any planned future cash or
equity-based awards, (d) forfeiture of deferred compensation, subject to compliance with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code and the
regulations promulgated thereunder, and (e) any other method authorized by applicable law or contract. Subject to compliance with any
applicable law, the Administrator may effect recovery under this Policy by setting off against any amount otherwise payable to the Covered
Executive, including amounts payable to such individual under any otherwise applicable Company plan or program, including base salary,
bonuses or commissions and compensation previously deferred by the Covered Executive.

The Administrator shall determine the repayment schedule for any Erroneously Awarded Compensation. Such determination shall be
consistent with any applicable legal guidance, by the SEC, judicial opinion or otherwise.

The Company is authorized and directed pursuant to this Policy to recoup Erroneously Awarded Compensation in compliance with this Policy
unless the Administrator has determined that recovery would be impracticable solely for the following limited reasons, and subject to the
following procedural and disclosure requirements:

• The direct expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing the Policy would exceed the amount to be recovered. Before
concluding that it would be impracticable to recover any amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation based on expense of
enforcement, the Administrator must make a reasonable attempt to recover such erroneously awarded compensation, document
such reasonable attempt(s) to recover and provide that documentation to the NYSE; or
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• Recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available to employees
of the Company, to fail to meet the requirements of 26 U.S.C. 401(a)(13) or 26 U.S.C. 411(a) and regulations thereunder.

7. No Indemnification of Covered Executives

Notwithstanding the terms of any indemnification or insurance policy or any contractual arrangement with any Covered Executive that may be
interpreted to the contrary, the Company shall not indemnify any Covered Executives against the loss of any Erroneously Awarded
Compensation, including any payment or reimbursement for the cost of third-party insurance purchased by any Covered Executives to fund
potential clawback obligations under this Policy.

8. Administrator Indemnification

Any members of the Administrator, and any other members of the Board, who assist in the administration of this Policy shall not be personally
liable for any action, determination or interpretation made with respect to this Policy and shall be fully indemnified by the Company to the
fullest extent under applicable law and Company policy with respect to any such action, determination or interpretation. The foregoing sentence
shall not limit any other rights to indemnification of the members of the Board under applicable law or Company policy.

9. Effective Date; Retroactive Application

This Policy shall be effective as of October 2, 2023 (the “Effective Date”). The terms of this Policy shall apply to any Incentive-Based
Compensation that is received by Covered Executives on or after the Effective Date, even if such Incentive-Based Compensation was
approved, awarded, granted or paid to Covered Executives prior to the Effective Date. Without limiting the generality of Section 6 hereof, and
subject to applicable law, the Administrator may effect recovery under this Policy from any amount of compensation approved, awarded,
granted, payable or paid to the Covered Executive prior to, on or after the Effective Date.

10. Amendment; Termination

The Board may amend, modify, supplement, rescind or replace all or any portion of this Policy at any time and from time to time in its
discretion, and shall amend this Policy as it deems necessary to comply with applicable law or any rules or standards adopted by a national
securities exchange on which the Company’s securities are listed.

11. Other Recoupment Rights; Company Claims

The Board intends that this Policy shall be applied to the fullest extent of the law. Any right of recoupment under this Policy is in addition to,
and not in lieu of, any other remedies or rights of recoupment that may be available to the Company under applicable law or pursuant to the
terms of any similar policy in any employment agreement, equity award agreement, or similar agreement and any other legal remedies
available to the Company.

Nothing contained in this Policy, and no recoupment or recovery as contemplated by this Policy, shall limit any claims, damages or other legal
remedies the Company or any of its affiliates may have against a Covered Executive arising out of or resulting from any actions or omissions
by the Covered Executive.
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12. Successors

This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all Covered Executives and their beneficiaries, heirs, executors, administrators or other
legal representatives.

13. Exhibit Filing Requirement

A copy of this Policy and any amendments thereto shall be filed as an exhibit to the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K in accordance
with SEC rules and regulations.

                                    DATE: November 21, 2023
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